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COMPANY PROFILE
NGy

Kanggiao Service Group Limited (hereinafter referred to as
“Kanggiao Service”or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries
collectively referred to as the “Group”, stock code: 2205) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability on October 8, 2020, and was listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on July 16, 2021.

With more than 10 years of hard work and dedication and based in
Central China, Kanggiao Service is deeply rooted in the country.
Kanggiao Service is a reputable comprehensive property management
service provider in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or
“China”), with a leading position in Henan Province. We have been
involved in various business covering several types of properties
such as residential, commercial, office buildings, industrial parks, and
public properties. For the year ended December 31, 2024 (the
“Year”), we have served millions of property owners and have won
more than 300 awards. We were ranked TOP100 in China’s property
industry for nine consecutive years, and ranked 25th among the 2024
Top 100 Property Management Companies in China in terms of
overall strength.

“Creating a joyful life through Kanggqiao’s considerate services (FEik
FHa0, M EAETE). The Group insists on in-depth study on the
development path of urban civilization, and takes “Joyful Service (15
k%) and “Intelligent Technology (% Fl$:)" as its two core values.
From service concept to supporting services, the Group focuses on all
business forms, all-age groups and all-service scenarios, covering the
whole life cycle of property development. With the combination of
modern management with digital intelligence technology, the Group
fully demonstrates the new value in the era of large-scale properties
by expanding city services on the basis of community services.

Based on the needs of urban cultural growth and the pain points of
community facilities, the Group launched the “Four Seasons and One
Hall (JYZ%—%&)” cultural activities in neighborhoods and the “Five
Clubs (f1#t)” community activities. Through subdividing groups of
people, the Group organizes community activities for all age groups,
from the elderly to children, from learning to health care and caring
about the needs of people, so that the neighborhood and city are not
only a physical space, but also a community of life and emotion.

In the future, the Group will take the role as a better life and smart
city service provider to deeply participate in urban services, inject fresh
impetus into new neighborhoods within cities and redefine the
wonderful city life by capitalizing on smart technology!
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

Thank you for your continuous support and trust for the development
of Kanggiao Service as always.

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”)
of Kanggiao Service, | am pleased to present this Annual Report of
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024, summarizing the
Group’s achievements and shortcomings during the Year, while
sharing our future plans and developments.

In 2024, the global economic landscape was accelerating its
evolution, with the domestic economy continuing to recover under
the main theme of “stabilizing expectations, reducing inventory, and
preventing risks”. The real estate industry is undergoing a deep
adjustment, and the value of the property management industry is
being reshaped. In such a wave of times, the property service
industry is endowed with vast opportunities: people’s aspirations for
a better life, policies that encourage property development, and
property improvements that reduce costs and increase efficiency.
The Group implements the leadership policy of the Communist Party
of China (the “CPC” or the “Party”), adheres to the development
concept of “sustainable growth with quality”, successfully crosses the
market cycle, and demonstrates strong business resilience and
development potential.

Anchoring Strategic Direction in Change

Insight into industry trends and anchoring strategic positioning

In 2024, the property service industry slowed down its development
pace due to the deep adjustment of the global economy and the real
estate industry. However, we firmly believe that under the leadership
of the CPC Central Committee, the economic and real estate industry
will further recover. At the same time, we firmly believe in the
development potential of the property service industry, including
stable cash flow, light asset service attributes, and long-tail value
chain of customers.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

In 2024, the Group continued to fully implement the development
direction of “Party Building Leading+Red Property”, and Kanggiao
Yueshenghuo General Party Branch was upgraded to a Party
Committee; was firmly positioning as “a service provider for a
better life and smart city”, and the ranking has risen to 25th
among the top 100 property service providers;
strengthen the core competitiveness of “Five Forces and Four
Modernizations” and steadily implement the development strategy

continued to

of “Cash Flow is King”; solidified the foundation service quality,

creating value through word-of-mouth to support steady
development, with increasing satisfaction by 5.0 percentage points
shown in  online survey regarding comprehensive services;

continuously expanded the scale and optimized projects to
achieve self-balancing cash flow for
contract area of approximately 6.4 million sg.m.;
continued technological innovation to help increase efficiency,
and self-developed quality

verification and refined collection systems, etc.; and continued

each project, with an
additional
speed up, and maximize value,

to cultivate team growth and unify corporate values to ensure the
longevity of the Company.

Taking the “Five Forces and Four Modernizations” as the core, we will
consolidate the source of service

In the context of increasingly fierce industry competition, the Group relies
on “service capability, operational strength, organizational strength,
digital science strength, and brand power” as support, and transforms
intangible services into tangible value through the path of “service
standardization, standardized productization, product branding, and
brand value creation”. This strategic idea is gradually decomposed into
specific measures and work execution items. For example, based on on-
site service experience and satisfaction, the Group has established a
solid foundation of four guarantee services, and tested the unified effect in
multiple dimensions and modes, such as daily quality inspections of
projects, monthly quality unannounced inspections of the Group and the
theater, and regular quality replacement actions. Periodic Party
building activities and the “Four Seasons One Hall” social and cultural
activities of Linlihui, such as the homeowners’ table tennis competition
and summer happy camp, have achieved a satisfaction rate of up to
98.0%, which effectively improves the experience and satisfaction of
homeowners and customers with the service.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Empowering with digital technology to drive service upgrades

In 2024, the Group combined the core pain points and frontline
demands in the business side work process to achieve and
continuously optimize the “business-finance integration” digital
technology support system, and carried out more intelligent and
refined management of business management and cost control,
completing the interconnection of customers, services, and
equipment. Our independently developed energy consumption
control system effectively prevented “leakage” in project energy
management. We have also developed quality inspection software,
which can achieve online project self-inspection and quality
unannounced inspection, improve the efficiency of problem detection
and handling, standardize quality inspection actions, strengthen
quality inspection standards, and thus help the projects to improve
service quality. In addition, the refined collection software designed
and developed can achieve refined management of historical
arrears collection, further consolidate the basic data of the Group’s
historical arrears, and help to improve the efficiency of collection.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s digital knowledge assets
have been accumulated to a total of 72 copyrights, 29 systems, 16
self-owned source codes, and 131 code projects.

Steady performance growth and diversified layout

Continuous performance growth: steady and resilient

In 2024, the Group achieved a total revenue of approximately
RMB960.8 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 2.9%.
Despite the deep adjustment faced by the real estate industry, the
Group achieved a 14.7% increase in property management service
revenue and a 22.7% increase in urban service revenue through
diversified business layout and robust business strategy. This
achievement reflects the stability of the Group in traditional
businesses and highlights

its breakthroughs in emerging

businesses.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

Diversified business layout: business types and cities

In 2024, the Group not only made significant progress in non-
residential business types and urban services area but also made
significant breakthroughs in urban and regional layout. In addition to
deepening its base in Henan, the Group also continuously breaks
through in cities such as Hangzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, and Wuxi. By
winning bids for projects such as Zhengzhou People’s Hospital,
Nanjing University of Science and Technology, Nanjing Niushou
Mountain Scenic Area, Nanjing Qixia Ancient Town, and Qingdao
Metro Innovation Industrial Park, the Group has successfully
established various benchmark projects for non-residential business
types and urban service businesses in key expansion areas and
cities, forming standardized operating procedures and further tapping
into the potential of project expansion in this industry. This layout not
only enriches the business matrix of the Group, but also meets the
demand for high-quality services in the process of urbanization.

More stable independence: market competitiveness

In 2024, although the real estate industry was still in a period of deep
adjustment and the overall scale of new investment in the real estate
industry continued to decline, our determination to continue
development remains unchanged. We have increased our bidding for
stock businesses and signed new third-party service contracts with a
total amount of approximately RMB69.5 million. The newly signed
third-party contracts have a construction area of approximately 6.4
million sg.m., of which approximately 4.8 million sq.m. are under
management. The proportion of third-party property developers in
the managed area of the Group is 78.6%, and the proportion of third-
party property developers in the contracted area is as high as 82.0%.
This data not only reflect the independence of the Group’s operations,
but also highlights its competitiveness and attractiveness in the
market. Independence has brought a broader market space for the
Group, enabling it to respond flexibly in complex and ever-changing
market environments.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Layout the future with a strategic perspective
From “scale expansion”to “value growth”

The Group has shifted from rapid “scale expansion” to sustained
“value growth”. By optimizing service quality, improving operational
efficiency, expanding diversified business models, and selecting
projects based on merit, the Group will further enhance the added
value of services and achieve a leap from “quantitative change” to
“qualitative change”.

From “numerical tools”to “core competitiveness”

The Group will continue to increase technology investment based on
cash flow management needs and promote the upgrade of the
“business-finance integration” digital technology system. Through
technologies such as the Internet of Things, big data, and artificial
intelligence, the Group will achieve intelligent and refined
management of services, further enhancing customer experience
and service efficiency. Technology is not only a tool for improving
efficiency, but also the core competitiveness of the Group, enhancing

its ability to generate revenue from exports.
From “small business”to “everyone in the society”

While pursuing economic benefits, the Group will continue to fulfill its
social responsibility. In 2024, the Group adhered to the leadership of
Party building and the construction of red property, continued to
expand its scale and contribute to tax and service positions, and paid
employees’ salaries on time and in full, so as to contribute to social
stability; organized and carried out public welfare activities such as
“Learning the Red Spirit of Jiao Yulu” and “Volunteer Activities to
Help Farmers with Love”; and participated in industry exchange
activities such as “Jinggangshan Study” organized by the Municipal
Property Association and “Sharing of Technical Knowledge with
Property Association” to establish a good corporate citizenship
image. Brand is not only the logo of the Group, but also the trust bond
between the Group, the customers, and the society.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

From “self-awareness”to “value unity”

Talent is the core driving force for the development of the Group. We
will continue to focus on business goals, build internal and external
talent supply and development chains, and promote talent lifecycle
management. In 2024, the Group actively organized industry
benchmark and cross-industry benchmark enterprise exchanges and
learning, and enhanced the management’s visibility through external
training. We adapted to the actual needs of the business and
continuously optimized the internal training system mode and
content, with an annual internal training ratio of up to 65.8%,
establishing a good talent pool. The satisfaction rate of surveyed
employees in 2024 increased by 2.7% year-on-year. In 2025, the
Group will continue to improve the talent development system,
connect online and offine empowerment through Kanggiao
Academy+training base, and enhance employees’ professional and
management abilities. At the same time, the Group will further
optimize its organizational structure, create an efficient and agile
organizational system, and provide solid guarantees for future
development.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

To the future with original intention

In 2024, the Group successfully crossed the market cycle in a
complex and ever-changing market environment, demonstrating
strong business resilience and strategic vision through keen market
insight, firm strategic determination, and excellent execution.
Looking ahead to the future, we will continue to be guided by Party
building, customer-centric, and technology-driven approach,
continuously enhancing our core competitiveness, expanding market
share, and achieving sustainable development.

In the tide of the times, the Group will firmly adhere to the service
positioning as “a service provider for good life and smart city
services”, uphold the original intention of “continuously providing
high-quality services”, and respond to the ever-changing market. We
firmly adhere to the four aspects of satisfaction, including employee
satisfaction, customer satisfaction, shareholder satisfaction, and
social satisfaction, constantly forging ahead and steadily moving
forward, realizing the dream of building a career for employees,
empowering customers to stay at home, creating value for
shareholders, and contributing stability to the society.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B R A b

BUSINESS REVIEW

(1)

Business Overview

In 2024, the Group adhered to the leadership of Party
building, firmly upheld the core competitiveness of
business goodness and “Five Forces and Four
Modernizations”, sought endogenous growth, built core
competitiveness, and continuously created customer
value; and improved operational efficiency, ensured
customer satisfaction, maintained stable and orderly
operation of the Group with capital preservation,
promoted sustainable development of the enterprise,
strengthened brand promotion, enhanced brand
influence, deepened refined management, and promoted

the stable development of the Group’s business.

At present, the Group’s business covers provision of
services to a variety of property types, including
residential property and non-residential property (such as
commercial, office buildings, industrial parks, hospitals
and other public infrastructure), and provision of city
services (such as rail transit sanitation, city environmental
sanitation and other services). The Group’s business
involves basic property management services, value-
added services to non-property owners, community
value-added services and city services. All business
areas are interconnected and market-oriented for balanced
development. In 2024, the Group’s revenue was
approximately RMB960.8 million, representing an increase
of 2.9% as compared to approximately RMB934.0 million
for the corresponding period in 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As of December 31, 2024, the Group provided property
management services, value-added services or city services
in 35 cities in the PRC, with 328 projects under management
and a contracted gross floor area (the “GFA”) of
approximately 70.3 million sg.m., representing an increase of
4.7% as compared to approximately 67.1 million sq.m. for the
corresponding period in 2023, among which approximately
57.6 million sgq.m. or 82.0% were from third-party property
developers. The GFA under management was approximately
46.2 million sq.m., representing an increase of 12.5% as
compared to approximately 41.0 million sg.m. for the
corresponding period in 2023, among which approximately
36.3 million sq.m. or 78.6% were from third-party property
developers. The GFA under management of non-residential
properties was approximately 7.4 million sg.m., representing
an increase of 11.1% as compared to approximately 6.6
million sq.m. for the corresponding period in 2023, among
which approximately 99.2% of non-residential properties were
from third-party property developers.

(2) Four Major Business Lines

The Group is a reputable comprehensive property
management services provider in the PRC, with a leading
position in Henan. In April 2024, the Group was awarded
the title of “2024 China Top 100 Property Management
Companies” by China Index Academy, with its overall
industry strength ranking increased by two places to 25th
as compared with 2023. The Group generates its revenue
mainly from four business lines: (i) property management
services; (i) value-added services to non-property
owners; (iii) community value-added services; and (iv)
city services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Hkﬂiﬁin n%li/\ﬁﬁ

Property management services

The Group provides property owners, property developers,
residents of residential properties as well as tenants in
non-residential properties with a wide range of property
management services, which typically include security,
cleaning, greening, gardening, repairs and maintenance
services. The Group’s portfolio of properties under
management comprises of residential properties and non-
residential properties, such as commercial properties,
office buildings, industrial parks, hospitals and other
public infrastructure. In 2024, revenue from property
management services was approximately RMB681.3
million, accounting for 70.9% of the total revenue,
representing an increase of 14.7% as compared to the
corresponding period in 2023.

Value-added services to non-property owners

The value-added services provided by the Group to non-
property owners (mainly being major customers like
property developers) primarily include (i) sales office
management services to property developers’ sales
offices and show flats, such as visitor reception, cleaning
and security services; (i) pre-delivery services that the
Group offers to property developers at different stages
before the delivery of properties from the perspective of
property owners and future property management
services, primarily including optimization of construction
blueprints at the drawing design stage, quality control
during the construction process, measurement and
inspection of completed units prior to delivery; (iii) sales
agency services in which the Group mainly facilitates
property developers in selling their first-hand properties
prior to property delivery; (iv) construction site
management services in which the Group provides
daily security services to constructors and property
developers, such as video surveillance, emergency
response, access control and visitor management; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(v) consultancy services for property developers and
property management companies in relation to sales
and management of projects. In 2024, revenue from
value-added services to non-property owners of the
Group was approximately RMB86.4 million, representing
a decrease of 37.6% as compared to approximately
RMB138.4 million for the corresponding period in 2023.
The decrease in revenue from value-added services to
non-property owners was mainly due to the shrinking of
real estate business under the influence of policies.

Community value-added services

The Group also provides a comprehensive range of
community value-added services to property owners and
residents to improve their living experiences and to
preserve and increase the value of their assets. These
services primarily include (i) home-living services, such as
housekeeping and cleaning services, home maintenance
services, decoration and move-in furnishing services and
shopping services; (ii) community operation services with
respect to managing community spaces and optimizing
the utilization of public resources, such as assisting third-
party vendors in seeking suitable places to operate or
promote their businesses, facilitating their promotional
events, daily cleaning and equipment maintenance; and
(i) asset operation services, primarily including property
agency services with respect to second-hand properties
and unsold parking spaces after property delivery, as well
as rental service in relation to parking spaces and shop
spaces. In 2024, revenue from community value-added
services provided by the Group was approximately
RMB113.4 million, representing a decrease of 16.9% as
compared to that of approximately RMB136.6 million for
the corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly
attributable to factors such as the domestic economy
downturn, which led to a downward trend in overall
business demand for community value-added services.
As a result, the revenue from the Group’s home-living
services and asset operation services both decreased.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
vain n%&/\*ﬁ

City services

The Group can also provide the city with a wide range of
city services, which mainly include (i) rail transit sanitation
services; (i) city environmental sanitation; (iii) waste
sorting and treatment; (iv) installation of road facilities; (v)
landscaping project; (vi) old communities renovation; and
(vii) smart block construction, etc. In 2024, the Group’s
revenue from the city services was approximately RMB79.7
million, representing an increase of 22.7% as compared
to that of approximately RMB64.9 million for the
corresponding period in 2023.

OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY

The Group is committed to becoming a better life and smart city
service provider, and has always adhered to the original
intention of providing customers with “Satisfaction + Surprise”
and worked hard to move forward. According to the Group’s
strategy for the next four years, the Group shall continue to
improve its product strength, organizational strength, operational
strength, digital science strength and brand power to ensure
service standardization, product standardization, product
branding and brand value creation. The Group shall adhere to
the bottom line of safety in projects, the property owner and the
employees, the bottom line of providing services with quality
corresponding to price, the bottom line of providing best
service under the same price, the bottom line of standardization
of service products, the bottom line of the performance of
employees and the bottom line of business performance.
Efforts will be made to expand the layout of the non-residential
properties and city services product lines horizontally, in
order to gradually realize the three pillars of “Joyful Living”

(I 4E35 ) (for residential properties), “Joyful Commercial
(IR (for
properties) and “Joyful City Services” (16 3 Ik ) (for city

Property Management” non-residential

services). The vertical industry sector will be deeply cultivated
and incubated, in order to realize the service ecology with the
characteristics of the Group with people as the core.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Under the clear strategic layout of the Group, it will be able to
continue to increase its market capitalization by steadily
expanding its scale at a low cost, securing contracted GFA as
well as expanding the portion of the GFA from third-party
property developers, the portion of non-residential properties
and the scale of city services, and thereby calmly responding
to the intensive competition in the capital market and
generating returns to the shareholders of the Company (the
"Shareholders"), customers and employees of the Company.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue was mainly generated from four major
businesses: (i) property management services; (ii) value-added
services to non-property owners; (iii) community value-added
services; and (iv) city services. During the Year, the Group’s
total revenue was approximately RMB960.8 million, representing
an increase of 2.9% as compared to approximately RMB934.0
million for 2023.

The following table sets out the Group’s revenue contribution
of each business line for the years indicated:

I R A

FEAER B I (K B AR T, A E 8IS AR
JRATEAR MR, 5kl & RO SR IR
PEREE =T b km i R AE . AR{E
BV SE I S AR T AR A B, —
SERESIFFARTI TG BAMEAE, e
TSRS A T 35 (B R e . BIEROA A
m R C TR D« BFARAT.

WZA

REEBIN EE A AT RERS: () W
EHR; () FEZEMERE; (i) 4
R K (v) ST IR . A AAE
B, AR AN & &9 N IR 960.8
HEot, #2023 FMA AR 934.0
H & LI N 2.9%.

RS A G E R PR BEAL A5 S p A
IRV FRR -

Year ended December 31,

BZ12 31 Hib&EE

2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
NERTFT % IR %
Property management services ESRE 681,325 70.9 594,104 63.6
Value-added services to non-property TR R 86,402 9.0 138,381 14.8
owners
Community value-added services I S {E s 113,429 11.8 136,575 14.6
City services b 79,690 8.3 64,956 7.0
Total gast 960,846 100.0 934,016 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
fr}vfin n%&/\*ﬁ

Property management services

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from the provision of
property management services amounted to approximately
RMB681.3 million, representing an increase of 14.7% as
compared to approximately RMB594.1 million for the
corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly attributable to
the rapid increase in the total GFA under management as a
result of the Group’s business expansion.

Value-added services to non-property owners

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from the provision of
value-added services to non-property owners amounted to
approximately RMB86.4 million, representing a decrease of
37.6% as compared to approximately RMB138.4 million for the
corresponding period in 2023. The decrease in revenue from
value-added services to non-property owners was mainly due
to the shrinking of real estate business under the influence of
policies.

Community value-added services

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from the provision of
community value-added services amounted to approximately
RMB113.4 million, representing a decrease of 16.9% as
compared to approximately RMB136.6 million for the
corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly attributable to
factors such as the domestic economy downturn, which led to a
downward trend in overall business demand for community
value-added services. As a result, the revenue from the Group’s
home-living services and asset operation services both
decreased.

City services

During the Year, the Group’s revenue from the city services
amounted to approximately RMB79.7 million, representing an
increase of 22.7% as compared to approximately RMB64.9
million for the corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly
due to the increase in city services projects under management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily consists of employee benefit
expenses, greening and cleaning expenses, utilities,
maintenance and customer service costs, security service costs,
sales agency service costs, office expenses, travelling and
entertainment expenses, depreciation and amortisation charges
and others.

During the Year, the Group’s cost of sales was approximately
RMB744.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
4.4% as compared to approximately RMB713.3 million for the
corresponding period in 2023. The increase in cost of sales was
mainly due to the expansion of the Group’s business scale.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets out the Group’s gross profit and gross
profit margin by business line for the years indicated:
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2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 E
Gross Gross
Gross profit Gross profit |
profit margin profit margin QQ@
7 EH% A Sk
RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %
ARETT % INS S %
Property management services MEEERH 148,928 219 130,227 21.9
Value-added services to non-property  JEE M
owners 21,795 25.2 34,914 25.2
Community value-added services AL S R 34,771 30.7 46,854 34.3
City services e 10,747 13.5 8,700 13.4
Total #as 216,241 225 220,695 23.6
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During the Year, the Group’s gross profit margin was approximately
22.5%, representing a decrease of 1.1 percentage points as
compared to approximately 23.6% for 2023, which was
primarily attributable to the lower gross profit margin in
community product retail operations.

The gross profit margin of property management services was
21.9% (2023: same).

The gross profit margin of value-added services to non-property
owners was 25.2% (2023: same).

The gross profit margin of community value-added services was
30.7%, representing a decrease from 34.3% for 2023, which
was primarily attributable to the lower gross profit margin in
community product retail operations.

The gross profit margin of city services was 13.5%, representing
a slightly increase from 13.4% for 2023.

Other income

During the Year, the Group’s other income amounted to
approximately RMB4.4 million, representing a decrease of 53.8%
as compared to approximately RMB9.5 million for the
corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly due to the
decrease of government subsidies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and marketing expenses

During the Year, the Group’s selling and marketing expenses
amounted to approximately RMB8.0 million, representing a
decrease of 28.2% as compared to approximately RMB11.1
million for the corresponding period in 2023. The decrease in
selling and marketing expenses was mainly due to the Group’s
cost control and focus on expanding business on low-cost
projects.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses amounted
to approximately RMB51.1 million, representing a decrease of
15.4% as compared to approximately RMB60.4 million for the
corresponding period in 2023, which was mainly due to the
reduction in cost control and additional listing expenses for the
Group.

Credit impairment losses

During the Year, the Group’s credit impairment losses was
approximately RMB74.4 million, representing a decrease of
16.0% as compared to approximately RMB88.6 million for the
corresponding period in 2023.

Income tax expenses

During the Year, the Group’s income tax expenses amounted to
approximately RMB23.9 million, representing an increase of
22.1% as compared to approximately RMB19.6 million for the
corresponding period in 2023.
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Profit for the Year

Profit for the Year was approximately RMB68.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately 30.8% as compared
to that of approximately RMB52.6 million for the corresponding
period in 2023. Profit for the Year attributable to the owners of
the Company was approximately RMB48.4 million, representing
an increase of approximately 25.8% as compared to that of
approximately RMB38.5 million for the corresponding period in
2023, which was mainly due to the decrease in sales and
marketing expenses, administrative expenses, and credit
impairment losses.

Liquidity, reserves and capital structure

The Group maintained a strong financial position during the
Year. As at December 31, 2024, the current assets amounted to
approximately RMB1,299.9 million, representing an increase of
approximately 21.6% as compared to that of approximately
RMB1,069.2 million for 2023. As at December 31, 2024, the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents were mostly denominated in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and amounted to approximately RMB132.6
million, and the restricted cash of approximately RMB206.0
million, representing a decrease of approximately 5.8% from
approximately RMB355.7 million (including restricted cash of
approximately RMB3.8 million) as at December 31, 2023. The
Group’s current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
as at December 31, 2024 was approximately 1.8, representing a
decrease of 0.4 from approximately 2.2 as at December 31,
2023. The asset-liability ratio (total liabilities divided by total
assets) as at December 31, 2024 was 48.7%, representing an
increase of 9.7% from 39.0% as at December 31, 2023.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings
amounted to RMB3 million (2023: Nil) and the gearing ratio
(total borrowings divided by total equity) was 0.4% (2023:
N/A).

The Group actively reviews and manages its capital structure on
a regular basis and strikes a balance between retaining higher
returns for the Group’s owners and the possible high level of
borrowing, while maintaining the advantages and security of a
strong capital position and adjusting the capital structure in
response to changes in economic conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other receivables

As at December 31, 2024, trade and other receivables
amounted to approximately RMB939.5 million, representing an
increase of 36.1% from approximately RMB690.5 million as at
December 31, 2023, which was mainly due to an increase of
RMB193.6 million in receivables from a Director and a slower
recovery rate for the Group’s trade receivables.

Trade and other payables

As at December 31, 2024, trade and other payables amounted
to approximately RMB348.9 million, representing an increase of
11.1% from approximately RMB314.0 million as at December
31, 2023, which was mainly due to an increase in the amount
of trade payables and deposits caused by the increase in the
Group’s business volume.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates its business primarily in the PRC. RMB is the
currency used by the Group for valuation and settlement of all
transactions. Any depreciation of RMB would adversely affect
the value of any dividends paid by the Group to the
Shareholders outside the PRC. Majority of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents is denominated in RMB. The Group is currently
not engaged in hedging activities that are designed or intended
to manage foreign exchange rate risk. The Group will continue
to monitor foreign exchange activities and make its best efforts
to protect the cash value of the Group.
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Pledge of assets

In May 2020, Henan Dingfeng Property Service Co., Ltd. (1&g
S 3 % A IR 2 | ) (“Dingfeng Property”, whose 51%
equity interests were acquired by the Group in October 2021,
i.e. the “Dingfeng Acquisition”) has provided a guarantee (the
“‘Dingfeng-Pingdingshan Guarantee”) for the loan repayment

obligation of Pingdingshan Yufu Trading Co., Ltd. SR

= AR A A D (“Yufu Trading”), in favour of
Henan Wugang Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd. (i 55 £
B R AT R O A BR 2w ) . The loan amount was
RMB30 million. The loan was also secured by third parties’
pledging of assets valued at around RMB18 million. Further,
prior to the Dingfeng Acquisition, Henan Jiatian Industrial
Group Co., Ltd. C Vi B = H & £ £ B G R 2 A7)

(“Jiatian”), an independent third party, also executed a
counter-guarantee (the “Dingfeng-Pingdingshan Counter-
guarantee”) to indemnify Dingfeng Property against any loss
as a result of the Dingfeng-Pingdingshan Guarantee. As a
measure to shield the Group against any loss as a result of the
Dingfeng-Pingdingshan Guarantee, under the agreement for
the Dingfeng Acquisition, the Group would be entitled to
acquire at no additional cost the remaining 49% equity interest
in Dingfeng Property to cover any losses as a result of the
Dingfeng-Pingdingshan Guarantee.

Due to the default of Yufu Trading, the bank accounts of
Dingfeng Property were frozen by the court on February 9,
2023. In July 2023 and August 2023, an aggregate of
approximately RMB12.5 million in the frozen bank account has
been enforced. In fulfilling its obligations under the Dingfeng-
Pingdingshan Counter-guarantee and compensate the Group
for its loss of the bank deposits of approximately RMB12.5
million, Jiatian transferred certain car parking spaces to the
Group.

During the Year, certain properties held by a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company were pledged to a bank as security
for a loan of RMB5 million to a third-party supplier.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Group
has not provided other guarantees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent liabilities

As at December 31, 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities and capital commitments.

Material acquisitions and disposals

The Company does not have other major investments, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures held as at December 31, 2024, nor are there any plans
for other significant investments or additions to capital assets as
authorized by the Board.

Significant investments

During the Year, the Group did not hold any significant
investments.

Future plans for major investments

The Group intends to utilize part of the net proceeds raised
from the global offering to acquire property management
companies and professional service companies, and to
cooperate with local municipal investment companies or local
property developers through capital injection or forming joint
ventures according to the prospectus of the Company dated
June 29, 2021 (the “Prospectus”). As at the date of this Annual
Report, the Group does not have any other material plans to
invest in the future.

Material events after the end of the Year

References are made to the announcements of the Company
dated July 7, 2024, August 18, 2024, December 30, 2024 and
January 10, 2025 (the “Announcements”). Terms used herein
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
Announcements unless otherwise specified.

According to the Announcements, on December 25, 2024,
Kanggiao Yueshenghuo Service Group Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Subsidiary”), received
a civil judgement (the “Civil Judgment”) from the Intermediate
People’s Court of Zhengzhou City, Henan Province* (1] 7 44
HRM HTA A\ EERT) (the “Court”) in relation to the Litigation
initiated by a bank in the PRC (the “Bank”) as the plaintiff
against the Subsidiary under the Purported Promissory Letter.
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Following the Civil Judgment, the Bank filed an appeal (the
“Appeal”) on January 8, 2025. On February 26, 2025, Henan
Province Higher People’s Court* (] B 4 =1 &% A % B )
issued a summons. The Appeal was heard on March 7, 2025.
As at the date of this Annual Report, no judgment in respect
of the Appeal has been handed down yet.

Details of the Purported Promissory Letter, the Litigation, the
Civil Judgement and the Appeal are set out in the
Announcements.

Saved as disclosed above, there have been no other material
events from December 31, 2024 to the date of this Annual
Report.

Employee and remuneration policy

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 2,244
employees (December 31, 2023: 2,088).

During the Year, the total remuneration cost of the Group
incurred, including Directors’ remuneration, was RMB197.2
million (year ended December 31, 2023: RMB198.3 million).

The Group has a well-established recruitment and internal
promotion system in place and strives to hire talented employees
by offering competitive wages, bonuses, benefits, systematic
training opportunities and internal promotions. The Group hires
employees through a combination of online recruitment, job
fairs, campus recruitment and referrals. To provide employees
with fair competition opportunities, in addition to external
recruitment, selections for management positions are open to
all employees for their application.

The Group offers employee with benefits such as housing
allowances, cultural and social events, as well as holiday and
birthday gifts. The Group is also committed to embracing
diversity within the Group’s organization and treating all of the
Group’s employees with equality and respect in recruitment,
training, wellness, as well as professional and personal
development. While maximizing equal career opportunities for
everyone, the Group will continue to promote work-life balance
and create a culture of fun for all employees in the Group’s
workplace and pantry.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
o5 % e A P B SRR

DIRECTORS
Non-executive Director

Mr. SONG Gewei (“Mr. Song”) (KX*:%), aged 56, was appointed
as the chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director on January
20, 2021. He has been primarily responsible for overall business
direction and strategic planning of the Group since its establishment
in August 2010. Mr. Song has about 22 years of experience in the
PRC real estate industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Song has
been the president of the Kanggiao Group (i.e. Henan Boyuan
Quanjing Enterprise Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, a
diversified enterprise group which principally engages in the PRC real
estate, education, agent construction and culture and tourism
businesses) since January 2003, during which he is primarily
responsible for the overall business direction and strategic planning
of the group. Mr. Song graduated from Xi’an Jiaotong University in
the PRC, where he obtained a master degree of business
administration in June 2003. Mr. Song was awarded the “Most
Responsible Entrepreneur” (5 H & 1T i& 1> 3 %) by Henan Housing
Industry Association (1] i 2 55 H  2£ 7% €7) in 2020 for combating
against COVID-19. Also, he has been the “Honorary Member of
Westlake University Board of Trustees” (P4l k%: 454 ) since
2018. In addition, he was awarded “Forty Years of Reform and
Opening Up, Great Development in Central Cities — Meritorious
Entrepreneur in Henan Real Estate Industry” ( [ 2 5 i Py 14
JE YR T K # ke |V g B H E AT 2 T Bl AR 32 %K) by Henan Real
Estate Evaluation Centre at Henan Housing Industry Association (i
T 5 M A 2E R & ) FE 48 b M I 5F b o0 ). Moreover, he has
been the vice chairman of Henan Housing Industry Association (/i 74
4 B3 3E 7 &) since 2005. Also, he was named the “Top Ten
Leaders in Central Real Estate” (" J& #h & + K45 4 A )
awarded by the Economic View (4 75 #1 25 3 #1) in 2005.
Furthermore, he was the “Person of the Year in Zhengzhou Real
Estate Business” (¥l j & 3£ 4F & A #) 42 ) awarded by the
management committee of Zhenzhou Real Estate Transaction
Center (M 113 5 M A2 5y 0 #EZE B Er) in 2003.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Executive Directors

Mr. DAl Wei (“Mr. Dai”) (#f#), aged 56, was appointed as an
executive Director on January 20, 2021 and the president of the
Group in July 2018. Mr. Dai is primarily responsible for the overall
management and strategy of the Group. He has over 12 years of
experience in property management services. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Dai was the general manager at investment and
development centre and then the general manager at strategic
development centre at Chongging Huayu Group Co., Ltd. (Z &
#e 2 AL W 45 B /A 7)), a company principally engaged in the PRC
real estate business, from January 2018 to July 2018, during
which he was mainly responsible for investment and development.
Also, Mr. Dai was the president of Chongging Huayu Savills
Property Services Group Co., Ltd. (Z ¥ 3 52 55 — KV s 4k 0 o 2E 1R
A E A A ), a company principally engaged in the PRC
property management service, from January 2017 to October 2017,
during which he was mainly responsible for overall strategic
operation and management in property management segment of the
company. In addition, he was the chairman of Easy Life Smart
Community Services Group Co., Ltd. (4%4 5 & Skt 15 IR 7542 B 34
HIRAF]) (formerly quoted on the NEEQ and subsequently delisted on
September 4, 2020 (stock code: 837249)), a company principally
engaged in the PRC property management service, from April 2014
to July 2016, during which he was mainly responsible for the overall
management and operation strategy. Furthermore, he was the vice
president of Jinghan Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (R & £ EF G R
T 1L /A7), a company principally engaged in the PRC real estate
business, from July 2010 to April 2014, during which he was mainly
responsible for the human resources management, legal affairs,
customer services and property management. In addition, he was the
deputy general manager of Hiersun Xili industrial Co., Ltd. ({515 B
HE R AR /A T), a company principally engaged in the design
and sales of jewelry, from January 2005 to December 2009, during
which he was mainly responsible for the human resources
management and operation.

Mr. Dai Wei obtained a master degree in business administration from
Murdoch University in Australia in January 2002.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. KANG Weiguo (“Mr. Kang”) (Hfi%), aged 48, was appointed
as an executive Director and the executive president of the Group on
January 20, 2021 and has been the vice executive general manager
of the Group since November 28, 2018. Mr. Kang is primarily
responsible for the operational management of the Group. He was
the vice general manager of the Group from January 2016 to
November 2018, during which he was mainly responsible for the
property service center and early intervention supervision. Also, he
was the assistant to the Group’s general manager from December
2014 to December 2015, during which he was in charge of the urban
project management in the urban area in Zhengzhou. Furthermore,
he was the regional general manager of the Group when he joined
the Group in August 2010, and remained in the position until
November 2014, during which he was mainly responsible for projects
such as Jinyu Shangjun (435 7).

Mr. Kang graduated from Zhengzhou University (3 A2) in the
PRC in July 1999, where he obtained a post-secondary certificate of
civil engineering. Also, he obtained the qualification of assistant
engineer in building issued by the People’s Government of
Guancheng Hui District, Zhengzhou City (%5 17 &3 [m] 2[5 N\ R
Jif) since December 2010 and obtained the qualification of Senior
Economist issued by the Henan Provincial Department of Human
Resources and Social Security (i Fg 4 A 77 & 98 04+ & 08 f gD

since February 2024.

Ms. WANG Na (“Ms. Wang”) (E#F), aged 44, was appointed
as an executive Director and the company secretary of the Company
on January 20, 2021 and has been the chief financial officer of the
Group since December 10, 2017. Ms. Wang is primarily responsible
for the investment and financial management affairs of the Group
and the affairs of the Board. Prior to joining the Group, she was the
chief financial officer at Zhengzhou Kanggiao Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (3% /1 B4 J5 Hb & B 45 A IR SR A F]), a
company principally engaged in the PRC real estate business, from
September 2013 to December 2017, during which she was mainly
responsible for the investment and financial affairs of the company.
Also, she was the finance manager at Zhengzhou Xinxing Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (371 %78 & 345 R 4 7]), a company principally
engaged in the PRC real estate business, from 2008 to September
2013, during which she was mainly responsible for the overall
financial management of the company. Also, she was the vice
finance manager at Zhengzhou Century Great Wall Real Estate Co.,
Ltd. (BN A0 -4 B 3647 BR A 7)), a company principally engaged in
the PRC real estate business, from December 2005 to November
2008, during which she was mainly responsible for the financial
affairs of the company.

R SeAE ( TREZAE] D, 48 3%, it 2021
1 H20 HEZ AT 2 AT 3 5 A 5 B
ITHER, K H2018 11 28 gt AL
BEH AR E., RAEA T EARAEH
MI&E% EH . if 32016 £1 HZE2018 411
HisEALE s, WEgEEaEY
EMAHR O KAT A NE B TAE. 5
H 2014 412 ] £ 2015 4£12 F #5417 A 4
AR I B, R 20 M R L () T I TR
HEH, b, 1742010 48 H i A A4 [H
BRp AT [ I AR A, BT RZ IS 252014 4F11
H, WHEFEAE & EA%EIHE .

R A 21999 7 H HESETA ISR A,
MR AR TREAKEE. h4h, #152010 4
12 H RIS SR A I 1 [ N OBURT A 5 1)
R BT FE Al A RS I H 2024 4F 2 FAfZEL
P T 8 N 7 R A R e J8 A 55 ) v A A
RET R AR

EWLLt TELL] D) . 44 5%, jA2021 £1
H20 HE AT AT E F A A A A 1A A
Fhi, H2017 412 A 10 HEETARER
BHEMWHEE. Tt FEAadAEE1#
B, MHEREHLEETHEG. LM
AL FT, #FH2013 4£9 A £2017 #12 A
PEAT B FERE b5 B S IR AT A A (— %K
FEATHERFEFMEEBEOAA) WHE
JEWE RSB, R O A A AR
WEHB . M5 22008 FE2013 F9 AT
EEMIHT LB EG R AR (—REBEATHEEF
Db I AR WA EL, WM 8 A
HRAA T BRI % 3 . 754 2005 4
12 H 22008 F11 HEATHRM A0 Ik B 3
HRAF (—% FBAE B A & 5 HbE %
WA FD R ACEE, B AR
%A E B SRS

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

FERREEEERRAT/ —F JIFEFER

31



32

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

o A SR R

Ms. Wang graduated from Zhengzhou University (3§ X £2) in the
PRC, where she obtained a bachelor degree of management (major
in accounting) in June 2003. Also, she obtained the qualification of
intermediate accounting issued by the Finance Department of the
People’s Republic of China (% A\ R 3 #1284 B ) since May 2005.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. KAM Hou Yin John (“Mr. Kam”) (&%), aged 52, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on September
30, 2024. He is primarily responsible for providing independent
advice on the operations and management of the Group.

Mr. Kam has over 20 years’ experience in corporate, personal and
interbank business. He has been serving as an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of Fengyinhe Holdings Limited (formerly known as Flying
Financial Service Holding Limited), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8030), since February 23, 2023. He has
also been serving as an independent non-executive director, the
chairman of each of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee and a member of the nomination committee of China
Ocean Group Development Limited, a company listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8047), since March 17, 2020. He is
also a member of the standing committee of Shenzhen Futian District
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (FFE A I

A B S TR B R A ).

Mr. Kam was the executive director, the chief executive officer and a
member of the investment committee of DTXS Silk Road Investment
Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0620), from September 2021 to
November 2022. He was the senior partner of Shenzhen Zhujin
Supply Chain Management Co. Ltd. from November 2018 to
February 2022. He served as an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Century Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
0162), from May 2017 to October 2018. He was the zone manager —
corporate banking division and the general manager of Shenzhen
branch of The Bank of East Asia (China), Limited from July 2012 to
March 2017 and the zone manager (Western China) — corporate
banking division and the general manager of Xi'an branch of The
Bank of East Asia (China), Limited from November 2006 to June
2012. He was also an expert juror of the First Batch of Hong Kong
Expert Jurors of Qianhai Court in July 2016.
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Mr. Kam obtained the degrees of Master of Business Administration from
PBC School of Finance of Tsinghua University in China in January 2021
and Master of Business Administration from The University of
Manchester in the United Kingdom in December 2010. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (the
“ACCA”) and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since November 2007 and April 2004, respectively. He has
also been appointed as a member of the China Expert Forum of the
ACCA in November 2013.

Dr. FAN Yun (“Dr. Fan”) (3t #z), aged 69, was appointed as an
independent non- executive Director on June 17, 2021. Since
November 1987, she has served as a lecturer, associate professor,
and was subsequently promoted to professor at Xi'an Jiaotong
University in June 2001. Also, she has been an independent
director of Soarle Technology Co., Ltd. (TUB% GERAT B0 A IR A )
from June 2014 to May 2017, a company listed on the New Over the
Counter Market (stock code: 430758), which principally engaged in
construction intelligence businesses in the PRC. From November
2012 to October 2018, she was an independent director of Autobio
Diagnostics Co., Ltd. (¥ M z [& AW TR K0 F R A ), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
603658), which is principally engaged in biological technology
businesses in the PRC.

Dr. Fan studied in the department of industrial economics at Xi’'an
University of Technology in the PRC (formerly known as Shanxi
Institute of Mechanical Engineering) and obtained a bachelor degree
of engineering in July 1982. She received her Ph.D in management
science and engineering from Xi'an Jiaotong University in the PRC in
May 2002.
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Mr. WONG Yun Pun (“Mr. Wong”) (¥ 4 & ), aged 59, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on June
17,2021. From August 1989 to April 1992, Mr. Wong worked as an
He served at Duty Free
Shoppers as a budgeting and planning manager from April 1992 to
August 1998. Mr. Wong served at Nielsen’s Hong Kong office
(formerly known as AC Nielsen (China)), a leading worldwide
research company on consumer market, as senior finance manager
from August 1998 to August 2000. Also, Mr. Wong served as a
finance manager at Icon Medialab Limited from July 2000 to October
2001. From March 2002, Mr. Wong served as an associate director
at JAFCO Asia which is the Asian arm of JAFCO, established in
early 1990, one of the leading venture capital firm in Asia, where he

auditor at PricewaterhouseCoopers.

was mainly responsible for managing the finance and administration
matters. After which, he served as the chief finance officer of Natixis
Private Equity Asia Limited, which is the private equity arm of Natixis,
a subsidiary of Group BPCE, a French multinational financial
2006 where he was mainly
responsible for financial matter, tax planning and treasury, and

services firm, from November
corporate governance. Mr. Wong then worked at Spring Capital Asia
Limited, a company principally engaged in investments on cleantech,
healthcare and consumer transactions until June 2011. And from
January 2012 to July 2015, Mr. Wong served as the chief financial
officer and executive director respectively of Tsing Capital, the first
general partner focus on environment and cleantech investments,
where he was mainly responsible for fund, finance and compliance
matters. From August 2015, Mr. Wong served as the chief financial
officer at Lokin Holdings Limited, a thermal management solution
provider based in Hong Kong, for about two years. From August
2018 to December 2020, Mr. Wong served as a director and chief
financial officer of Tottenham Acquisition Limited (subsequently
merged with Clene Nanomedicine, Inc., a pharmaceutical company
listed on NASDAQ (stock code: CLNN)), mainly responsible for
listing and financial matters. Since September 2017, Mr. Wong
served as the managing director of Chronos Capital Limited, where
he was mainly responsible for fund raising and financial advisory.
Since March 14, 2025, Mr. Wong has been serving as an
independent non-executive director, the chairman of the audit
committee, the chairman of the compensation committee, a member
of the nomination committee, and a member of the environmental,
social, and governance committee of HK Asia Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 01723).
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Mr. Wong obtained a professional diploma in Company secretaryship
and Administration from Hong Kong Polytechnic (7 i ¥ T £ )
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (72
T KZ)) in November 1989. He then obtained a master's degree in
business electronic commerce from Curtin University in Australia in
2003. Mr. Wong is an associate of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA?”) since January 1996 and a fellow of
HKICPA since October 2003.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. JIA Yifa (“Mr. Jia”) (& LLik), aged 51, has been the chief
economist of the Group since June 2016 and is primarily
responsible for community development. He was the financial
director of the Group from August 2010 to June 2016, during which
he was responsible for the financial affairs of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, from August 2008 to July 2010, Mr. Jia
was the financial director of the predecessor of the Group, Henan
Great Wall Hotel Property Service Co., Ltd.

Mr. Jia Yifa obtained a post-secondary certificate in industrial
accounting from Henan Institute of Finance and Economics (7] /4 {7t
20 in the PRC in June 1994,

Mr. LI Zhigang (“Mr. Li”) (Z=& ), aged 40, has been the vice
general manager of the Group since January 1, 2017. He is primarily
responsible for the human resources, informatization and value-
added innovation works, etc.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Li served as the chief officer at the
human resources department from October 2013 to December 2016
and the assistant manager at the operations department from April
2011 to September 2013 at Zhengzhou Kanggiao Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (3B 5 4G Hh & 5 L E B S A IR A 7)), a
company principally engaged in the PRC real estate business, during
which he was mainly responsible for the operation of the company,
and staff development and human resources works, respectively.

Mr. Li Zhigang obtained a master degree in business administration

from Jinan University (% 7 K ) in the PRC in June 2009. He

obtained the qualification of Senior Economist issued by the Henan

Provincial Department of Human Resources and Social Security
GATraE NITE IR € {#F%)5E) since February 2024.
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The Board is pleased to announce the annual report (the “Annual
Report”) and the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on October 8, 2020. The shares of the Company (the
“Share(s)”) were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
July 16, 2021.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of property management
services, related value-added services and city services in the PRC.
An analysis of the Group’s principal business for the year ended
December 31, 2024 is set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The annual results of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income on pages 95 to 96 of this Annual Report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Detailed business review and future development are set out in the
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages
14 to 28 and “Chairman’s Statement” from pages 7 to 13 of this
Annual Report.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group believes that risk management practices are important
and uses its best effort to ensure it is sufficient to mitigate the risks
present in the operations and financial position as efficiently and
effectively as possible. Operational risk may arise when the Group has
loss of (i) its customers; and (ii) senior management employed by the
Group which may adversely affect the Group’s operations. In the
event that the Group fails to identify suitable replacements for senior
managements in a timely manner and at reasonable cost, the Group’s
competitiveness may be impaired and performance could be adversely
affected. To retain our customers, we are trying to maintain excellent
and integrated services to our customers in a timely manner, so that
we can create extra value to the customers.
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An analysis of the Group’s financial risk management (including
interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk) objectives and policies
are provided in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. Other
risks faced by the Group are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors” in the Prospectus.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH THE LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to conducting its business in an environmentally
conscious manner and minimising the adverse effects caused by its
operations on the environment. The Group continues to make
endeavors in saving energy and reducing unnecessary waste by
adopting various green measures in its workplace. Such measures
include using of energy-efficient light tubes, encouraging use of
recycle papers and both sides of papers for printing and copying and
keeping office temperature at reasonable level. The Group will review
the environmental policy from time to time and will consider
implementing further environmentally friendly measures and practices
in the operation of the Group’s business. The Board paid attention to
the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with all significant
legal and regulatory requirements essential to its business operations.
The Group would seek professional advice from its external legal
advisers and consultants to ensure transactions and business to be
performed by the Group are in compliance with applicable
environmental policies, laws and regulations. During the Year, as far
as the Company is aware, it has complied in all material respects of
the laws or regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s
business and operation. More disclosures regarding its environmental
policies and performance are set out in the Group’s environmental,
social and governance report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction value of the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for 12.1% (2023: 17.0%)
of the Group’s total revenue, and the transaction value of the largest
customer accounted for 3.7% (2023: 7.7%) of the Group’s total
revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the transaction value of the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 54.5% (2023: 54.6%) of
the Group’s total procurement costs, and the transaction value of the
largest supplier accounted for 22.1% (2023: 21.6%) of the Group’s
total procurement costs.
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As at December 31, 2024, entities controlled by Mr. Song are one of
the Group’s five largest customers.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of the other
Directors, their respective close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares (as defined in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”)))) had any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2024.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company currently has a dividend policy in place. Any future
dividend distribution and payment will be determined by the Board at
its discretion and may be subject to the Shareholders’ approval.
Whether any future dividends are declared or paid, and the amount
of any such dividends, will depend on a number of factors, including
our earnings, working capital and cash position, financial condition,
capital requirements and such other factors as the Board may deem
important. There is no assurance that any amount of dividend will be
declared or paid in any year.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the Company’s dividend
policy and considered it to be effective.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 243 of this Annual
Report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Detailed bank and other borrowings of the Group are provided in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL

OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
July 16, 2021, and the total net proceeds from the global offering,
after deduction of the listing expenses, amounted to approximately

HK$628.9 million.

Proceeds from the global offering are and will continue to be applied
in accordance with the plans disclosed in the section headed “Future
Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The following table sets
forth the status of use of net proceeds from the global offering as of

December 31, 2024:
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Net proceeds Unutilised  Actual use of Unutilised Expected
asdisclosed  amount asof  netproceeds amount as of timeline for
Percentage of inthe  December 31, during the  December 31, the use of
total amount Prospectus 2023 Year 2024 net proceeds
AkER  HEWDBE REE  HEW024EF  BREMGIEE
BEN 128316 EBR&AME 12AMAL  ENESBEER
Purposes B EEENtE  FMENERE REREH REFE APREE
(approximate)  (HKS million) ~ (HK$ million) ~ (HK$ million) ~ (HKS million)
(M4 (H&BT) (H&BT) (H&ET) (HEET)

Pursue selective strategic investment and S RIEHE VB RR 1514 T Wi 65% 408.8 3194 218 297.6 By December 2025
acquisition opportunities to further BEUE— D ERHKS 2025 1211 27
develop strategic cooperation and TERBERI I M ERIR R
expand our business scale

Invest in our intelligent operational and ~ He ¥ B B ALIES I L 10% 629 419 6.4 355 By December 2025
internal management systems to AEURA B T ERE 20254 12 2
improve service quality and customer Fia
experience

Enrich and expand our service and type of & R dh BRI L E 15% 93 06 0 0.6 By December 2025
product offerings to develop our diverse  FFESILLEE S ik 3 20254121 2
business line

Working capital and other general EEEE RHM—RATAMY 10% 62.9 21 0 2.1 By December 2025
corporate purposes 2025 12/ 77

Total @t 100% 628.9 364.0 282 3358

As at December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report,
the proceeds were deposited in short-term interest-bearing bank

accounts with domestic and overseas licensed financial institutions.

E2m4$nﬁmla&ﬁ§$$ﬁ5% i
(52 TE V3 BE AT OA 55 0 B 358 A0 F R 4 R
% E/‘] %E— ﬁ\ﬂ E‘[:unﬁﬁ%fﬁﬁ)ﬁ o

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
ERREEERRRAT —F IUFEFR

39

¥

-
f\\\

|
=



40

DIRECTORS REPORT
B R

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group for
the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

There were no equity-linked agreements entered into or outstanding
at year-end by the Company or any of its subsidiaries for the year
ended December 31, 2024.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 26
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.

RESERVES AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION

As at December 31, 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution to the Shareholders amounted to approximately RMB468
million (2023: approximately RMB491 million).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares (as defined in the Listing Rules)).
As of December 31, 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

DONATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group made charitable
donations of RMB138,600 (2023: RMB415,500).
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DIRECTORS

During the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report, the
Directors were as follows:

Non-executive Director

Mr. SONG Gewei (Chairman)

Executive Directors

Mr. DAI Wei

Mr. KANG Weiguo
Ms. WANG Na

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. LI Haitao (resigned with effect from September 30, 2024)

Mr. KAM Hou Yin John (appointed with effect from September 30, 2024)
Dr. FAN Yun
Mr. WONG Yun Pun

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), Mr. DAl Wei and Mr.
KANG Weiguo shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”).

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, the Board shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the Board. The term of office of any Director appointed hereunder
shall expire at the first AGM after his/her appointment, and he/she
shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Accordingly, Mr.
KAM Hou Yin John who was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by the Board with effect from September 30, 2024
will hold office as the Director until the forthcoming AGM and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election.

Details of the Directors who are eligible for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM are set out in the circular to be despatched to the
Shareholders and to be published on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM
THE  INDEPENDENT  NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the opinion that they
are independent during the year ended December 31, 2024.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 29 to 35 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the non-executive Director and executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from January 20, 2024, which may be
terminated by either the relevant executive Director or the Company
by giving not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other
party. The appointment of executive Directors is subject to the
retirement and re-election by rotation requirements of the Directors
under the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from June 17, 2024 (excluding Mr. KAM Hou Yin John:
from September 30, 2024). Pursuant to their respective letters of
appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to receive a fixed Director's fee, and the non-executive
Such
appointment is subject to the retirement and re-election by rotation

Director is not entitled to receive any remuneration.
of Directors requirements under the Articles of Association and the

applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with any member of the Group, other than contracts
expiring within one year or terminable by the employer without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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REMUNERATION POLICY

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 2,244 employees
(December 31, 2023: 2,088). The Group provides regular training to
each operating department, including new employee orientation,
technical training, professional and management training, team
building and communication training. The Group also offers
bonuses
the Group determines the
salaries of employees based on the qualifications, experience,

competitive remuneration packages, including salaries,
and other benefits. In general,
position and seniority of each employee. The remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”)
was established to review the Group’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group in
the light of the Group’s operating results, the individual performance
of the Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices. The remuneration received by the Directors and senior
management of the Group includes fees, salaries, bonuses, allowances
and benefits in kind and contributions to pension plans in accordance
with the provisions of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are
set out in Notes 37 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of the Directors waived his/her emoluments or has agreed to
waive his/her emoluments for the year ended December 31, 2024.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Details of the Company’s retirement and employee benefit plans are
set out in Note 2.19 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules were as follows:

Interest in the Shares ofthe Company:
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held ® shareholding
EES i EEnE FriFRREE® IRHEMAR DL
Mr. SONG Gewei @ Founder of a discretionary trust, 498,750,000 (L) 71.25%

Interest in a controlled corporation

PN a g PHAERERNIN. 2B RS
Notes: PR
(0] (L)—long position. (] (L—lr 8.

2 The entire share capital of Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo Holdings Limited
(“Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo BVI”) is wholly owned by Hung Fai Property
Limited. The Eternity Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Song as the
settlor on November 10, 2020 for the benefit of Kanggiao Taichen Holdings
Limited (“Kanggiao Taichen BVI”) (a limited company incorporated in the
British Virgin Island and wholly owned by Mr. Song) and his family members
with Trident Trust Company (South Dakota) Inc. (“Trident Trust”) acting as
the trustee. Mr. Song (as the founder of the Eternity Trust) and Trident Trust
are taken to be interested in the Shares held by Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo
BVI under the SFO.
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Interestin the shares of associated corporation: TPARHESRV 8 e PR i «
Approximate
Nameof Name of Numberof percentage of
Director associated corporation Nature of interest shares held™® shareholding
BB HEEERE fEattE iR EE RAEBAEALE
Mr. SONG Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo BVI Founder of a discretionary trust, 100 (L) 100%
Gewei Interest in a controlled
corporation

RERRE BBV SRFEFANA. ZEEEED
Note: PR

(0] (L)—long position.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any of the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or to be recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

1) L.

Fr b SCpT 4% E & 4, 2024 4 12 F 31
H, MEEFIANA RETBANARAR
O F B AT ] A R B 2 R RE S
BARBIZE XV D AT AH B 25 £
RERE T, A MR RS 5 SO B A4 491 385 XV 26
7% 852 N A A =) W A2 BT AT AT RE
W EOR A CERE AR MR g O B AR B
B A% S A BRORR 2 R I RE 2 B R D
SR S RE 2 SO B A% 1] 56 352 IR B RLIA AR A
H] ZEAT B B E0 A Y AT AT RE A Bk A, R
R 1 A HE 5 ) 20 8 A ) S RS B (AT AT A
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2024, the following persons (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were

£ BRI A S AT B A
FIRE RS SR B

#2024 412 H31 H, BLFAL (EHIALN
F] B R ATBON BLBR AN ) A I SRR B s 47 v 3k
BB K EBARGI XY B2 &3 4
JAIA A A T SRS B i s, BRZHRD SR A A A
AR P8 58 5 B AR 26 336 IRRAAE B

required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the  ZCil Y [HE RS 8k i% £«
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders Status and nature of interest Shares held® shareholding
IZERAE By kEEEE FRiFIRBEE" IR 2L
Hung Fai Property Limited® Interestin a controlled corporation 498,750,000 (L) 71.25%
AR RS
Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo BVI@ Beneficial owner 498,750,000 (L) 71.25%
FRERE IR A BV AN
Trident Trust® Trustee 498,750,000 (L) 71.25%
ZHEN
Ms. Dong Yanxia® Interest of spouse 498,750,000 (L) 71.25%
Dong YanxiaZz+® T fE b 2t
Notes: P
(1)  (L)—Ilong positions. ©  OlFs.
() The entire share capital of Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo BVI is wholly owned by ~ (2)  FERGIEIGBVI (43 A fiHung Fai Property

Hung Fai Property Limited. The Eternity Trust is a discretionary trust set up by
Mr. Song as the settlor on November 10, 2020 for the benefit of Kanggiao
Taichen BVI (a limited company incorporated in the BVI and wholly owned
by Mr. Song) and his family members with Trident Trust acting as the trustee.
Mr. Song (as the founder of the Eternity Trust) and Trident Trust are taken to
be interested in the Shares held by Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo BVI under the
SFO.

3 Ms. Dong Yanxia is the spouse of Mr. Song and is therefore deemed to be
interested inthe Shares inwhich Mr. Song is interested by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company were aware of any
person or the Company had not been notified by any person (other
than a Director or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest in the Shares or underlying Shares which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To ensure that competition does not develop between the Group and
the controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholders”), each of the Controlling Shareholders (collectively,
the “Covenantors”) entered into a deed of non-competition
undertakings (the “Deed of Non-competition”) in favor of the
Company for ourselves and as trustee for the benefit of each of our
subsidiaries on June 17, 2021.

For details of the non-competition undertakings, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus.

Based on the information and confirmation provided by the
Covenantors, the independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the implementation of the Deed of Non-competition for the year
ended December 31, 2024 and are satisfied that the Covenantors are
in compliance with the Deed of Non-competition.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into various transactions which constituted
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. For details of such continuing connected transactions, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated November 14,
2023 and the circular of the Company dated December 14, 2023. The
transaction amount of the continuing connected transactions of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out below:

AEHECEATHIEL 5, ZEX MM LT
Fi R 5 14N BT FF @A 5. WA %
SEFFEBER B IR, B2 RAANT HIA
2023 F11 A14 HASE KA A H W &
2023 12 H14 HEp#ik . AREHKR#HE2024
12 31 HIRERRAERE RS 5 (W58 5 &R
AT

Actual Transaction
Annual Caps for

the Year Ended
December 31,

Amount
forthe Year Ended
December 31,

2024 2024
Connected Person Nature of Transaction (RMB'000) (RMB’000)
MEAL AR B 20244 AR 20244F
12 A31 HiLEER 12 A31 HIEFEEM
R 5&H R ERR
ARETIO (AR¥TIT
1.  Beijing Tongdao Group®de Provision of pre-delivery property 2,031 29,196
management services
JEn S SEBLHTIISEE B S
2. Beijing Tongdao Group Provision of value-added services 10,805 30,193
Jent FIESE SR AL s
3. Beijing Tongdao Group Provision of sales agency services 1,859 48,393
JEstFESEE SRS AR
4.  Beijing Tongdao Group Payment of refundable deposits 83,638 100,000

in connection with the sales

agency services (maximum

daily balance)

JentRITE AL
IR ERERD
Notes:

1. Beijing Kanggiao Tongdao Shenghe Consulting Group Co., Ltd. (It 55
[E B A A TR A7) (“Beijing Tongdao”) is a company established
in the PRC with limited liability which is beneficially wholly owned by Mr.
Song, the chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and the ultimate
Controlling Shareholder, and is therefore a connected person of the
Company.

2. Beijing Tongdao, its subsidiaries and associates are collectively referred to as
Beijing Tongdao Group.
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Pre-delivery Property Management Services
Framework Agreement

The Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) entered
into a pre-delivery property management services framework
agreement (the “Pre-delivery Property Management
Services Framework Agreement”) with Beijing Tongdao (for
itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) on November 13, 2023
in relation to the provision of basic property management
services and vacant property maintenance services (for
maintenance of vacant properties which have not been sold)
for Beijing Tongdao Group’s property projects, including but not
limited to cleaning, gardening, repair and maintenance of
common area and shared facilities (the “Pre-delivery Property
Management Services”) to members of the Beijing Tongdao
Group in consideration of service fees for a term commencing
from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026. The annual caps
of the transactions contemplated under the Pre-delivery
Property Management Services Framework Agreement for the
year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB29,196,000 and for
the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2026 are
RMB40,405,000 and RMB54,370,000, respectively.

As disclosed above, Beijing Tongdao is a connected person of
the Company. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under
the Pre-delivery Property Management Services Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company.
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40,405,000 7t M A K 54,370,000
JGo

ARUTEL BT, b RIE A 24 ] R i
Nt IR, TSI SEAE B RS HE AR 1k
TR HREHEAT 15 53 A A 2 W) PO Al 1l

5

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

FERIREEEEARAS T JIGEER

49



50

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
e

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the proposed annual caps for the Pre-delivery Property
Management Services under the Pre-delivery Property
Management Services Framework Agreement for the three
years ending December 31, 2026 exceeded 5%, the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to the reporting, annual
review, announcement, circular and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Value-added Services Master Framework
Agreement

The Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
entered into a value-added services master framework
agreement (the “Value-added Services Master Framework
Agreement”) with Beijing Tongdao (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiaries) on November 13, 2023 in relation to the
provision of value-added services to the residential property
projects, display units and sales venues of the Beijing Tongdao
Group, and other value-added services such as construction
site supervision and maintenance services and pre-delivery
services (without basic property management services,
including but not limited to cleaning, gardening, repair and
maintenance of common area and shared facilities) (the
“Value-added Services”) to members of Beijing Tongdao
Group in consideration of service fees for a term commencing
from January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026. The annual caps
of the transactions contemplated under the Value-added
Services Master Framework Agreement for the year ended
December 31, 2024 was RMB30,193,000 and for the years
ending December 31, 2025 and 2026 are RMB37,142,000
and RMB35,964,000, respectively.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

BRRIREEERARAS —FPUFEFR

A i %2026 4F 12 A 31 H 1k = (A4
IS S5 H0 R AE S otk I T I AT A 3
B IR I R AR AR L BR Y — I B % S
FE T 4 B 5%, #iHLTE T kAT
2 Gy R IESE b BRI 2R LAA B IE N I B
. FEEERM. NS RS A
FE o

BIEARFSAEELRRE

#2023 £ 11 H13 H, AX# (AHE
GERFHME AT BILERE (A3
A RARRILME AR 5T —mHEE
R %5 48 AE e sk ([ 34 4E PR 5 48 AE 22 %
&), NEAB IR & &EE,

1) b 2 [ 4 ) 5 B At I e [ [ 1
ERIEH . 855 R85 BT (1385 )
5o Mt T35 BB A RS AN R A AR
S A R (EAE L IR 4 71
Mg, AFHARRRAEER. R, ALE
W AR I AEAS i) C [ ISE R
), WRE2024 F1 H1 AR
2026 £12 H31 Hik. HE g4 HEZE
Tl TH N AT A 5 AR B R IR A
2024 £12 H31 HILEE A ANRE
30,193,000 JG M %2025 2026
12 A 31 H ik F & ol & N R
37,142,000 75 M2 A\ R:35,964,000 7t



As disclosed above, Beijing Tongdao is a connected person of
the Company. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under
the Value-added Services Master Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the proposed annual caps for the Value-added Services
under the Value-added Services Master Framework Agreement
for the three years ending December 31, 2026 exceeded 5%,
the transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting, annual review, announcement, circular and the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Sales Agency Services Framework Agreement

The Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
entered into a sales agency services framework agreement
(the “Sales Agency Services Framework Agreement”) with
Beijing Tongdao (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries) on
November 13, 2023, pursuant to which the Group shall provide
the sales agency services for first-hand properties and unsold
parking spaces, including but not limited to consulting services
and sales events organization services (the “Sales Agency
Services”) to members of the Beijing Tongdao Group in
consideration of commission, and in connection with the
provision of the Sales Agency Services, members of the Group
shall pay to members of the Beijing Tongdao Group the
refundable deposits (the "Refundable Deposits”) in order to
acquire the right to sell the first-hand properties and parking
spaces on an exclusive basis, for a term commencing from
January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2026. The annual caps of the
transactions contemplated under the Sales Agency Services
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31,
2024 was RMB48,393,000 and for the years ending
December 31, 2025 and 2026 are RMB62,971,000 and
RMB74,450,000, respectively, and the proposed annual caps
for the maximum daily balance of the Refundable Deposits for
the year ended December 31, 2024 was RMB100,000,000
and for the years ending December 31, 2025 and 2026 are
RMB100,000,000 and RMB100,000,000, respectively.
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As disclosed above, Beijing Tongdao is a connected person of
the Company. Therefore, the transactions contemplated under
the Sales Agency Services Framework Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios in respect
of the proposed annual caps for the Sales Agency Services
under the Sales Agency Services Framework Agreement and
the maximum daily balance of the Refundable Deposits for the three
years ending December 31, 2026 exceeded 5%, the transactions
contemplated thereunder are subject to the reporting, annual review,
announcement, circular and the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Confirmation from the independent non-executive
Directors

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions and confirmed that the transactions have:

(i) been entered into in the usual and ordinary course of business
of the Group;

(i)  been conducted based on normal or better commercial terms;
or been entered into based on the terms no less favorable than
those available from or provided by independent third parties;
and

(il been carried out according to the agreements for the related
transactions with terms that are fair and reasonable and in line
with the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Confirmation from the auditor

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised),
Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified
letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group from pages
48 to 53 of this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. The auditor concluded that based on the foregoing in
respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions:

a. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board.

h. for the disclosed continuing connected transactions involving
the provision of goods or services by the Group, nothing has
come to its attention that causes it to believe that such
transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group.

c. nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the disclosed
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have exceeded the annual caps as set
by the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, during the year ended
December 31, 2024, no related party transactions set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements were connected
transactions (including continuing connected transactions) which
were subject to the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief to which Shareholders are
entitled by virtue of their shareholdings in the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above and in this Annual Report, none of the Directors
or the entity connected with a Director is directly or indirectly
materially interested in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group and entered into by the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries subsisting
during or at the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” of this Annual Report, during the year ended December
31, 2024, none of the Controlling Shareholders or their subsidiaries
had a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of material importance to the business of the
Group and entered into by the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during
the year ended December 31, 2024 was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and no
Director or any of their spouses or their minor children has been
granted any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate, or has exercised any such
right.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not
enter into or have any contracts for the management and
administration of all or any substantial part of the business.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, none of the Directors or their
associates had any interest in any business which directly or indirectly
compete or may compete with the businesses of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

In accordance with the Atrticles of Association and applicable law, the
Company has made appropriate insurance arrangements for all costs,
fees, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by any Director or officer
in the performance and discharge of his/her duties and

responsibilities.
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

There were no major investments, material acquisitions or disposals
of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures held as at December
31, 2024, nor were there any plans for other significant investments
or additions to capital assets as authorized by the Board.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE
YEAR

Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this Annual Report from pages 27 to 28, there had
been no other material events from December 31, 2024 to the date
of this Annual Report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
Annual Report, at least 25% (the minimum public float required by
the Stock Exchange and the Listing Rules) of the entire issued share
capital of the Company is held by the public.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
A

B TA]

A E 2024 4F12 H 31 HIFEEN, AN
) A B A BT ] B 4 2E S I A
B R AT LARR] S AF A A A 1A

& IR SN

BRAF IR T e E A, A#ZE2024 £ 12 H
31 HILAEEE N, MM 3 95al ik 55 2 g it
AT AT B A 4 9 3E 7% T H ml ) B S A e B
A BB A 5 T 0 3E R T TR R

TEHERT HTRE o S

R4 A A R A R R0 P, AR F) Bt
AT e B 5 B e AR B $RAT L AT FL IR R
FEASEZ M — I sA . B A
B 32 M B AR A L P PR 2 R

EPN

SO S R IH

#2024 F12 A 31 H, MEESFEH R EA
Al BEARKEBEARMERKE. B
RS Bl B T, BT R A R 3Lt
R O N A T

AR HOCHIA

WA AR S 527 £28 H [EHETH
AR —BIRTIERAh, EH 2024 £12 H31H
EEARERB YL, ML E RS

AT

i

WRAB AN 7] ox BT A5 (K BB S SR 2 i
JAASE R H Y, A ] A0 25% (I A BT e
b BRI E B R AR A R ED e e

AT A A R

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

FERREEEERRAT/ —F JIFEFER

57



58

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
e

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed with the management and the external auditor of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed with the Group’s management the Group’s risk
management, internal controls and financial reporting matters. The
Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed the annual results of
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”) resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from October 28, 2024 and Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited (“Crowe”) was appointed as the new auditor of the
Company to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of PwC
with effect from December 5, 2024 upon approval by the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on December 5, 2024 and shall hold office until the conclusion
of the next AGM.

The consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report have
been audited by Crowe. Crowe shall retire from office at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group has complied
with the “Comply or Explain” provisions of the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guidelines as set out in Appendix C2 to
the Listing Rules. Matters relating to the environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) of the Group are set out in a separate ESG
report published by the Company and available on the Company’s
website and the website of the Stock Exchange.

By order of the Board
Chairman

Mr. SONG Gewei

Hong Kong, March 26, 2025
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its code
of governance. During the Year, in the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with all applicable code provisions under
the CG Code.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations which have a significant impact to the
Group, which primarily include the Company Law of the PRC, the Civil
Code of the PRC, the Labor Law of the PRC, the Labor Contract Law
of the PRC, the Bidding Law of the PRC, the Environmental
Protection Law of the PRC, the Production Safety Law of the PRC,
the Fire Control Law of the PRC and the Land Administration Law of
the PRC as well as the Provisions on Property Management and
the Regulations on Safety Supervision of Special Equipment
promulgated by the State Council of the PRC.

During the Year, the Group had complied with the relevant laws and
regulations in all material aspects and did not breach or violate any
laws and regulations applicable to the Company which would have a
material adverse impact on the business operation or financial
conditions of the Group.

AT BN ROKER R SEE R, R
B fi RCHE 2 d T A SE(E B L B R . AL
a CERA BT AN ERCL Pl (3R
PR (TR3EEwFRI] D ERILER Y
Hlo AR, EERFRF, AnF—HiEy
AR RITH R 2 A 8~ AR,

AT SRR, DR
RS SRR FAL

S RESE INEPS L)

BT AR, DEREAEEAE T E
A . AN RE RS By, A
W B A w L PR S E)
L P BB FEEL b AR R
B R R L B e E . B
B 325 B v B e B DL R P 36 B OO
1 50 5 e 0 A4 0P A £ 2 4 B k91

JAARSEREN, A O A 5K T T 8 S5 A
BVA Sk B, AR A0 BOE B i A
) HL AT B 3 A 42 [ € 75 2 8 B 5 IR D i
BRAFH B AU AL SR

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

ERREEEERRAT Z JIFEER

59



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
2 w5

/—ﬁ'—ﬁ\]

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board committees,
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to such Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their

respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of liability arising from legal action against the Directors, and
will conduct annual review on such insurance coverage.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises one non-
executive Director, three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors as detailed below:

Non-executive Director:

Mr. SONG Gewei

Executive Directors:

Mr. DAl Wei
Mr. KANG Weiguo
Ms. WANG Na

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr.KAM Hou YinJohn
Dr. FAN Yun
Mr. WONG Yun Pun

The biographies of the Directors are set out in section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report.

During the Year, the Board has met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1)
and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
which relates to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with
any other Directors or any chief executive of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge,
and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

As regards the code provisions under the CG Code requiring
directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organizations and other significant commitments as well
as the identity of the public companies or organisations and the time
involved to the Company, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a timely
manner.

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the
Board as they bring a fair view on the Group’s strategies, performance
and control, as well as ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are
considered. All independent non-executive Directors possess
appropriate academic, professional qualifications or related financial
management experience. None of the independent non-executive
Directors held any other offices in the Company or any of its

subsidiaries or is interested in any Shares.
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The Company has adopted a board independence assessment
mechanism (the “Board Independence Assessment Mechanism”).
The Board Independence Assessment Mechanism aims to ensure
that the Board has strong independent elements, so that the Board
can effectively make independent judgments and better protect the
interests of the Shareholders.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
independent non-executive Directors are made available to the Board,
the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed to assessing
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
annually with regards to all relevant factors including the following:

. required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability
to fulfill their roles;

. time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;

. firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

. declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as independent
non-executive Directors;

. no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor in
any relationship or circumstances which would affect the
exercise of their independent judgement; and

. the chairman of the Board meets with the independent non-
executive Directors regularly without the presence of the other
Directors.

In addition, according to the Board Independence Assessment
Mechanism, Directors are allowed to seek independent professional
advice when performing their duties and are encouraged to
independently contact and consult the senior management of the
Company.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed the Board Independence
Assessment Mechanism and considers it effective.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Board
Diversity Policy sets out the criteria for the selection of Board
candidates, including but not limited to gender, skills,
professional experience, knowledge,
background, ethnicity and length of service to achieve board diversity,

and the final decision on appointment will be based on the value that

age,

cultural and educational

the selected candidates will bring to the Board. In accordance with
the current composition of the Board, the Board has a balance of
knowledge, skills and experience in overall management and
economics, financial

strategy development, accounting and

management and corporate governance.

The Board has appointed the Nomination Committee to be
responsible for compliance with the relevant code provisions on
board diversity under the CG Code. The Nomination Committee will
review the Board Diversity Policy and relevant compliance situation
with the CG Code from time to time (at least once a year) to ensure
its ongoing effectiveness.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee and the Board have
reviewed the membership, structure and composition of the Board,
and are of the opinion that the structure of the Board is reasonable,
and the experiences and skills of the Directors in various aspects and
fields can enable the Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Measurable Objectives

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
measurable objectives adopted include (a) at least one-third of the
members of the Board shall be independent non-executive Directors;
(b) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications; and (c) at least one of
the members of the Board shall be female.
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The Company will take opportunities to increase the proportion of
female members of the Board when selecting and recommending
suitable candidates for appointments to enhance gender diversity in
accordance with stakeholders’ expectations and recommended best
practices. To develop a pipeline of potential female successors to the
Board, the Company will (i) ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid to senior levels; and (ii) engage more resources
in training female staff with the aim of promoting them to be members
of the senior management or the Board. The Company is of the view
that such strategy will offer chances for the Board to identify capable
female candidates to be nominated as a member of the Board with
an aim to achieving gender diversity of the Board in the long run.

The Board has also assessed the Group’s diversity profile of all levels
of employees annually and applied the diversity policy to attract,
retain and motivate employees from the widest possible pool of
available talent. As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 2,244 full-
time employees (including senior management of the Group), of
whom the number of female employees (including senior
management of the Group) accounted for approximately 51.5% and
the Group has achieved the objective of maintaining a relatively
balanced gender ratio. For the purpose of implementation of the
gender diversity for the Group’s workforce, the measurable objectives
adopted include, among other things, (i) at least one of the senior
management members of the Group shall be female; and (ii) at least
30% of the Group’s full-time employees shall be female. Based on
the Board’s review, there was no mitigating factor or circumstance
which makes achieving gender diversity across the workforce
(including senior management of the Group) more challenging or less

relevant.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as
their responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules, and
regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide
Directors with updates on latest development and changes in the
Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements
from time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular
updates on the Company’s performance, position, and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their

duties.

The Company encourages continuous professional development
training for all the Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The company secretary of the Company updates and
provides the Directors with written training materials in relation to
their roles, functions, and duties from time to time.
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Based on the information provided by the Directors, a summary of  iRIE=E FF2 LM G R, A#E 2024 4212 31
the trainings received by the Directors during the year ended — HIFAERE, EHEZHIAIBER LT
December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Nature of
continuous
professional

_ development
Name of Directors

courses
FREEE
HERHES BRRENE
Mr. SONG Gewei A. C. D
FIEZ
Mr. DAl Wei A. C. D
Bk
Mr. KANG Weiguo A. C. D
RIS A
Ms. WANG Na A. C. D
F
Dr. LI Haitao (resigned on September 30, 2024) A. C. D
A+ (742024 9 30 HEHD
Mr. KAM Hou Yin John A. C. D
B
Dr.FAN Yun A. C. D
LRGN
Mr. WONG Yun Pun A. C. D \
gt e
Notes: PizE:
A:  Attending seminar and/or conference and/or forum and/or briefing A IR Rl BRI SR
B: Speaking at seminar and/or conference and/or forum B: TR, R I RS
C:  Participating in training provided by legal firm, training related to the C: IR, BAAAF R
business of the Company B
D: Reading materials onvarious issues, including corporate governance, director D: FREZ MR L, AR RSEER. 38
responsibilities, Listing Rules and other relevant laws FHEE . AT R A AR B
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Director and executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term
of three years commencing from January 20, 2024, which may be
terminated by either the relevant executive Director or the Company
by providing not less than three months’ notice in writing to the
other party. The appointment of executive Directors is subject to the
retirement and re-election by rotation requirements of the Directors
under the Articles of Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from June 17, 2024 (excluding Mr. KAM Hou Yin John:
from September 30, 2024). Pursuant to their respective letters of
appointment, each of the independent non-executive Directors is
entitled to receive remuneration and the non-executive Director is
not entitled to receive an annual salary. Such appointment is subject
to the retirement and re-election by rotation requirements under the
Articles of Association and the applicable Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with any member of the Group, other than contracts
expiring within one year or determinable by the employer without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association, at
every AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest
to, but not less than, one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, the
Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office
only until the first AGM after his/her appointment and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting.
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The procedures and processes for the appointment, re-election and
dismissal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the composition
of the Board and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of no less than fourteen days are given for all regular
Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend
and discuss matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and the Board Committees meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given by the Company. The agenda and
accompanying Board papers are dispatched at least three days before
the date of the other Board meetings or the Board Committees
meetings to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review
the relevant papers and be adequately prepared for attending the
meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable to
attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed
and given an opportunity to make their views known to the chairman
of the Board prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated to
all Directors for their information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and the Board Committees meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the
Board and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are
open for inspection by all Directors.
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During the Year, seven Board meetings were held, an AGM was

convened and an extraordinary general meeting was convened by

the

Company. The attendance of individual Directors at Board

meetings and the general meetings is set out in the following table:

JAARLEZN
— BRI AR K K

» AAE GBI LREREES,
UK FRE K 8

Al R o R YN S N R RIS

ES

attended/number of

Board meetings

Board meetings

Number of Number of
general meetings
attended/number of

general meetings

Directors to be attended to be attended
B E R e

SHEEEERE RE /e
o FEH R O SRR &I
Mr. SONG Gewei 717 22
R
Mr. DAl Wei 717 212
e
Mr. KANG Weiguo 77 22
REfRTE A
Ms. WANG Na 717 212
TRt
Dr. LI Haitao® 5/5 171
B A e
Mr. KAM Hou Yin John® 2/2 1
SFEBEO
Dr. FANYun 717 2/2
NI
Mr. WONG Yun Pun 717 2/2
wEVESCAE
Notes:

P

(1) Dr. Li Haitao has resigned as an independent non-executive (1)  Z=#EE L OB BT ESE . 3

@

Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee with effect from
September 30, 2024.

Mr. KAM Hou Yin John has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee with
effect from September 30, 2024. Mr. KAM Hou Yin John has
confirmed that he (i) obtained the legal advice referred to under
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on September 26, 2024 prior to
his appointment becoming effective; and (ii) understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer under the Listing
Rules.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in
the securities of the Company by the Directors. After specific
enquiries made to all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed
their compliance with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the Year.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the
Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors,
and other significant financial and operational matters. Directors
could have recourse to seek independent professional advice in
performing their duties at the Company’s expense. Directors are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration, and operation of the Group
are delegated to the Group’s senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the Group’s management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including:

a. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

b. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and the Group’s senior management;

c. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; and

e. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Each of the Board Committees operates under its terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee comprising one non-
executive Director, Mr. SONG Gewei, and two independent non-
executive Directors, Dr. FAN Yun and Mr. WONG Yun Pun, with Mr.
WONG Yun Pun as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the
Company’s financial information, and oversee the Company’s
financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
procedures.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Audit Committee
held four meetings to deliberate and consider:

1. to review the audited annual results of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023;

2. to review the unaudited interim results of the Group for the six
months ended June 30, 2024;

3. to propose to change the auditor of the Company for the year
ending December 31, 2024; and

4, to consider and discuss the audit work plan for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The Audit Committee has also evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control measures and the
Company’s internal audit function.
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The following table sets out details of the attendance of each Audit

T REH P A FE 2024 4£12 31 HIEEER

Committee member at meetings during the year ended December 31,  [H%% #1425 B & % B HF @ 5415
2024
Number of
meetings Number of

_ should be meetings
Directors attended attended
HE TEHFE E=tkE H SRRk B
Mr. WONG Yun Pun 4 4
Mr. SONG Gewei 4 4
REZHE
Dr. FAN Yun 4 4
LN
Remuneration Committee HNEES

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee comprising
two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. KAM Hou Yin John
and Dr. FAN Yun, and an executive Director, Ms. WANG Na, with
Mr. KAM Hou Yin John as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are to establish and
review the policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors and
senior management and to establish a formal and transparent
procedure for the formulation of such remuneration policy, and to
make recommendations to the Directors in this regard, to determine
the specific terms of remuneration packages for each executive
Director and the Group’s senior management and to approve
performance-based remuneration with reference to the Company’s
targets and objectives as adjusted by resolutions of the Directors from
time to time.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee held two meetings to deliberate and consider the
remuneration of the relevant Directors.
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The following table sets out details of the attendance of each

TR E A E 2024 4£12 A31 HILEEHS

Remuneration Committee member at meetings during the year ended ;7 & &k B H € 3 241 .
December 31, 2024:
Number of
meetings Number of

Directors should be meetings

attended attended

'S JEH SRR E HE SRR

Dr. LI Haitao® 2 2

L0

Mr.KAM Hou Yin John® 0 0

SFEBIAO

Dr. FANYun 2 2

SRt

Ms. WANG Na 2 2

Tt

Notes: L

(1) Dr. Li Haitao has resigned as an independent non-executive (1)  Z¥EE L COFRB L AEPATESR . Hi
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a ZRGEFELARBEZESHAEWE, H
member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 2024 fF9 H30 HilgAxk.

September 30, 2024.

(2) Mr. KAM Hou Yin John has been appointed as an independent (2) LB O RAT AR BT E H
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration TMEZE e ERARLTZEERE, H
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee with 2024 9 H30 HifgEzk.
effect from September 30, 2024.

Nomination Committee BEZEEE

The Board has established a Nomination Committee comprising an
executive Director, Mr. SONG Gewei, and two independent non-
executive Directors, Dr. FAN Yun and Mr. KAM Hou Yin John, with
Mr. SONG Gewei as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are to regularly review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, make recommendations to
the Board on proposed changes to the composition of the Board,
identify, select or make recommendations to the Board on the
nomination of Directors, ensure diversity of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the appointment,
re-appointment and dismissal of Directors and succession planning
for Directors.
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The Nominating Committee will evaluate candidates or incumbents
based on criteria such as credibility, industry achievements and
experience, availability of time and representation of relevant sector
interests, diversity on all aspects of the Board and tenure of service.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee held two meetings to deliberate and consider the
remuneration of the structure, composition, size and diversity of the
Board.

The following table sets out details of the attendance of each

YT FHRLEE . AT A B T
BN IR ] S AR B S A . EH e
75 T8 B 2 0 A 17 0 A R S A 91 45 T AR HE
A% N BEAE N .

A 2024 412 A31 HIRERE, B4R AE

BAOTWXEHE, UdmkEEESFTL
LS NS DNl VS E SR

T REAN A FE 2024 4£12 A31 HIEFEEX

Nomination Committee member at meetings during the year ended @& EE & E L FE &ML
December 31, 2024:
Number of Number of
Directors meeting should meeting
be attended attended
HH JE L iR B e
Mr. SONG Geweli 2 2
KRR
Dr.FAN Yun 2 2
Bt
Dr. LI Haitao® 2 2
RGO
Mr.KAM Hou Yin John® 0 0
BB
Notes: F

(1) Dr. Li Haitao has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from
September 30, 2024.

(2) Mr.
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the

KAM Hou Yin John has been appointed as an

Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from September 30, 2024.

Director Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the “Director
Nomination Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code for selecting
and recommending candidates for directorships.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director (including an independent non-executive
Director) in accordance with the following procedures and processes:
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B, H2024 4£9 H30 HAZAEK.
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(v

&ﬂ:

The Nomination Committee will give due consideration to the
current composition and size of the Board when developing a
list of desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset
to focus the search effort;

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it considers
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such as
referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from a third-party agency firm and proposals from the
Shareholders with due consideration given to the criteria which
include but are not limited to:

(@ Diversity in the aspects of, amongst others, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

() Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries in which the Group’s business is
involved;

(d)  Independence;
()  Reputation for integrity;

()  Potential contributions that the individual can bring to the
Board; and

(9) Plan(s)in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third-party
reference checks;

The Nomination Committee will consider a broad range of
candidates who are in and outside of the Board’s circle of
contacts;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;
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vi. The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant
information of the selected candidate to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration of the remuneration package of

such selected candidate;

make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and the Remuneration Committee will make the
recommendation to the Board on the policy and structure for

vi. The Nomination Committee will thereafter

the remuneration;

vii. The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board, who are not
members of the Nomination Committee, and the Board will
thereafter deliberate and decide the appointment as the case
may be; and

ix.  All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
consent to act as Director of the relevant Director (or any other
similar filings requiring the relevant Director to acknowledge or
accept the appointment as Director, as the case may be) to be
filed with the relevant regulatory authorities, if required.

For the re-election of Directors at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall review the overall contributions and
services to the Company of the retiring Directors, including his/her
attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and
general meeting(s) (if applicable), and his/her level of participation and
performance on the Board. The Nomination Committee shall require
the nominee to submit updated biographical information and the
consent to be re-elected as a Director; and should review and
determine whether retiring Directors still meet the criteria for Director
selection. The Nomination Committee shall then make recommendations
to the Board on the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the
implementation of the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate
from time to time, and will report to the Board annually. During the
Year, the Nomination Committee and the Board have reviewed the
Director Nomination Policy and consider it effective.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of the members of the Board and the
senior management of the Company as set out on pages 78 to 80 of
this Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out

below:

Remuneration ofthe Directors and the Five
Highest Paid Individuals

(@) Directors’ Remuneration

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are as follows:

EERAOMIE

(@)

Je AN A
RIAFER 78 280 H:

= N E

ESME

EEMAL

HHEH TR

Pension cost,

Housing provident

G

2024 F 12 A 31 HILFEE, EHeRE
A B ) T RS R T

(1) Dr. Li Haitao has resigned as an independent non-executive (1)

Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a

member of the Nomination Committee with effect from

September 30, 2024.

(2) Mr. KAM Hou Yin John has been appointed as an independent  (2)
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee with
effect from September 30, 2024.
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fund,
Medical insurance
and other
For the year ended BE0u & Salaries and allowance ahd
December 31, 204 12 A 31 AR Director’s fee bonuses bgnifltz Total
In Kin
BEERAE.
BEAESE.
BRiRL.
We  pemmg  MEEEREA 3t
Directors o RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NREFT AREFT ANREFT ANREFT
Mr. DAl Wei i - 1,200 14 1,214
Ms. WANG Na st B, 684 76 760
Mr. KANG Weiguo B B 566 88 654
Mr, SONG Gewei REZLA - - - -
Dr. LI Haitao®® AR 83 - - 83
Mr. KAM Hou Yin John® Fea-vitad 23 , . 23
Dr. FAN Yun it 99 - - 99
Mr. WONG Yun Pun RERLE 91 - - 91
Total st 296 2,450 178 2,924
Notes: B 3E:

P L O LB AT E S B
REFENLRATR T RE B,

H 2024 49 H30 HigAER.

eFBE OB AR ITE S,

iz A

TEFELARLTAGHRE, H
20244F9 H30 HitgE 4.
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Pension cost,

housing
provident fund,
medical
insurance and
other allowance
Forthe yearended BE2023% Salaries and and benefits
December 31, 2023 12 A31 HILEE Director’s fee bonuses in kind Total
REERA. &
BARE. B
BB R
A e R HARARA st
Directors % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NREFT NREFT ARETT ARETT
Mr. DAI Wei iy it - 1,200 14 1,214
Ms. WANG Na Fiitt - 612 76 688
Mr. KANG Weiguo TR - 570 84 654
Mr. SONG Gewei FEREE - i - _
Dr. LI Haitao st 99 - - 99
Dr. FAN Yun it 99 - - 99
Mr. WONG Yun Pun ot ik 99 - - 99
Total st 297 2,382 174 2,853
(b)  Five Highest Paid Individuals 1. FAMRSHMAL
An analysis of the Group’s five highest paid individuals for the A B [ 1 22 2024 4F J: 202312 A 31 [
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows: VAR FE A e = B N 2 AT T \
Years ended December 31,
BE12 A31 HiLERE
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 1F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
N NE
Directors L 3 3
Non-Director highest paid individuals e R HI A L 2 2
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Details of the remuneration of the above non-Director highest
paid individuals for the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

TR A E 2024 5 %2023 412 H31 H
BISEESY RO E (S ot 8 o 4k o N i) R o
-

Years ended December 31,
#=12 831 HIEEFE

2024 2023

2024 £E 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANE®TT ANRHETIE

Salaries and bonuses Hré M ACAL 1,267 1,352

Pension cost, housing provident fund, TR FEAESE.

medicalinsurance and otherallowance SRR ORB S A & R

and benefits in kind 178 164

The maximum number of non-Director individuals whose
remuneration falls within the following remuneration ranges:

2T 51T < B T A P e v = 2

Years ended December 31,

BE12 A31 Aik4E
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
NEBL NEL
Remuneration range (in HKD) FraaE (AR
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 LA
1,000,000 70 2 2
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow
during the Year. The management of the Group has provided the
Board with the necessary explanations and information to enable the
Board to make an informed assessment of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements presented to the Board for
approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

A statement from the auditor about its reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out from pages 87 to 94
In preparing the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, the Directors have

in this Annual Report.

selected suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable
and prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective internal
control and risk management system (including the environmental,
social and governance risk) to safeguard the Group’s assets and
Shareholders’ interests and to review annually the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control and risk management system (including
the environmental, social and governance risk) to ensure the adequacy
of internal controls and the existing risk management system
(including the environmental, social and governance risk). The
Company also has an internal risk control audit department that
primarily analyzes and independently evaluates the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems and reports its findings to the Board at least annually.

HEA RS
%?Rﬁﬁ?

A B AR A A S
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AN B AT R A B [ R A
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P
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A AR ER 87 £ 94 H. R4 E
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The Group’s internal control and risk management system includes a
well-established organizational structure with clearly defined
responsibilities and authorities. The departments involved in the day-
to-day operations of the division are responsible for their conduct and
performance and are required to operate their own divisional business
within the limits of their authority and to implement and strictly comply
with the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to time.
Each division is also required to keep the Board informed of
in the division’s business and the
regularly
implemented by the Board. Procedures have been designed for
safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,

significant developments
implementation of policies and strategies that are

maintaining of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information for internal use or for publication, and ensuring
compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations. However, these
systems are designed to manage, not eliminate, the risk of failure to
meet business objectives and provide only reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As of December 31, 2024, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management systems (including the
environmental, social and governance risk) of the Group to ensure
that a sound system is maintained and operated by the Group’s
management in compliance with the agreed procedures and
standards. The review covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.
In particular, the Board considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions. The review was made by discussions with the management
of the Group and the relevant assessment conducted by the Audit
Committee. Also, the Company has strict rules on the treatment and
release of inside information in accordance with relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules and the SFO and prohibits any unauthorized use
or release of confidential or inside information. The Directors and
senior management of the Group have adopted all reasonable
measures to ensure proper precautionary measures are in place to
prevent the Company from violating relevant disclosure requirements.
The Board believes that the existing internal control and risk
management systems are adequate and effective, in particular, for

financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance.
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The Board will continue to review and improve the Group’s internal
controls and risk management system, taking into account the
prevailing regulatory
development and the interests of Shareholders.

requirements, the Group’s business

Auditor's Remuneration

The auditor’s approximate remuneration in respect of the audit and
non-audit services provided to the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2024 is as follows:

RS S AT B R . AR SE TS 5k
JEAN I A 25, A AT A AN OB A R N
P A R B R A5

A% BT 45

W WA A B E 2024 12 A31 HIEFEEN
) A 28 =] At 00 A% IR AR R O S 2 WA
T 4 E AU

Amount
Type of services (RMB)
BRFELER £ AR
Audit services BRI 1,450,000
Non-audit services AEAZ SRS -
Total 5T 1,450,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. WANG Na, an executive Director, was appointed as the joint
company secretary of the Company on January 20, 2021. She is a
full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company’s affairs. She reports to the chairman of the Board
and is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
corporate governance matters, and ensuring compliance with the
policies and procedures of the Board and applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

The Company has also engaged Ms. YU Wing Sze of TMF Hong
Kong Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as another
joint company secretary of the Company on January 20, 2021 to
assist Ms. WANG Na in performing her duties as company
secretary of the Company. Ms. WANG Na was the principal contact
person of Ms. YU Wing Sze with the Company. With effect from
July 18, 2024, Ms. YU Wing Sze resigned as a joint company
YU Wing Sze’s
resignation, Ms. WANG Na, who has been confirmed by the Stock

secretary of the Company. Following Ms.

Exchange to be capable of acting as a company secretary of the
Company under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, acts as the sole
company secretary of the Company.
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In accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms.
WANG Na and Ms. YU Wing Sze have attended not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance, and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective information on the Company for the
Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions.

The AGMs provide opportunity for Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of the
Board and the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend
the AGMs to answer Shareholders’ questions. The auditor will
also attend the AGMs to answer questions about the conduct
of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report,
and auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication and to build an inter-
relationship and communication channel between the
Company and the Shareholders, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy and maintains a website
(www.kqysh.com.cn), where the up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices, and other
information are available for public access.
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The Company has established several channels to communicate with
the Shareholders as follows:

() corporate communications such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are available on the Stock Exchange’s
website at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at
www.kqgysh.com.cn;

(i)  periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange
and published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company;

(i)  corporate information is made available on the Company’s
website;

(vy  AGMs and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for
the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with
the Directors and the Group’s senior management; and

()  the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company serves
the Shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend
payment and related matters.

During the Year, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. The Board is
of the view that the Shareholders’ communication policy of the
Company has facilitated sufficient Shareholders’ communication and
considered the policy is effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each of general meetings.
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CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

According to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders may put
forward proposals at the general meeting of the Company for
consideration. Any one or more member(s) of the Company holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be convened by the
Company for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. The written requisition shall be deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company
ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office of the
Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and the resolutions
to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the
requisitionist(s). If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting to be held within a further 21 days,
the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them
may do so in the same manner provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from
the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
to convene such general meeting shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the relevant
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who wish to make enquiries to the Board regarding the
Company may do so by emailing Investor Relations at the Company’s
head office at ir@hnkgwy.com.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the third amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company on June
18, 2024 upon Shareholders’ approval at the AGM held on June 18,
2024. An up-to-date version of the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

A\ Crowe

Tothe Shareholders of Kanggiao Service Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kanggiao
Service Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“‘Group”) set out on pages 95 to 242, which comprise the
consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2024, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”) Accounting standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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EESE (FE) SAEBHRERARE
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

FE S BIEE7 7R BErth0og
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
PN AZ IR T

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended December 31, 2023 were audited by another auditor who

expressed an unmodified opinion on March 15, 2024.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
JE LA S AR

Assessment of expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade and other receivables

AR 5 R E A BEGIR R E AR C TTRREREK] D

Refer to Note 3.1.2, 4(a) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy Note 2.9.
2 A A SRR INGES.1.2. 4(a) K21 DL &R RE2.9.

Key Audit Matter
M ERTHIH

As at December 31, 2024, the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables and other receivables amounted to
approximately RMB780,637,000 and RMB379,980,000,
respectively, which represented approximately 51%
and 25% of the total assets of the Group, and provision
for ECL allowance on trade receivables and other
receivables of approximately RMB179,798,000 and
RMB41,355,000 were recognised to the consolidated
balance sheet.

t2024 12 H31 H, B 5 EEkIE K H b oKk TE
4R T AE 2 B & A N R 5 780,637,000 T K A R s
379,980,000 JG, 43 A% AN AR (3] 4l & 2 4951% 2 25%
Ak, LR E 2 MR IE K A S IE FT B 1 TE (S
FH B R HE {43 7 49 A N I 179,798,000 7o M A\ R
41,355,000 Jt, CAGEA KE ARKR PR .

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B P TRREEIR

Our audit procedures included the following:
HERETEF AL T & IH:

* Obtained an understanding of the Group’s internal
control and assessment process of the ECL of trade
receivables and other receivables, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
degree of estimation uncertainty and other inherent risk
of factors such as complexity and subjectivity;

THET BRI B 5 EYGKIE S At G IH G TR (5
R IR B AR AR, 835 Al 5 AN T 1k Y
T JE CL e oAt [ A JRU B () K (A e & i) Al
T ER B A [ AR

« Evaluated and validated, on a sample basis, the controls
over management’s assessment of the ECL of trade
receivables and other receivables;

DRy 2 R it 5 I AGK TR B At ISR TR Y TR
JME PRSPl AP AT 1 5P S B

» Assessed the appropriateness of the credit loss
provisioning model and methodology adopted by
management; including past due status, past collection
history and subsequent settlement information;

APt T B BR 415 P98 R Y A AR L T v A )8
P AIEEIYIARE, WA MR S AR A TS R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BN AZ SR

Assessment of expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade and other receivables

aPAG R 5 R A EEIR R B E R C THIERRK] D

Refer to Note 3.1.2, 4(a) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy Note 2.9.
H2 MG AMBEIRENEES.1.2. 4(a) K21 LUK EHTBUREE2.9.

Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

B ERT IR BRI R E IR

The assessment of ECL of trade and other receivables is + Tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
considered a key audit matter given the significance of the ageing analysis of trade receivables prepared by
trade and other receivables balance, combined with the management against relevant supporting
significant degree of estimation uncertainty in relation to the documents;

ECL assessment. The inherent risk in relation to the
\ P IS -3 4P £ B E ]
assessment of ECL is considered relatively higher due to the Ak 7 2RI T8l ) 10 B 5% SRR

complexity of ECL models and subjectivity of significant B o AT HE B, SRR BRI SR M SRR AT T A%
assumptions and data used. Eap

EEE/:\%’5&ﬁ4’|ﬂl@q&§—klﬁﬁffgﬁﬁ"]$§ﬁ, ﬂﬂi;@ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁ?ﬁ% ¢ Checked the mathematical accuracy of the
STAR A B 0 SR ST AR e 1, B 5 T A SR TR ) TR calculation of ECL allowance;
15 R R ETAG DA 2 B g i I . B A THIUIS AR R AT e A e v -

: AR A THIIE R R YEM T B I MR R YE R
MR K B Ao B R B B S ) R R, YRS PR KT A & S I
()17 JEL A 8 A AR S T o + Obtained and reviewed the valuation report

prepared by external valuation firm engaged by
the Group with the assistance of our valuation
specialists;

L8 N0 2 B 5 R P S 1 7 2 P fil i
MEPflERs (FEBAMRHE EX I T)

+ Assessed the external valuer's qualifications,
experience and expertise of the external
professional valuation firm engaged by
management and considered the objectivity and
independence; and

CLRTAG B B T S AN OSSR BT A% A
B e HEEFNAN, B BBV ST &

+ Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to assessment of ECL of trade and other

receivables.
CLETAl B & ) B HLAth RIS I A TR S 48 R R
A o 5 () 78 o0

Annual Report 2024

PR



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED  WITH  GOVERNANCE FOR  THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

P ST AZ AT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TSI AZ BHTR T

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, March 26, 2025

Sze Chor Chun, Yvonne
Practising Certificate Number P05049
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COIVIPREHENSIVE INCOME

AL ELS

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

Year ended December 31

#BZ12 31 HILEE

2024 2023
2024 4F 2023 4

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

B AT ANR#ETT

Revenue N 6 960,846 934,016

e
Cost of sales SHE A 7 ( 744.605) (713.321)
Gross profit EZ 216,241 220,695
Administrative expenses ATHIBASC 7 (51,105) (60,441)
Sellingand marketing expenses SR SHEA ST 7 (7,991) (11,129)
Credit impairment losses (ElEMEIEESEN 312 (74,441) (88,648)
Otherincome — net HARN 8 4,407 9,531
Other gains/(losses) — net HoAtbiezs/ Of54R) — 148 1,157 (601)
Operating profit 4TESF 88,268 69,407
Finance income RN 4,922 4,051
Finance costs Rl R A (853) (2,705)
Finance income — net BN — 358 10 4,069 1,346
Share of profit of investments JEAL {8 FHRE 2RI NHRIT)
i i BRI
accounted for using the equity B FE 344 1,397
method

Profit before income tax FREMATRIE 92,681 72,150
Income tax expenses FIT1EA6 B S 11 (23,916) (19,582)
Profit for the year SEEERI 68,765 52,568
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(CONTINUED)
AraaEmimR D

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 44EA RS T-0505)

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT ANRBTIT AR¥TE
Profit attributable to: UIF&AEIEESF
— Owners of the Company — RNEEHEE N 48,412 38,484
— Non-controlling interests — AR RS 20,353 14,084
68,765 52,568
Other comprehensive income Hith 2 EUES
Item that may be reclassified to T RE P SRS IE H
profit or loss
—Exchange difference on translation — RSN ETS E AR
of foreign operations b 3 72 4H 1,417 1,548
Total comprehensive income FEREILEE
for the year 70,182 54,116
Total comprehensive income I TFE A ES SIS EEE -
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — KAFHEE N 49,829 40,032
— Non-controlling interests — A 20,353 14,084
70,182 54,116
Earnings per share SBRER
— Basic and diluted (expressed in — SR R (LU
RMB yuan per share) YNNI ) 12 0.07 0.05

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

MEBEAMRRE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BHE5HI4N, TG 428 R T-I055)

As at December 31

R12 H31 H
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BifRE G S VNG
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property and equipment W3k T S 14 12,937 12,314
Right-of-use assets e 27 4,053 1,598
Investment properties BeawskE 15 21,558 5,020
Intangible assets MG E 16 50,807 54,783
Deferred income tax assets IRAE PR 17 56,989 39,346
Investments accounted for using {EFRE R NAR I
the equity method 4,269 3,197
Prepayments TEATFIHE 20 59,884 65,629
Restricted cash S PRI 4 24 5,997 1,302
216,494 183,189
Current assets MENEE
Inventories HeE 19 18,841 13,911
Prepayments TRATHIH 20 1,495 5,280
Trade and other receivables B 5 L HoAth G TE 21 939,464 690,518
Restricted cash SR 24 205,985 3,794
Financial assets at fair value through ~ #4A S BT NIBRR ¥ G: R4 8
profit or loss 22 1,500 =
Cash and cash equivalents i IR &55HY) 23 132,569 355,684
1,299,854 1,069,187
Total assets BEERE 1,516,348 1,252,376
EQUITY L
Equity attributable to owners » »
KNS AE SR
of the Company
Share capital JieAs 25 5,831 5,831
Other reserves oAtk 26 504,783 520,686
Retained earnings EEpecl 213,610 184,978
724,224 711,495
Non-controlling interests JEIEpRiERS 53,896 52,330
Total equity WERSHR%E 778,120 763,825
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
HMEREAREK 8D

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (B E8H4F, BT 4EE A RKET- 065

As at December 31

B12 A31H
2024 2023
2024 4F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B AE®TT ANRET T
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities IERENEE
Lease liabilities HE A 27 3,746 2,247
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEPFTS I B 1E 17 7,703 6,701
Other payables HAh BT IR 28 98 165
Contract liabilities GlR A 6(a) 4,906 4,147
16,453 13,260
Current liabilities wEAE
Borrowings-current i ) 30 3,000 -
Lease liabilities A 27 5,868 7,179
Trade and other payables B 5 Fe H A AT IR 28 348,908 313,960
Provisions for litigation SIFRARE 38 193,602 -
Contract liabilities AR A 6(2) 158,846 146,193
Current income tax liabilities RIIRTI A 11,551 7,959
721,775 475,291
Total liabilities & (S mEE 738,228 488,551
Total equity and liabilities X RE SR 1,516,348 1,252,376
The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction idsr A A A AR OB
with the accompanying notes.
The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 242 were 4 &M% R $ 95 £242 HH A EHE R
approved by the board of directors of the Company on March 26, 2025 43 J§26 HtiEAR AR %%

2025 and were signed on its behalf.

KANG Weiguo
JRRAEIE

Director

i#
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(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

Exnfamish, ISR T e

n‘/Tl:l*

Attributable to owners of the Company

RDTER NER
Nor
Share Ofe  Reaned controling Tota
caplel IESENES eamigs Total  interests equiy
Tk Hfbi (KRR 5t R e
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
[ifd Mg AREFR ARETR G G G
(Note 25) (Note 26)
(%) (Jht2)
Balance as at January 1, 2023 K351 A1 B&H 5,831 540,450 165,082 711,363 45,002 756,365
Total comprehensive B EleE
income for the year
Profit for the year it - - 38484 38,484 14,084 52,568
Currency translation differences e - 1,548 - 1,548 - 1,548
- 1,548 38,484 40,032 14,084 54,116
Transactions with owners in o
their capacity as owners: RERARTIRS:
Appropriation of statutory reserves  HEERHEAHE 26 - 18,588 (18,588) - - -
preblemivempll R
ﬂﬁu - (39,900) - (39,900) - (39,900)
the Company
Dividends to non-controling interests  EAHHERTE - - - - (8,886)  (8,886)
Capital contribution by FEHERT A
non-controling inferests - - - - 2,130 2,130
Balance as at December 31, 203 K203 12 B3t BAtisH 5,831 520,686 184,978 711,495 52,330 763,825
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W

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

WTIZI

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated)

EmsFEIR ()

(B A1Ew5r, IrA SR TIe81m)

Attributable to owners of the Company

KOEHBARLE
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling Total
captal Teserves eamings Total interests equity
BA EfficH fREER 3 ks (e
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iFi NBRTR NBRTR NESTR  ARETR NESTR NBETR
(Note 25) (Note 26)
(WD) (Hit20)
Balance as at January 1, 204 R4 ET B1 AR 5,831 520,686 184,978 711,495 52,330 763,825
Total comprehensive income B EleE
forthe year '
Proft fo the year e - - 48412 48412 20353 68,765
Currency translation diferences KhagER - 1,417 - 1,417 - 1,417
- 1,417 48,412 49,829 20,353 70,182
Transactions with owners in their B AR
capacity as owners: '
Appropriaion of stafutory resenves  EERHERME 26 - 19,780 (19,780) - - -
Dividends in respectof the previous year s A slpat L8ty
approved and paid to shareholders of &
the Company 29 - (37,100) - (37,100) - (37,100)
Dividends to non-controllng interests ~ AEAIHRAATE - - - - (18,987) (18,987)
Capital contribution by R L
non-controling - inerests - - - - 200 200
Balance as at December 31, 2024 R2024E 12831 Ak 5,831 504,783 213,610 724,224 53,896 778,120
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be iR AR A B R B R — (i BT

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
e llEiiE

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ A H &N, Tl SAELN BRI T-I0505)

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HILFE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4E
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BitEE ANRETT NG T
Cash flows from operating activities K EEELMNIRSTHE
Cash (used in) /generated from g TAD /EAERB A
operations 31 (149,399) 28,653
Interest received from bank deposits SRATAE 2 10 4,922 4,051
Income tax paid AT (44,270) (36,393)
Net cash used in operating activities sE&sEE)FrHIES R4E (188,747) (3,689)
Cash flows from investing activities BEFREIELIIRSHE
Cash advances to related parties F RV (OB A Bk (1,000) (418)
Repayments of cash advances e
f I 4 B
by related parties FHIRSE 7 SR O 1,000 410
Loan to third parties Bk TH=0 (9,800) (9,800)
Loan repaid by third parties HHEE = RIE M E K 9,800 9,800
Interest received from loans to FHEE =7 S B ST YAC
third parties ) JE 339 358
Purchases of property and N ,
i A A ST
equipment and intangible assets AV R U ATy e (19,404) (6,824)
Purchases of financial assets at i B A OB AER T N BRI
fair value through profit or loss SRl 2 1) A K IH (79,000) (43,500)
Proceeds from disposal of financial S 2%
assets at fair value through profit Hj%iﬁf* @ﬁi};f";%
o [ SR EE B BT S K IH 77.792 87,244

Proceeds from disposal of property TR o
and equipment MBI SR . 055

Prepayments for purchases of e "
_PEYMEIS 107 P L A O T
intangible assets - -

Dividend from a joint venture GEAMFERE 110 153

Net cash (used in) /generated from EES) (FrA ) 7/EEm
investing activities IR EEE (20,159) 37,678
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
nfrfjjiaji{ﬁigiﬁ%»<hﬁi

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8H4F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

Year ended December 31

#BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BT AREETIT AR¥ETE
Cash flows from financing activities FIEF EEFHELMIRESHRE
Repayments of cash advances
FRATHER TSR IE
from third parties friEmitss 3,000 (1,504)
Interest paid EYRpSS (853) (81)
Settlements of the principal element
MHAMEARNASH Y
of lease liabiltties g (3,542) 2,711)
Dividend paid ST R (12,700) (21,832)
Contribution from non-controlling "
s Pagiips
interests AR i 200 2,130
Net cash used in financing activities FIEEEHETRIRSEE (13,895) (23,998)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash REMRSEEIENMN (7D )
and cash equivalents BEE (222,801) 9,991
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1~ A1 H1 HBL4 &I 4&SHEY) 355,684 345,910
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and T4 I B 4 S B B
cash equivalents (A% g (314) (217)
Cash and cash equivalents at W12831 B0EL R
December 31 BEZEY 132,569 355,684
The above consolidated statement of cash flow should be read in REE AR B R — R 2,

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

w e kR M Rt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AHTEHAN, ATE SEELN R T I0815)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Kanggiao Service Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on October 8, 2020 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act, Cap 22 of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is Floor 4, Willow House, Cricket Square,
Grand Cayman, KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

The Company has been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since July 16, 2021 by way of
its initial public offering.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of property management
services, related value-added services and city services in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Group is Mr. Song Gewei (“Mr. Song”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB”), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated
financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board
on March 26, 2025.

1

— R

MG ATEEBARAR ( [RAF ] )
22020 4F10 H8 HARHEH & B &5 A 5 ik
5522 TAEBH 28 S AT L A — R
A MRAR . HalbfrF it % Floor
4, Willow House, Cricket Square, Grand
Cayman, KY1-9010, Cayman Islands.

AN HE 2021 4E7 A 16 HiRmiEE ik
N BB AT I A 28 5 BT AT PR A =) 2R
.

ARF R FEAER AT AL ETE
B rh i NRILAE ([ O R4S
EELRES ARG RS SR R . A
R RAERRRAREZ L [R
Sl D).

FrAfiRHEN, ZEEAVHBREUAR
B (TAR%] ) tEREA. ZSa6WBmE
£ A 2025 4E3 A 26 H&EFEH e fibrET) 5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (%7 H1804h, i S48 R T 0515

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION

This note provides a list of the material accounting policy
information adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The
consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting

of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(@)

(b)

Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Reporting  Standards  (“HKFRS”)
Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong

Financial

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (‘HKCQO”) Cap. 622.
These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared on a

historical cost basis, except for certain financial
assets measured at fair value.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATHEEA4), FTAT £4H L RIS T 08058

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group

The Group has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for the annual
reporting period commencing January 1, 2024. The
adoption of these standards and amendments does
not have significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilites as
Current and Non-current (the
‘2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current  Liabilities  with

Covenants (the ‘2022
Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS  Supplier Finance Arrangements
7 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS Lease Liability in a Sale and
16 Leaseback

HEeHHOREENE @

2.1 HREEECE o

(€  FEBEIRMAEIET RAZER
#A

ALHER2024 £1 H1 H
BH 4 1A 4 55 3R 425 30 T 1 TR
MR ER RABET . PRAAEL
G RI BB BT B A A2 B 1)

BV BRREE LS
Flsgtn AELBARHAR
w1 MERDAE
; ﬂ ([ 200 %8
il

F G At W%M'JE’HF{ALEJ'%
Bl OBHE B CTANEB
;7 D)

FEGEER (LR
BT HRRE
s I 7 R
ERIET %
=)

BB ENE SRR
16 % fe
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A e PSR M At

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& 7 A 18H4b, i A8 R IET- 0515

EEntBCRIEEME @

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2

H

X BEA

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 HREEDE o)

(d New and amendments to existing standards d) 2025 &1 B 1 HE9tA69EL
that have been issued but are not effective for MEECERENKENE
the financial year beginning on January 1, 2025 75 £ B 6 5 42 B 4R A Y B o
and have not been early adopted by the Group B R IEAEREEETNT ¢
are as follows:

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RR5IEHEE
ZiBR%n
FEHBEMR
Amendments toHKAS 21 Lackof Exchangeability January 1, 2025
U ETERISE21 SRAMERT B 2025 F1 H1 H
Amendments to HKFRS 9and Amendmentsto the Classification and
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments January 1, 2026
= E? He EIA— um DA— {\‘E 1 *E §E|§
%ﬂ% jﬂi%&mﬁ 559 SEFIHET St TR ARG RIBIER 2026 41 A1 H
FEIMEET
AmendmentstoHKFRS 9 and Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent January 1, 2026
HKFRS 7 Electricity
TR S BRI SR R W R ERE AR 2026 “F1 H1 H
EAERHT SERIBET
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial January 1, 2027
Statements
IR G ERIZE18 9% AR IR B [ ERAN A R 2027 “F1 A1 H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: January 1, 2027
Disclosures
BRI MERI 519 9% TEAILATHIME AR BifR 2027 F1H1 H

Annal Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,

January 1, 2026

HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

Standerds 2024-Volume 11

2024 F A R R E R e MR R R 5,

Ea 1)

9E. 5510 2026 £1 H1 H

HIAE B o 2511 45 SRR ERHERIEET SEMERT
Amendmentsto HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture

ABPREEREL10 SEA B U e A W e A

FRMMERIZE28 SRINERT FE B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HATS AR T

A
ARa

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AH 18IS, i &4 RS TI05)7~)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

d

New and amendments to existing standards
that have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning on January 1, 2025
and have not been early adopted by the Group
are as follows: (Continued)

The Group has not applied the new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued
but not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply
these new and revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

2

H

2.1

EERBORESME @)

L=

(d)

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A e AP R MY A

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAGF40A4), FTT &AL RIS T 0818

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and balance sheet
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR R I RE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AAE 18IS, i &4 ST I08)7~)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

2.2.2 Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

2.2.3

without change of control

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

Investments accounted for using the equity
method

(i) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or
joint control. This is generally the case where
the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see Note (iii) below), after initially
being recognised at cost.

(il Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method (see Note (iii) below),
after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated balance sheet.

2 EEEEHUR

2.2

zr"-/\
g g =

,ﬁ/

2.2.3

IZ( J Lnﬁ% (/-?LQ/)

JRAI N e ARRE

i

A B2 180 3% B Al 4 B A 2 2 ]
AFBBUKREEHIEZ LS
GRS A SR BRE RS HE AT AN 2
2 H55 R B . A HEE a8
55 B o 5 B M B R 4 R HE
i 2 BRmE R B, B
%ﬁﬂ%%\jzﬁ%%

o A% i HE a2 A B A B
Eﬁaﬁjﬂﬁﬁﬁzﬁz
FEATERB G R A A A AN
JEE A FE 25 P9 7 28 ST f5f A v i

B
2,

EREEEAIRRIRE

0 HELA
iR /NN = 2 NE )
HEHERKPZEMEIE
4 ) RE Bl JL R 45 ) R
M B, — R

T, REBFFH20%E
50% ) 4% 55 A o A B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o e PR MY

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EEeECEEEMR
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity 2.2 ZeRAIEEZEIDEERIE
accounting (Continued) ml/\//

2.2.3 Investments accounted for using the equity
method (Continued)

2.2.3 ERESAARIVRE @

(i)  Equity method iy EmEIE

ERREERERRAT %

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses
of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group’s share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint ventures
are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an
equity-accounted investment equals or
exceeds its interest in the entity, including any
other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in
accordance with the policy described in Note
2.8.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATFEEA4L, FTT &4 RIS T 08158

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

2.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”), who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors that makes
strategic decisions.

2 HEEHIECREEME @

2.3

2.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR YAt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAE T8, G 48N RS T-705177)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements

which

are presented in RMB, which is the Group’s
presentation currency. The Company’s functional
currency is Hong Kong Dollar (“HK$").

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally

recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented as finance income/(costs).
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented on a net basis in other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©

Group entities

The results and financial positions of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
are translated at the closing rate at the date
of that balance sheet,

. income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the
transaction dates, in which case income and

rates prevailing on the

expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

. all resulting exchange differences are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign
entities are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is partially
disposed of or sold the associated, exchange
differences that were recorded in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

2

25 SNEEE ar

(©
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2.6 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation and any impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised, when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

- Office premises 20-31 years

- Vehicles 4-6 years

- Furniture and fixtures 3-6 years

- Leasehold shorter of 3 years
improvements or lease term

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other gains/(losses) — net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR YAt

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 7 G184, FTE S48 BT 70815

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

TERTBEREENE @

E B

W) 38 B it 14 JER S AR AT B
TR G R I HR o R S A L
T H AT H B P S

FoAR A 12 B R I H O B oK
2 4 A 7 AT RE AL\ A £ T R
HHK R AR B, T g
FEN B 1A MR T B R A R AL
M E () . EERERE
E A% S PR A T AL RS 7 0 B R
FCAR R JE T AL RERR . BT A 3L
filt 442 K OR % B R A L A i 4
FE A A $R 2R N BIEBA S

I8 A il w5 AT A8 A 014 B AR
12058 L A oy i 2 O e MR (E R
B

—WHAWE 20 £31 4
— HLI 4 6 4E
—KAKHEE 3%6 4
—H B 3R

T BRI 5 0T, R R
B AT AT 8 AR S B et ey, K
S (NG .

fied 5 2 11 F THD L v P G Al 2 T
Yo [el < BE, BT RR SHE B A 1Y R T
1=K & E SN N R

o e 28 K S 1R T 4% BT A4S K TR B
MR T B RO ZERR R ST, AR B Ax T IR
maR [ HAEE/ (f548) — 34
R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATHEEA4), FTAT &4 RIS T 08158

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EEeHTCEEENER @)

POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.7 Intangible assets

(@)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included
in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it
might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for
the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is
made to those cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill
arose. The units or groups of units are identified at
the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes, being the operating
segments.

Computer software

Acquired computer software programmes are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to
acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives
(5 years).

2.7 EH

(@)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR YAt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (Continued)
(c)  Customer relationships and backlog

Customer relationships and backlog acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. The contractual customer
relations and backlog have a finite useful life and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of 120 to 156 months
for the customer relationships and backlog, which is
determined by considering the existing conditions
and possibilities of renewal of the property
management contracts by reference with industry
experiences, or based on the remaining contract
period pursuant to the term set out in the property
management contracts at the acquisition date.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that has an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
infows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e IR I RE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ A& 15841, FiE 448N BB T-7081m)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The Internal and external sources of information
was reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may be
impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

impaired or an

- property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets;
- other intangible assets;

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’'s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.
a cash-generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (for example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable and consistent
basis, or to the smallest group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A e A SRR TR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx B 15H4;, T 44N R T-I08075)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment loss recognised in respect of a cash-generating
unit is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below the highest of its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), value in use (if determinable) and
zero..

Reversal of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss
is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the assets
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

2.8.1 Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
the Group is required to prepare an interim
financial report in compliance with HKAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting in respect of the first six
months of the financial year. At the end of the
interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year.

Annual Report 2024

TPV

R AELIES TR 2 R

R L P < R B R
(B H AT el eI, R R VR MBS R
H R e TR IR S AR B (R
BAAHRD HERR 2 AR, S
LAz AL (BREALAR R oy
PR AR, AR 4% LUy " B AL
(BB AR Al 2 2 IR {8,
e B A PR IHE M IR E R T 51 =
H A AR A R B E
M AR fEAEE (o
E) KE,

DB TR 2 10

FER SN B A, A R e Tl
SRZAGET A FEE), AR A
R AR 1R . MBI TR AN S 43
ER

PR AR IR &8, DURBOBEFE
NP AR 2 i L s $RU R T i R 2 A E IR
TR 2 PR o 5 [0] 2 AR R 18 e R i
AR SERE, AERURERRT AR .

281 PHFBREHERERNE

W35 CEHES 25 T a IR = R
Fr ETTRALY AR R IR A
Rt HERIEE345% [ rh A B Rk |
AU MR S BSCEE P 22 /N8 i e
FAMA R o I H SIS ] 4 Ry
A5 B PR Y B JF IO 2 &6 R B A [
ZPBAEBIER R S R m AR E



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([} G T80I48, BT 43R 7081017)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2  EEeEOREEME @)

POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued) 2.8 IFEWMEERE (#&)

2.8.1 Interim financial reporting and impairment
(Continued)

281 PHMBREEEERNE #2)

A S50 R e R e LS
B, HARWR AR, R4
ABCH 14 J7 AR I 4 P A AR R A AT

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if no
loss, or a smaller loss, would have been VB RFAL I AT e B 2R TR S 1R
recognised had the impairment been assessed BURHREERDN, MR
only at the end of the financial year to which the M.

interim period relates.

2.9 Financial assets 2.9 TRIEE
2.9.1 Classification 2.9.1 i@

ARG HL R A SRRy

The Group classifies its financial assets in

the following measurement categories: PLUREHEAR

+  those to be measured subsequently at fair . HARATE GEAH
value (either through other comprehensive LG Tk ¥
income, or through profit or loss), and =, K&

- those to be measured atamortised cost. c FRMESH AT

The classification depends on the entity’s business o3 IR PR 4 R E 10

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to present subsequent changes at fair value in
other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao FA S AR MY A

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAGF50A4L, FTAT &4 RIS T 081

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)
2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at fair value through profit
or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e FIRcR IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (&R GT84, TE S4B REET70577)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 BEEHBREIER &)

POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued) 29 EWEE ()

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement 2.9.2 #AIR:E
There are three measurement categories into ALEEE A T By A =5

which the Group classifies its debt instruments: B

Amortised cost: assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in
“Other gains/(losses) — net”, together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange
gains and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in other
comprehensive income is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and

recognised in “Other gains/(losses) — net”.

Interest income from these financial
assets is included.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MBS MTRE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (A G545, Fia 438U AR T-I0817)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement (Continued)

in finance income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in “Other gains/(losses)-net” and
impairment expenses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within “Other
gains/(losses) — net” in the period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e FIRR IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (f&BG 15848, FTa 4 4E N R T-70817)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECL) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade and other receivables,
which are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely payments of
principal and interest(“SPPI"); and

- financial guarantee contracts, which are not
measured at FVPL.

Other financial assets measured at fair value,
including wealth management products measured
at FVPL, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

ECL are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

- lifeime ECL: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial
instrument.
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2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables without
significant financing component are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition,
in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e kR IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BGE 15848, 1A 4 2E N R T-708177)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2 iguﬂ_ﬂi :uu*%\_ (#E)

29 SRIEE @

29.3 SHMIEMEREX #)

B E K Fh A A S o)
(1 52 5 J WAk 1 4R 2K T
HEHRILERKR ST
WIS HRAR I &R R

HRH A Kb E#R T
Fo, AL 55 1218
HFHIE AR R R
fli &, BRAE B G R
DA 4 il OB 5 R
b B & 39 n, AR 8 M
W, BEREHELE
T #& B TS 4R R 10
SRR

{5 AR B SR

1ERTEAG 4 T R M= A
LB B )46 T AR DA 2R 2
MBI, REMH
R H ﬁﬁ%%ﬁi
HL 5 2R A I R B B A

Uh il SR R AL R B
1T H MR . FE AT BEFE AL
e, AEE*EE G
AT S HF ) E R E T
BN, LA FE sl A R
i 5 26 R AR B %S R
AEAS BT T B

FERIAE, TEREAN B WI46
T 52 DA R A5 R B 2 15
BEWOINEE, &5 E L
A



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR E MBS aRCR MTRE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (f&BG15848, FTA £ 4EL N R T-70817)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 BEEHBREIER &)

POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued) 2.9 EMEE (#)

2.9.3 EMTIAMERBR @)

2 AR BRI )

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’'s external credit
rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environments that have a significant adverse

- il T B A S T AR
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TR E KA

- B W T EUE
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effect on the debtor's ability to meet its A AE [ 25 R B RE Ak
obligation to the Group; Eo YA

an actual or expected internal credit rating
downgrade for the borrower;

significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower;
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s
significant changes in the value of the B 7 A R B AR B
collateral supporting the obligation or in the % 15 77 i 7 4 R B4

quality of third-party guarantees or credit
enhancements, which are expected to reduce
the borrower’s economic incentive to make
scheduled contractual payments or to
otherwise have an effect on the probability of
a default occurring;

significant adverse changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MBS MTRE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BG 15848, FTa 4 2EL N R T-708177)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.3

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
financial instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if
(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,
(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term
and (iii) adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the debtor to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a financial instrument to have low
credit risk when it has an internal or external credit
rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B MTRE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (f&BG15848, FTA £ 4EL N R T-70817)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of initial
recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the
specified debtor will default on the contract.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when (i) the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to
the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or
(i) the financial asset is 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MBS MTRE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ RG1584%, FiE S48 R T-7081m)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

29  Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a

financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is

credit-impaired when one or more events that have a

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows

of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes the following observable events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the purchase or origination of a financial asset at
a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e FIRR IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& A BTSN, G &N RETI0817R)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 BEEHBREIER &)
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 2.9 TRIEE (&)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

2.9.3 SRMTENEREL (#)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the asset becomes 90
days past due or when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses over the expected life of the financial
instrument. The maximum period considered when
estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECL, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

)

AR R P aE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BG 15845, FTA 448N R T-I08177)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

ERREEEEARASY

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and information.
Estimation of ECL

probability-weighted amount that is determined with

forward-looking

reflects an unbiased and

the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

As for the exposure at default, for financial asset, it is
represented by the asset’s gross carrying amount at the
reporting date; for financial guarantee contract, the
exposure includes the amount of guaranteed debt
that has been drawn down at the reporting date,
together with any additional guaranteed amount
expected to be drawn down by the borrower in the
future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific
future financing needs of the debtor, and other
relevant forward-looking information. For financial
guarantee contract, this is the maximum contractual
which

period over the Group has a present

contractual obligation to extend credit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e R IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ R HI4b, A 448N BT 50517%)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 HBHESHBCRERER @)
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 2.9 TRIEE (&)

29.3 SMTANERARE @)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating
ECL on trade receivables using a provision matrix
taking into consideration xxuhistorical credit loss
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward- looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive).

Financial guarantee is a contract that require the
issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. The Group is required to
make payments only in the event of a default by the
specified debtor in accordance with the terms of the
instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, an ECL
is estimated based on the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amount that the Group expects to receive
from the holder of the guarantee, the specified
debtor or any other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MBS MTRE

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (B 15HI48, TG 4R8N R T-I08075)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Financial assets (Continued)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

- variable-rate  financial assets: current
effective interest rate;

- financial guarantee contracts: current market
assessment of the time value of money and
the risks that are specific to the cash flows but
only if, and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e BRI AL

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BGEI5H4;, FTA 4 4EL N R T-I0817)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 BEEHBRERER @
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 TWEE (&)
29.3 SMTANERRE @)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.3 Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)

ECL are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit
risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss. The Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A a

A AR MY A

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAETEISN, BrA 4R R T I0510R)

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated balance
sheet when there is a currently legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on
future events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.10 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional, unless they contain
significant financing components, in which case they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore it measures them subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 21 for further information about the Group’s
accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1.2 for a
description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& AH&H4h, i SAEN R T-I0505)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EEEeNECREENER @)
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.11 Cash and cash equivalents

2.1 REFIREEHEY

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less.
Restricted cash is excluded from cash and cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for

ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2.9.3.

2.12 Restricted cash

Restricted cash represents guarantee deposits held in a
separate reserve account that is pledged to the bank as
guarantee deposits for property management projects,
frozen accounts for litigations and co-managed accounts.
Such restricted cash will be released when the Group
completed the projects or repays the demanded payment
under litigations.

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers and amounts to be repaid from
the Group to its counterparties. These amounts are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12
months or less. If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2,12

2.13

2.14
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A S PRAR TR E

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (( PG5848, T 4RE N R T-I08075)

2  SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 HEEeEEOHERNE @@
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.15 BRIBE
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2.15 Contract liabilities

Contract liabilities are recognised if the Group receives
consideration (or if it has the unconditional right to receive
consideration) in advance of performance. Contract
liabilities which are expected to be settled within 12
months after the end of the period are presented as
current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet,
otherwise are presented as other non-current liabilities.

2.16 Borrowings 2.16 f&K
Borrowings are measured initially at fair value less 5 T 0 e N RAE A IR RS B A B

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these . YIRTERRAR, 25 e AR DL BER
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borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for
borrowing costs. Fees paid on the establishment of loan
facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan
to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity service and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

These borrowings are classified as current liabilities ZE AR EE AR E AR, BRIER

unless the Group has the right, at the end of the reporting
period, to defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting period.

Covenants that the Group is required to comply with, on
or before the end of the reporting period, are considered
in classifying loan arrangements with covenants as
current or non-current. Covenants that the Group is
required to comply with after the reporting period do not
affect the classification at the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A SRR TR E

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (f&BG 15845, FTE 4 4EL N R T-70817)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 EEGIHBCHEEME @
POLICY INFORMATION (Continuec)

2.17 Borrowing costs 2.17 A

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A804F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

2 BEEETBOREEME @b

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred income tax. Tax is recognised as “income tax
expenses” in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

(@)  Currentincome tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company’'s subsidiaries
operate  and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which

applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.

It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AAE 18IS, i &4 BT I08)7~)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income
tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

2 EEEEHUR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e P IR TRE

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (B A4 HE8I4k, G &4EUNREET 05D

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to
offset current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances
relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity
has a legal enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits

(@)

Pension obligations

The Group only operates defined contribution
pension plans. In accordance with the rules and
regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees of
the Group participate in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant
municipal and provincial governments in the PRC
under which the Group and the PRC based
required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a

employees are

percentage of the employees’ salaries. The municipal
and provincial governments undertake to assume
the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired PRC based employees’ payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation
for the payment of retirement and other post-
retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of
these plans are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administrated funds
managed by the governments. The Group has no
forfeited contributions by employers on behalf of
employees who leave the defined contribution
pension plans prior to vesting fully in such

contributions.

The the defined
contribution retirement scheme are expensed as

Group’s contributions to

incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A e AP R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised
housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurance plan. The Group contributes on a monthly
basis to these funds based on certain percentages of
the salaries of the employees, subject to certain
ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contributions payable in each
year. Contributions to the housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurances are expensed
as incurred.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment
is terminated by the Group before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits
at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those
benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs
for a restructuring that is within the scope of HKAS
37 and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 44E A RKET-I0505)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(d)  Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations within other payables in the
consolidated balance sheet.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount can be
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A e AP R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

2 HEEHIECREEME @

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.20 Provisions (Continued)

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

2.21 Revenue recognition

The Group provides property management services, value-
added services to non-property owners and community
value-added services. Revenue is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered.
Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws that
apply to the contract, services may be recognised over

time or at a point in time.

—  For property management services and city
services, revenue is recognised overtime as the
Group bills a fixed amount for services provided on
a monthly basis and recognises as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a right to bill and
that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed. The Group primarily
generate revenue from property management
services income from properties managed under
lump sum basis, the Group entitles to revenue at
the value of property management services fee
received or receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Value-added services to non-property owners mainly
include (i) sales office management services, the
Group bills a fixed amount for services provided on
a monthly basis and recognises as revenue in the
amount to which the Group has a right to bill and
that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed. (ii) pre-delivery services
providing designing, construction management
planning, property inspection and pre-delivery
advices to property developers which are recognised
as revenue over time when such services are
rendered; (iii) sales agency services provided to
property developers to facilitate the selling of
properties which are recognised as revenue at a
point in time when such services are rendered; (iv)
construction site management services provided to
property developers to safeguard the construction
site which are recognised as revenue over time
when such service are rendered; and (v) consultancy
services provided to other property management
companies which are recognised as revenue when
such services are rendered and accepted by the
customer.

Community value-added services revenue mainly
include (i) income from the provision of second-
hand property transaction assistance services for
property owners, which is recognied on a net basis
when the sales or rental contracts are signed; (ii)
rental income from sub-lease of carparks and other
spaces leased from property developers recognised
on straight line basis over the lease period; (iii) sales
agency income for assisting in selling the rights of
carpark spaces owned by property developers,
which are recognised when the underlying sales
contracts are signed; and (iv) revenue from other
community convenience services recognised when
the relevant services are rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A e AP R MY A

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAGF50A4), FTT &4 RIS T 0815

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

If a contract contains multiple services, the transaction
price is allocated to each performance obligation based
on their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-
alone selling prices are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus a margin or
adjusted market assessment approach, depending on the
availability of observable information.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the balance sheet as a contract
asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship
between the Group’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right
to an amount of consideration that is unconditional,
before the Group transfers services to the customer, the
Group presents the contract as a contract liability when
the payment is received or a receivable is recorded
(whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s
obligation to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time
is required before payment of that consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2.22

2,23

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contact, if
recoverable, are capitalised and presented as assets and
subsequently amortised when the related revenue is
recognised.

When the difference between the transfer of the promised
goods or services to customer and the payment by the
customer is considered significant and implied financing
components contained in certain contracts, the Group
adjust the transaction price for the time value of money.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
the

comprehensive income as “other income” (Note 8).

recognized in consolidated statement of

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is
earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes, see Note 10 below.

Leases

The Group leases certain properties. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years. Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets (Note 27) and
investment properties (Note 15) and corresponding
liabilities at the date at which the leased asset is available
for use by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I0577)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 HEGFECREEMA @
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23 Leases (Continued) 2.23 1HE @

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include
the net present value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

. variable lease payment that are based on an index
or a rate,

. amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees,

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (f& G T80I48, FTa SRR T-708117)
2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 HEGFIECREEMA @
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23 Leases (Continued) 2.23 *E (4)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability,

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,

. any initial direct costs, and

. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in the profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12
months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying
asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. The respective leased
assets are included in the balance sheet based on their
nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.24 Dividend distribution

2.25

2.26

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend
declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at
the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the
reporting period but not distributed at the end of the
reporting period.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Investment properties

Investment properties, representing commercial properties
held under leases, are held for rental yields and are not
occupied by the Group. The Group measured its
investment properties at cost, including related transaction
costs and where applicable borrowing costs. Depreciation
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost over their lease term typically varying from 3 to
7 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2 HEeSHPERERMEE @@

POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

2.27 Financial guarantee contracts 2.27 BIBIEERSE
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial WA 75 45 OR & [F) 7E 3% 95 9 0% N5 T 32
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is FHAHAK. AEBRYIUARE
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the EEFE, FER LLDUT W iR
higher of: Hit &
- the amount determined in accordance with the ECL o IR (HFHMH RGN

model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and F— SRLAY NRTEBAGEH

BRI E KIS, K

- the amount initially recognised less, where s EWMEBNT, W (FER
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income R 5 ME R 5 15 SRR P
recognised in accordance with the principles of ZBETHA FRIIE N 85 B g
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. S N N S & IR

& ER.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based B 7% 46 R 1 A SO (B AR B A5 %

on the present value of the difference in cash flows TH P 2R 1A A AT 3k B A 1B

between the contractual payments required under the RATFEHA R E SR EZE

debt instrument and the payments that would be required HE ) TR B B 2 AR HE 1 A T ST A

without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that A6 19 70 R PR A T SRR SE 1)

would be payable to a third party for assuming the
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A SRR TR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (B 15HI4;, T 4R8N R T-I08075)

2

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.28Inventories

Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non- incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of
any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A A MBS ITRE

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([RAATERSS, B SFEL RS T708105m)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.29 Related parties

(@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i

(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

HEEEHEOREENEE &)
2.29 BB
(a) & H A8 N B0 3 5K pE B A 48 [
AL N BR, RIEZE A 83t
B R T B AR R A 4R 3] 1 B
iy
(D BAREEES T
) I [ 4% |
FEE;
(i HALEHFEK
A, B
Gii) 8 A R 4 3 8 A
LB BEA A B &
HEEE A .

(b) # 7T # B A 4 [ A7 A2 D
TEMER, A& T
A5 Ay A 5 1) ) B

()

(i

A% TR B AL )
JE—{ELEE (BI%
BEA T L R A
GIPSEEN NP
) 2 [ B Ry R B
T .

—Ji /I
B Bk &%
3 (BR/H—
Ji B B —
Aok i

RIAEBERE .

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

FERREESEERRAT %

PSSR

153



154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR O PR YT

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& ABATEIASN, Frg 5L R T7051R)

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING
POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.23Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (Continued)

(i)

(V)

(viii)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

Both the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entit.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is
a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.
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3

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BT84, T &4 REETI08)78)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s

overall

risk management program focuses on the

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

3.1.1 Market risk

()

Foreign exchange risk

Almost all of the Group’s operating activities
are carried out in the PRC with most of the
transactions denominated in RMB. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the group
companies had no significant foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities with respect to their respective
functional currencies, therefore the directors
of the Company consider that the Group has
no significant exposure to foreign exchange
risk.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk for
certain interest-bearing cash deposits at
banks. Cash deposits at banks at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk. As at 31 December 2024, the cash flow
interest rate risk on cash deposits at banks

was immaterial (31 December 2023: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A S PRAR TR E

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BG158I48, FTa 4 4E N R T-I0807)

S5 S\ e

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.1 Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fairvalue interestrate risk

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-
rate risk. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
and lease liabilities expose the Group to fair
value interest-rate risk. The interest rates and
terms of repayments of borrowings and lease
liabilities are disclosed in Note 29 and Note
27 respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, if the Group’s
interest rates on borrowings at variable rates
had been decrease/increase by 5%, with all
other variables constant, the Group’s profit
after tax and retained profits would have
been decreasel/increase by approximately
RMB112,500 (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2 Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
cash deposits at banks, trade and other receivables
and financial guarantees.

)

Risk management

For trade and other receivables, the
management of the Group has monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group reviews the ECL of these receivables
at the end of each reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.

Impairment

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is a
significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on
the asset as at the reporting date with the risk
of default as at the date of initial recognition.
It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are
incorporated:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 WHEGEHE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BAEEREE @
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.2 EEEE &)

(i)  Impairment (Continued)
. internal credit rating,
. external credit rating,

. actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligations,

. actual or expected significant changes in
the operating results of individual
property owner or the debtor,

. significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor, including changes in the
payment status of debtors in the Group
and changes in the operating results of
the debtor.

Financial assets are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as
a debtor failing to engage in a repayment plan
with the company.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for ECL on a timely
basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category
of receivables and adjusts for forward looking
macroeconomic data.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E 8048, BT 44EA RS T-I0505)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3  WAEBEEE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BABEBEZ @
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.2 EHERE @

@iy gl G

(i Impairment (Continued)

AH 4 Ed
(@  Cashdeposits atbanks DRt

The Group expects that there is no iiiiﬁg

significant credit risk associated with - )

cash deposits at banks since they are i&_ G fﬁ ;E ﬁ F b

substantially deposited at state-owned 122 }j: ;; ji if i %

banks and other medium or large-sized S

listed banks in the PRC which are with MRAT, & Ll

good credit rating or good reputation. TR RAT B ﬁ f
A E RS E R

Management does not expect that there .
. BB TH

AEHZELS
BHEABEATRME
T 5 BUAE 7 oK
JE518.

will be any significant losses from non-
performance by these counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

)

Impairment (Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
the lifetime expected loss provision for
trade receivables. For trade receivables
without remarkable different credit risk
characteristics, the Group used
judgment in making assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the ECL
calculation, based on the Group’s
historical cash collection, ageing profile
of the trade receivables, -current
market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates. For trade
receivables with remarkably different
credit risk characteristics, management
evaluated the distribution of expected
cash flows of the receivables under
multiple scenarios based on
experience of historical credit loss,
business model, current situations and
forecasts of future conditions of
contract counterparties, and assessed
the ECL by applying several significant
assumptions, including the available
settlement scenarios of the receivables,
the discount rates of the expected
cash flows, and the related
probability weight under different
scenarios.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

(i)  Impairment (Continued)

)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables have been assessed for
impairment on a collective basis based
on different credit risk characteristics.
Trade receivables are categorised as
follows for assessment purpose:

Group 1: Trade receivables due from
related parties

Group 2: Trade receivables due from
third parties — non-property owners

Group 3: Trade receivables due from
third parties — property owners

Group 4: Trade receivables due from
third parties — governments agencies
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RAR YR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BG4, AT &AELAN I T-I051R)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3  WElEE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 AEREBES @)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 3.21EFER @
(i) Impairment (Continued) (W) Il e
(b)  Trade receivables (Continued) ()  HEEENE @
As at December 31, 2024, the provision 2024 12 H
for ECL allowance on the trade 31 H, E5EIK
receivables was determined as follows. IE 2 TE S B
The ECL below also incorporated 82K B €
forward looking information. L/ R S S 2
5 F R K78 84
A AEPE R
Total
et
Trade receivables (Group 1) EZRUFIE (4H5B1)
Gross carryingamount (RMB’000) AERIE NRWTI0) 327,182
Expected loss rate THIAEER 42.49%
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) e N0 139,020
ot 162 203 304 Oerd

Year  years  years years  Years

B EE B we A

Trade receivables (Group ) BARKFE (£70)

Gross camying amaunt (RUBOOO) B (\REF) 66,672 25451 22,202 4,191 609 119,125

Expected [oss e i o 6.03%  15.86% 27.86%  95.69% 100.00%

Loss alowance provision [RMBOVY) EREREE \RETD) 4,020 4,037 5,185 4,010 609 18,861

Trade receivables (Group 3) BARIGIE (453)

Gross caming amount (RMBO0) R (AT 152443 38,646 14,504 3,408 6,775 215,776

Expected [oss e Tl 465%  10.06% 19.69% 36.33% 100.00%

Loss alowance provision [RMBOVY) FREREE \RETD) 7,080 3,888 2,856 1,238 6,775 21,846
Total
#ast

Trade receivables (Group 4) B EWFUIE (4H5R14 )

Gross carryingamount (RMB’000) IR (ANRETI0 118,554

Expected loss rate TEIAET R 0.06%

Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) e NRETI0 71
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3

MR EE

3.1 MBREBEERE

31.215REE G

(ii)

Impairment (Continued)

()

Trade receivables (Continued)

As at December 31, 2023, the provision
for ECL allowance on the trade

iy s @

b) HAEGR @

#2023 12 H
31 H, E5EW

receivables was determined as follows. 2 IH > FE W12 A
The ECL below also incorporated 1B 2 3 4
forward looking information T. LFTES
FH 48 2% 75 40, 45 1/
MEvEE R
Total
a5t
Trade receivables (Group 1) BSRELFIE (485R01)
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) HIRTE (ANRETIO 321,400
Expected loss rate TEHARS R 27.64%
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) AR EM R (AR¥TI0) 88,827
U to Lo o it Over
lyear  lyears Jyears dyears  dyears Total
UER 1BE BE O 3HE 4El 5t
Trade receivables (Group 2) BRI (530
Gross caming amount (RMBO00) Rl (R 72,108 30,866 14,328 449 218 117,969
Expected logs rae il 703%  22.60% 33.75% 100.00% 100.00%
Loss alovance povison (RUBOND) FRERRE ARETD 5070 6,977 4,835 449 218 17,549
Trade receivables (Group 3) BRI (483
Gross canying amount (RNBODY) Rl (\RETT) 96,717 33,084 10,626 6,044 5,623 152,094
Expected Ioss rae il 8.80% 17.48% 32.99% 55.56% 94.88%
Loss dlowence provison (RUBONY) FRERRE (\RETT) 8,513 5,782 3505 3358 5,335 26,493
Total
5
Trade receivables (Group 4) B REWFIE (485714 )
Gross carryingamount (RMB’000) HURMIE NRHETI0) 85,688
Expected loss rate TEIHET R 0.08%
Loss allowance provision (RMB'000) R NIRRT 71
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I0577)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 WPsEEER D
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIEEREE @
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.215EEE @)
(i)  Impairment (Continued) () JaE G
(©) Other receivables and financial guarantee ©  HAREUGKIAK
BT
Impairment on other receivables and o Ath JEE WA R TE K
financial guarantee are measured as S % ¥ IR B IR ME
either 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, %12 {8 H 5
depending on whether there has been a P48 2% B &% 5 T
significant increase in credit risk since WE R &,
initial recognition. The Group applied H AWk A 8 4
the general “3 stage model” to measure 46 Bl SR DL (5
the ECL of other receivables and JR i A 1 BRI
financial guarantee. e A 4 B R A

— M T =R B
] g fiy & LA
[
¥ R 1 TH (5 A
K.

Dl

B A ik
HE S (FEAEE
5 F IR B B
O, EHEIEE

For other receivables in groups, without
occurrence of credit impairment, the
management assessed the ECL by
applying several significant assumptions,

BE /P

including the estimation of probability of }FE H %% L j ﬂ%
default, loss given default and forward e ﬂf A 75 A
looking estimates based on their ﬂ? B, Ok %
T At A 3 % 5 ORE

knowledge about the customers group’s
credit ratings, industry information, financial

ot A AT
SV WA

capability and payment histories, and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

(i)  Impairment (Continued)

©

Other receivables and financial
guarantee (Continued)

current market conditions as well
as forward-looking information. For
other receivables with occurrence
of a significant increase in credit
risk since initial  recognition,
management evaluated the
distribution of expected cash flows
of the receivables under multiple
scenarios based on experience of
historical credit loss, business
model, current situations and
forecasts of future conditions of
contract counterparties, and
assessed the ECL by applying
several significant assumptions,
including the available settlement
scenarios of the receivables, the
discount rates of the expected cash
flows, and the related probability
weight under different scenarios.

AR RSP )

IAFEESEZE

3M.21EREE )

(i) s D

(©  HAhEEGEKIA K
SAEsEtR ca

ASATHE S E
Al 17 550K Pt BA K
IR N
fige 0 AF 0 iR
KMER . AR
2% AR BE B 5 1
fliwt. WA
o6 fiE 8 DA 2 A5
JE B B 2 3 i
HAtECRIA, &
BOE R g E R
(EIAENE - BN 0
B RSB, ®
GIRE R S e
J7 R AR I i
", Gl T E KR
AKIALE 2 MG DL
THHEYE RHeR
o i, JE i E A
b [ - 354
oA & il TH S
K A R YR
KR A
. HHHE SR
K Bl 3= DL R A
A 1% 5 T 1 A1 B
MR AEE .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A E

HATS AR T

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

RS E R D

B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Impairment (Continued)

©

Other receivables and financial
guarantee (Continued)
The management evaluated the

distribution of expected cash flows of
the financial guarantee under multiple
scenarios based on experience of
historical credit loss, current situations
and forecasts of future conditions of
and made
ECL
allowance by applying several significant

contract counterparties,

corresponding provision for

assumptions, including the cancelation
or settlement of the financial guarantee
and its related probabilities which is the
major consideration to determine the
exposure at default, the expected loss
rates and the related probability weight
under different scenarios.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (B A 8048, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 EREET G
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 BMEEREE @@

3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3.1.2 SRR @
(ii) D1 (#)

(i)  Impairment (Continued)

(©  HfthERIH X

(c)  Otherreceivables and financial [
guarantee (Continued)
A summary of the assumptions A Al
underpinning the Group’s ECL rr;odel IR L B A
i - ; R A AR R 1
for other receivables and financial s ; ==
1?& ﬁ&:w@‘mﬂ ﬁﬂ T 8

guarantee is as follows:

Basis for recognition of loss

Category Group definition of category  allowance provision
#85l HERINS EES TERRIE AR A EE
Performing Customers/counterparties 12 months expected losses.
(“Stage 1”) have a low risk of Where the expected lifetime of
default and a strong anassetislessthan 12months,
capacity to meet expected losses aremeasuredat
contractual cash flows its expected lifetime
(“12 months ECL method”)
RIEIRIF % P IE LY s A HA 12 i HITESE R . SR TR
([EE1REEL ) D REJIEAT & RIS TR R FFHUTEL2 (1 H 2 NG 7,

TR R S L TR
([12 {8 A FEIE R AAE] D

Underperforming Receivables and financial Lifetime expected losses
(“Stage 2”) guarantee for which there

is a significant increase

in credit risk; as significant

increase in credit risk is

presumed if relevant interest

and/or principal repayments

are 30 days past due

RBUR 15 B RS K 6 n f) B WGRR TR AR R
([ 552888 D LA yatR; 430 RE

EAN A S R A, A
EE BN R

Non-performing Interest and/or principal Lifetime expected losses
(“Stage 3”) repaymentsare 90 days
past due
REAR HH90 REGEFIE K BiAks:  AMTENIEER

([ZR3MEEL D

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

167
ERREEEERRAT/ —F JUEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BF5F50A4L, FTAT &4EL I T 080

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 WAEPEEEE @@
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIRBEE %)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 3A21EFER G
(i)  Impairment (Continued) () IR CH#)
)  Other receivables and financial ©  HAhEBGRIE K
guarantee (Continued) WATHELR )

PAE AL B8, A

On that basis, as at 31 December 2024 0024 4 J% 2023

and 2023, the provisions for ECL

allowance on other receivables from %iﬁ?ﬁﬂg}%gﬁ
related parties and third parties were H Al WEL&*}’(IE >
determined as below, which has e

. - . Y HEL 9 A4 A E G
incorporated forward looking information. T, Mg E

AIBETES B,
Under Non-

Performing performing performing  Total

L RRRE FHAR it

Related parties BES

As at December 31, 2024 RNMENENA

Gross carrying amount (RMB000) RS (\REF7r) 193,602 93,655 - 287,257
Expected loss rate Tl - 22.22% -

Loss allowance provision (RMBO0D)  IFIERAE (AR T ) - 20,809 - 20,809
As at December 31, 2023 HENBENANA

Gross carrying amount (RMBOOO) AEHR \REF) - 92,073 - 92,073
Expected loss rate Tl - 19.67% - =
Loss allowance provision (RMBO00)  ESiEREE (ARHET) - 18,113 - 18,113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e P RR I AL

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAFFEH41, FifT 4RI T-0513)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 EEREE @
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BREEABER @)
3.1.2 Credit risk (Continued) 31.25FEE 3
(i)  Impairment (Continued) (i) il D
)  Otherreceivables and financial ©  HoftBEBGRIE K
guarantee (Continued) HBHfR
Under Non-
Performing performing performing Total
FRRA b RR &
Third parties Ea
As at December 31, 2024 R 2045 128318
Gross carrying amount (RMB00O) BRER R 23,963 67,720 1,040 92,723
Expected loss rale Tl 2.99%  27.75% 100.00%
Loss alowance provision (RMBO0D) — EfRiEER (\RH ) 717 18,789 1,040 20,546
As at December 31, 2023 HZUDE 128 318
Gross carrying amount (RMB00O) BREE RS 72,950 - 801 73,751
Expected loss rale i 0.83% - 100.00%
Loss allowance provision (RMBO0O)  EsfiiEfilif (AREF70) 603 - 801 1,404
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& A E B4, B SR T 70805)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)
(i)  Impairment (Continued)

(c)  Otherreceivables and financial guarantee
(Continued)

As at December 31, 2024, the provision
for ECL allowance on financial guarantee

3 WFHEEERE @

3.1 MBREERERE )
3A.215REE )

i) @

(€  HAdERGEIAK
SpsHatR @

742024 4E 12 H31
H, WHHERAE

was determined as follows. e 4 T E
T
Under- Non-
Performing performing performing  Total
RRRS FRAE R it
Financial guarantee Y
As at December 31, 2024 A
: . RUMERAN A ) ) 1799 1799
Gross carrying amount (RMBI0O) HERE (\RMT1)
Expected loss rate it iced - - -
Loss allowance provision (RMBO0O)  Fifilefeflet (ARET ) - - - -
As af December 31, 203 TIBEL A
Gross carrying amount (RMBO0O) HETE (\REF70) - - 15,730 15,730
Expected loss rae ik o - - R }
Loss allowance provision (RMBO0D)  FEAEER(E (\RETD) - - - =
Detailed information about the financial BSR4
guarantee is set out in Note 32. B2 532,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR Yt

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 44E A RKET-I0505)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Impairment (Continued)

(d) As at December 31, 2024, the provision
for ECL allowance on trade and other
receivables and financial guarantee
reconciles to the opening loss allowance
for that provision as follows:

3 W EBERE @

3.1 M REEER )

3A2{SHEE 73

(i

Trade Other
receivables receivables guarantees  Total

EZ Hith

BUE  BUTRE

RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF7 AREF

JRIE D

(d) JA2024 12 A31
H, ®5 kI AhE
WK TE A R A 75 4
R PR s 5 18 3 £
BREZ R I AT
TR IR TR

Financial

FATSIRIR Bst
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF AREFT

As at January 1, 2024 20241 A1 H 132,940 19,517 - 152,457
Charged to profit or loss RERIR/ G 46,858 21,838 - 68,696
As at December 31, 2024 #2024 %12 A31 H 179,798 41,355 - 221,153

As at January 1, 2023
Charged to profit or loss

12023 1 H1 H
i MAE

49,313 13,408
83,627 6,109

1,088 63,809
(1,088) 88,648

As at December 31, 2023

42023 412 A31 H

132,940 19,517

- 152,457
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAETESS, G S48 RS T-705177)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1.2Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

The directors are of the view that the
industrial characteristic factors with
regard to trade and other receivables
collection and financial guarantees
cancelation or settlement have been
taken into accounts in the assessment
on the ECL rate throughout the year
ended December 31, 2024 (2023:
same).

The following significant changes in the
gross carrying amounts of trade
receivables contributed to the changes
in the loss allowance:

- origination of new trade
receivables net of those settled
resulted in an increase in loss
allowance of RMB34,435,842
(2023: RMB44,550,112).

() As at December 31, 2023 and
2024, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit losses were
disclosed in respective notes.
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&

3.1

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BEPERE @
Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BAREREE @)
3.1.3 Liquidity risk 313 TEMER
To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors A PR ED M B, A 4R 3
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents B & N & B Y B KT
deemed adequate by the management to finance AT B, M H AR
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of JoE R A R DL Ay A AR ] 48 GE R
fluctuations in cash flows. & &K, IR &R
IR,
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRERGEREMREER
liabilities into relevant maturity grouping based on Jeei iy H B 6 T S [ R AR B
the remaining period at the end of each reporting [ (1% 4 R 4 £k 53 A 4% AH B 1)
period to the contractual maturity date. The Je AR R o A% Hh A R AR
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual THA G [FRHE IS 2
undiscounted cash flows.
Between Total
Less than land2 Between2 Over contractual Carrying
1year years and5years 5years cash flows amount
EREE
LENN 1552 26554 SENE gRME 0 RDEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB”000
ARETG  ARETT ARETH AREFT AREFT ARETR
As at December 31, 2024 1R2024%12831H
Financial liabilities SRERE
Lease liahilities (including L& £ i
interest payments) (BFEF B 5,990 2,298 1,602 1,731 11,621 9,613
Borrowings fak 3,094 3,094 3,000
Trade and other payables & 5} JuA A 208
(excluding accrued payroll  (RUIEIE B4
and other tax payables)  RJLAhEATARIE) 301,479 % 301,577 301,577
310,563 2,396 1,1,602 1,731 316292 314,190
As at December 31, 2023 #2023 %E12H31H
Financial liabilities SRERE
Lease liabilities (ncluding & &1
interest payments) (CEHEF AT 8,121 932 1,536 716 11,305 9,426
Trade and other payables & 5 J A A 2k0H
(excluding accrued payroll ~ CRELFE[ER! 57 &
and other tax payables) S LAt ERHEIH) 263,312 160 5 - 263,477 263,477
271,433 1,092 1541 716 274,782 272,903

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 44EA RS T-I0505)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AEe

HATS AR T

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fx BAE TR, TG &4 REET-I70577)

s @@

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2

3.3

3

Capital management 3.0 BASHE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AR B AR BRI A
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going LEE KBRS, AR
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and P& AL [ 3 A0 A At R &5 AH B 1R
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal BEFI 2SR IRp A R B 1 3 A A
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. PABEAIRE AR AR
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the R R T BRI B A G, AEH
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to T RE & 98 B SR T R A B
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce B FEAT B O B B DA
debt. IAEF o
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the asset- Z'K% [ LA % ES é 1 A 24 B 2
liability ratio. This ratio is calculated as total liabilities BAMERE. BAARERLA
=k 41l 2 NE 2
divided by total assets. FEARAER LA B A AR T 5
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023 asset-liability ratio of it 2024 E &2013 F12 431 H,
the Group was as follows: ASRB 1 P G R EL AT
As at December 31
R12H31H
2024 2023

2024 £E 2023 4
Asset-liability ratio B AR 49% 39%
Fair value estimation 3.3 /A\Z‘Z1Ef$§'|'

(@) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its
financial instruments into the three levels prescribed
under the accounting standards. An explanation of
each level follows underneath the table.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

@)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period. The
qguoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. The quoted
market price already incorporates the market's
assumptions with respect to changes in economic
climate such as rising interest rates and inflation, as
well as changes due to ESG risk. These instruments
are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is
the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for

not based on observable market data,

wealth management products.

The Group’s financial assets at FVPL represented
wealth management products, fair value of which
are estimated based on unobservable inputs (level
3).

3 WEEERERE @D

3.3 AFEMET @

@)

PHERR R

AN AR ) RE 20 T -

F1BE: ERBETEEEN
SR T H a5 aTE
T A K BEARBSR) FAFHE
T WK 1 T 35 R E A
M. AL FRA M EEE
ST FH 0 7 35 R A A R R
. mSRECKEas TH
35 3 45 175 TR 8 5 A K B AR
WA FE LT B &R, LA
K ESG g5l k. %
LT HFINELE.

£ 2B FAERTSEE
4 mh T HE (g s A T
HoO #9278 8R A AG B Bt
M RE o %S Al E T B OKER
JEE R P T R 5% i 35 AR T A
AR TT R IR R E A R o A
[ W SN /A B (=T
E DN PN S §:Sop TR
2, MZITAIIANGE2
J&.

B3R THREZIHEKR
T N BR AR R BB AT B SR T
Bugm, AT ASIAES
J& o BRI i BB BETE O .

A AR B 1% A P ERF VIR 25 10
EEEERTEEME R, HA
PR A W] i\ B
3 JE) A5t
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E BRI RE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BG158I48, FTa 4 4E N R T-I0807)

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

3.3 RHEMET G
(@ AHEESR
o SCAEAE AR =8 b A

measurements under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: B 87 2 i N 229
Valuation technique Significant Range Weighted average

fHEHHT unobservable input

ERAAHE

I\ 28
Wealth management Discounted cash flow Bank quoted
products approach expected return
AT WIS T IR iEL RS

i Ity

1.15% t0 2.9%
(2023: N/A)

2.02%
(20234F: N/A)

1.15%%2.9% 2.02%
(2023 4F: ANifH) (2023 4F: ANiEfH)

The movements during the years in the balances of fair value
measurements under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy are as

MBI =R R BRI
CELN

follows:
2024 2023
2024 & 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TTT YN
At 1 January A1HTH - 43.094
Total gains included in other gainsand 4 o 21y + 36 T2 b
losses in the consolidated statement ;ijgﬁfﬁi“mq&mﬁgﬁﬁ 292 650
of profit or loss AR
Purchased N 79,000 43,500
Disposals / settlements BB /A (77,792) (87,244)
1,500 -

(b) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other
than fair value:

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at amortised cost are not materially different from
12 their fair values at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

ERREEEEARASY

176

E U

(b) AR FefBERH R SR A K &
o SofEfE:

ARAE [ DU R AR 2 1 £ fh T H
P B THT 4 % B H 2024 4F 22023 4F
H31 HIA REERERZER,



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATHEEA4), FTAT &4 RIS T 08158

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) ECL of trade and other receivables
and financial guarantee

For trade receivables without remarkable different credit
risk characteristics, the Group used judgement in making
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the ECL
calculation, based on the Group’s historical cash
collection, ageing profile of the trade receivables, current
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates.

For trade receivables with remarkable different credit risk
characteristics and other receivables with occurrence of a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
management evaluated the distribution of expected cash
flows of the receivables under multiple scenarios based on
experience of historical credit loss, business model, current
situations and forecasts of future conditions of contract
counterparties, and assessed the ECL by applying several
significant assumptions, including the available settlement
scenarios of the receivables, the discount rates of the
expected cash flows, and the related probability weight
under different scenarios.

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR PR R IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATFE0A4L, FTAT &4 RIS T 0818

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

FERREESEERRATY

ECL of trade and other receivables and
financial guarantee (Continued)

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount
of trade and other receivables and financial guarantee and
ECL in the periods in which such estimate has been
changed.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates
made by the Group in the above areas is set out in Note
3.1.2.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the
PRC. Judgement is required in determining the amount of
the provision for taxation and the timing of payment of the
related taxations. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is

made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary

differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of

their actual utilisation may be different.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (f& R G T80948, BT 43R T-70817)

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(e)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances predict that goodwill may be
impaired, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2.8, where the recoverable amounts of the cash
generating unit (“CGU”) is determined based on value-in-
use (“VIU”) calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates. Details of impairment assessment, key
assumptions and impact of possible changes in key
assumptions are disclosed in Note 16.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is based on the
management’s best estimations of selling price of the
inventories in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses. These estimates are made with
reference to the current market conditions and the
historical experience of selling goods of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in market
condition. Management reassesses these estimations at
each balance sheet date.

Provision for litigation

Management assessed the likelihood of the outcome
and estimated the provision for liabilities and charges
the Group is liable for the case, taking into account of all
available facts and circumstances and relevant legal
Such
management’s judgement on the case outcome and
estimate on the charges. Where the final outcomes of
the case are different from the amounts originally

advice. assessment  involved  significant

estimated and recorded by management, the differences
will impact on the expenses in the period in which the
differences realise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& 7 H1804h, i A8 R T 055

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s management has determined the operating
segments based on the reports reviewed by CODM. The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segment, has been

identified as the executive directors of the Company.

The Group is principally engaged in provision of property
management services, related value-added services and city
services in the PRC. Management reviews the operating results
of the business as a single reporting segment as the nature of
services, the type of customers for services, the method used to
provide their services and the nature of regulatory environment

are the same in different regions.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, all the segments of
the Group are domiciled in the PRC and all the revenue of the

Group were derived in the PRC (2023: same).

As at December 31, 2024, substantially all assets of the Group

were located in the PRC (December 31, 2023: same).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AAE 18IS, i &4 BT I08)7~)

REVENUE

Revenue mainly comprises of provision of property
management services, related value-added services and city
services. An analysis of the Group’s revenue by category is as
follows:

6

(AN
ON T TS AR 8 (LA

NI I RS T Ak T A B [ 42500 8 23 10
BB -

Year ended December 31

#E12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 ££ 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥Ft NGNS T
Property management services LYIESEstllihr 681,325 594,104
Value-addedservices to non-property 3 A %
owners 86,402 138,381
Community value-added services b AR 113,429 136,575
City services I T AR 79,690 64,956
960,846 934,016
Timing of revenue recognition W NTERR IR H]
—Overtime — P 869,737 794,267
— At a point in time — TRIREY 91,109 139,749
960,846 934,016

None of the Group’s customers contributed 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue during the year ended December 31,
2024 (2023: same).

#2024 £12 A31 HILEE, HEMmALE
BT A 25 5 B AR AS 45 B 0RO\ 1 10% B DA
(2023 F: MFED .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4EEA RS T-I0505)

6 REVENUE (continued)

(a) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related

contract liabilities:

6 I\ @
(a) EEAE
ARG R DT BRI AR B 1
ElF AR

As at December 31

#]E12 A31 Bk
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMFE  ARNKTL

Contract liabilities Al &l

— Property management services — VISEE % 156,940 142,387

—Value-added services to non-property  — 3F3E FHIE AR

owners 557 718

— Community value-added services — At I AR 6,255 7,235
163,752 150,340

Analysed as T E

Non-current E S]] 4,906 4,147

Current ) 158,846 146,193
163,752 150,340

As at January 1, 2023, contract liabilities amounted to

approximately RMB110,052,000.

()  Changes in contract liabilities

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from

the advance payments made by customers while the

underlying services are yet to be provided.

The significant increase in contract liabilities as at

December 31, 2024 and 2023 were due to an
increase in overall receipts from contract activity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8H4F, BT 4E A RET-I0505)

REVENUE (continued)

6 N @b
(@) Contract liabilities (Continued) @) AEEE @
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (i) SHEARSMERALA
liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue RGN E RS A
recognised in the current reporting period relates to AR A AR I RON .
carried-forward contract liabilities.
Year ended December 31
#BE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ANRHT78
Revenue recognised that was HAFEVSEaERED
included in the balance of BRI A
contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year
Property management services WS PR IR 138,240 98,255
Value-added services to e HMEARTS
non-property owners 718 728
Community value-added services o1k B E RS 7,235 5,728
146,193 104,711
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A AR MY A

)

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4EEA RS T-I0505)

6

REVENUE (Continued)

(a)

Contract liabilities (Continued)

(if)

(iv)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

For property management services and value-added
services to non-property owners whose revenue are
recognised in the amount that equals to the right to
invoice which corresponds directly with the value to
the customer of the Group’s performance to date,
on a monthly basis or settlement cycle. The Group
has elected the practical expedient for not to
disclose the remaining performance obligations for
these types of contracts. The majority of the
property management services contracts do not
have a fixed term. The term of the contracts with
non-property owners is generally set to expire when
the counterparties notify the Group that the services
are no longer required.

For community value-added services, they are
rendered in short period of time, which is generally
less than a year, and the Group has elected the
practical expedient for not to disclose the remaining
performance obligations for these types of contracts.

Assets recognised from incremental costs to
obtain a contract

During the year ended December 31, 2024, there
was no significant incremental costs to obtain a
contract (2023: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao A R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AE 18IS, T &4 ST I08)7~)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

7 EREEED

1 B

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tm ARETIT
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) e BAERIBSC (FHREDD 197,249 198,312
Sales agency service costs SHEAEAR TS AR 29,715 56,081
Security service costs GAHER A 125,523 125,300
Greening and cleaning expenses AR R B E A 201,175 168,510
Maintenance and customer service costs A 2 P IR A 76,830 62,822
Utilities KEE 47,535 43,638
Cost of goods sold SRS 20,578 27,335
Decoration business cost ST A 12,799 18,036
Office expenses WA B 25,453 20,225
Travelling and entertainment expenses s R AR # 11,195 8,183
Auditor's remuneration BT T 1,450 2,684
— Audit services — EAH RS 1,450 2,584
— Non-audit services — AR % - 100
Depreciation of property and equipment YIS ST (faE14)

(Note 14) 4,835 4,065
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 27)  {EHREEEMITE (fiEE27) 1,979 1,415
Depreciation of investment properties BEYFATE (HEF15)

(Note 15) 1,030 1,706
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) TSN (MHET16) 4,074 3,466
Professional fees BEEHH 3,478 5,090
Others FiAthy 38,803 38,023

803,701 784,891
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR YAt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BATF50A4L, FTT &4 RIS T 081

8 OTHER INCOME/(LOSS) 8 HtlA/ GEi)
Year ended December 31
BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4F 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T I ANRHF 0
Interestincome from loans to third parties 758 =7 B IFLEYN 339 358
Super deduction of value-added tax BRI 819 2,466
Governmentgrants (Note (a)) BURHIE (MEE@)) 4,139 6,491
Others Fip (890) 216
4,407 9,531
(a) Government grants mainly consisted of financial support (a)  EUM B 3 2 R b 5 BURF % T 1
funds granted by the local governments with no unfuffilled WIS RRE 4, B A 22 B 1) 1
condition. 1,
9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 g BAEAIGHSL

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HikEE
2024 2023
2024 ££ 2023 i
RMB’000 RMB’000
AT ANRHT78
Wages and salaries and bonuses T&. e Al 157,331 163,898
Contribution to pension scheme expenses  IEfR&E#IEEREIS (MRE@)
(Note (a)) 17,194 14,939
Other employee benefits (Note (b)) HAthe BAed) (b)) 22,724 19,475
197,249 198,312

(a) Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
administrated and operated by the local municipal
government. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute
funds which are calculated on certain percentage of the
average employee salary as agreed by local municipal
government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits
of the employees.

BTGB RE E . A 5 B o Y R
Al RaT IR, DUE 2 (e B
SRR IR X Pt R
HEE T O R T 2 e B
AT H 2 R

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
BEEREEERARAT —F FFER

186



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E BRI RE

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAGF50A4), FTT &4 RIS T 0815

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 9

(b) Other employee benefits mainly include housing benefits
and other social insurance, festival welfare, employee
medical check and catering expenses.

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group included three directors for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. The emoluments payable
to the remaining two individuals during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

g EAEAIBASC G

(b)

)

Fo A f B AR ) 095 4 s AR R R 3
fott e fRba . BT HAEA . B TH
S EEH

hB&ESFMAL

M E 2024 4 )% 2023 412 H31 H
WRAFE R, ALK H 2 5 H A
toRAEF =4 EF. HE
2024 % }7 2023 412 H 31 Hik4E
FE, R FL RN 44 N L S s T
Wi

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTE  ARWTT
Wages and salaries NP8 672 672
Discretionary bonuses B AEAL 414 595
Contribution to pension scheme expenses Bk &A1 #IBEERBH S 70 67
Other employee benefits FiAtfe B A=A 103 111
1,259 1,445

The emoluments fell within the following bands: TR 7S LT S 7

Number of individuals

N
Year ended December 31
BZE12 A31 HIibERE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 i
Emolumentbands (in HKS) He: Go)
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 ##$500,001— #5$1,000,000 2 2
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(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAETEAN, BrA 4R R T-70510R)

10 FINANCE INCOME — NET

10 AU —

Year ended December 31

#ZE12 A31 HibEE
2024 2023
2024 4R 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTE  AREKTIL

Finance income RN

Interest income on bank deposits SRATAF AR A2 N 4,922 4,051

Finance costs Rl B A

Interest income/(expenses) FLEHN/ (B3 276 (1,254)

Foreign exchange loss AR (1,129) (1,451)
853) (2,705)

Finance income — net RSN — VB3R 4,069 1,346
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao e A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATHEEA4), FTAT &4 RIS T 08158

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

AT AL el 2

Year ended December 31

#BE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4E 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE®TT ANRET T
Current income tax R PTASAS
—PRC corporate income tax — B FTS 40,557 35,389
— Withholding income tax — TESUATTSA _ 1.500
40,557 36,889
Deferred income tax (Note 17) RIEFTRAE (BHEELT)
—PRC corporate income tax — B SE TR (16,641) (18,407)
— Withholding income tax — TEENFTAER ; 1.100
(16,641) (17,307)
23,916 19,582

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Act of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman Islands income tax. The Company’s subsidiaries in the
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) were incorporated under the
International Business Companies Act of the BVI and
accordingly, are exempted from the BVI income tax.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong did not
have assessable profits in Hong Kong during the year ended
December 31, 2024 (2023: same).

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the years, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The
statutory tax rate is 25%. Under the relevant regulations of the
Corporate Income Tax Law, certain subsidiaries of the Group
qualified as small enterprises earning low profits in the PRC are
subject to a reduced income tax rate of 20%.

RAE FIREH S B B A RAIEH 2SS
ST RO R E R A R A, Rl E RS
HANB BRI . AN TN
R ((ERERTEES] O NWEAR
A 0 R A T B e BB B A RV AT
TSST, DRI S S e At 0 B8 A TR B
IR

AR ] 1 7 s S T P A A A AR
%2024 fF12 H 31 H -4 M A AR
WA (20234 AHED .

AL A Tl v I8 365 () i A5 L 45 T AR 4R
BUTIER . AR AR 4% I8 5% 55 48 L (4
At ER A A @ AR A REM
%ﬁ%% R4 £ 36 T 19 M2 ik 1O A R 0
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(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& AH5H4h, T SAELN BRI T-0505)

11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

Pursuant to the Regulations on the Implementation of the
Corporate Income Tax Law issued on December 6, 2007,
dividends distributed from the profits generated by the PRC
companies after January 1, 2008 to their foreign investors
shall be subject to this withholding income tax of 10%, a lower
5% withholding income tax rate may be applied when the
immediate holding companies of the subsidiaries in Mainland
China are incorporated in Hong Kong and fulfil the
requirements to the tax treaty arrangements between Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average
tax rate applicable to profits of the group entities as follows:

11 TS RBI>C @)

R4 1A2007 F12 A6 HEMMM (AT
R AT R, A N A AR
2008 41 A 1 H L% zE A BRI e L5 41
& & IR W B S ZE S AN 10% [ TEFD
FrAs A, T b B O M B A = i B R
A B AR B W EE M ROL, P4 P BB A
RS th e e HE BRI, AT i F B 5%
THHIFTS R .

S A B2 3] 114 o3 58 i R AR A [ A e
FH A A 45 [35)  B RR R D R ST 35 A e e R
P i 4 B

Year ended December 31

%12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR INEH S T
Profit before income tax FRFTAS AR BT 92,680 72,150
Tax charge at applicable income tax rates %18 F TS A B R ISR 24,069 18,435
Tax effects of: iy 2
— Expenses not deductible — TTTDﬁEFﬂﬁi
for tax purposes 572 2,594
— Write-off of previously recognised — SN AT HERR A LR SE
deferred tax assets for tax losses PSR A 2 IR TR - 1,110
— Preferential income tax rates applicable — — & FH i~ % T F1 & 2 5 1)
to certain subsidiaries FS R BRI (327) (4,289)
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised — — @i S i A2 (1A TE 548
tax losses (398) (868)
— Withholding income tax TR - 2,600
Income tax expenses BB 23,916 19,582

The effective income tax rate was 26% for the year ended

December 31, 2024 (2023: 27%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AH 184N, i &4 RS T I08)7R~)

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The Company did not have any potential ordinary shares
outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2024 and
2023. Diluted earnings per share was equal to basic earnings

12 B EF)

A I i A 78 A Ty 4% 5 22024 £12 A 31
H 152 A A 5] B N AL R R DA 2 9%
A7 B ) IR - B T

R %2024 4F 22023 4£12 H31 HIL4FE
B, AN ] AT AR SR AT AR A F T L
By o A T e v 0 R S A A TR R A R

per share.
Year ended December 31
#%12 A31 HILEE
2024 AU
2024 4E 20234F
Profit attributable to owners of AN TR NIEASFRE
the Company (RMB’000) (AR T 48,412 38,484
Weighted average number of ordinary T AT R R IR T~ 2578
shares in issue (in thousands) T8 700,000 700,000
Basic and diluted earnings per
share attributable to the AN T A NEAREN
owners of the Company during RIS I R R
the year (expressed in RMB @RS INGL T i)
0.07 0.05

yuan per share)
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13 SUBSIDIARIES

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATF40A4L, FTAT &AL RIS T 0815

13 /& A A

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at
December 31, 2024 and 2023 are set out as below.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

A AE [H 4 2024 4 K 2023 412 A 31 H
B 2 B JE A ] B A R

Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
B35 AV /BT 128318
AT FL & EV R RBREX TERB RS HAEEIRE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
Directly owned:
EElA
Kanggjaoyue Service Holdings Limited* BV, US$50,000/ Investment holding 100% 100%
15 October 2020 US$50,000 in the BVI
RN ARA T HEARRRE, 50,000 %7t/ RARERARS 100% 100%
2020 £10 A15 A 50,000 %76 ftR
Friend Holdings Limited BVI, Ussy/ Investment holding 100% 100%
(‘Friend Holdings”) * 6 March 2020 USss1 in the BVI
ARERRERAT KRARTRE, ¥/ RBERRE 100% 100%
2020 %3 16 H L1 ftR
Indirectly owned:
A -
Keanda Holdings Limited Hong Kong, HK$L/ Investment holding 100% 100%
(*Keanda Holdings") * 11 May 2020 HK$1 in Hong Kong
HEREARAT (B )+ B 1/ WEEREER 100% 100%
2020 45 A1 H 1w
Hong Kong Kanggiao Service Hong Kong, HK$100/ Investmentholding 100% 100%
Group Limited* 6 November 2020 HK$100 in Hong Kong
BERENRREEARL T it 100 7/ IEERERR 100% 100%
2020 511 A6 H 100 #70

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated)

(RIS, T SHUNRE TIusR)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 13 B AR &)
Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
B A i/ 21T R12A31H
YN=IES FALitit & B 8B REEER  IEEBREEMN HAEERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4
Kanggiao Yueshenghuo Service PRC, RMB10,000,000/ Investment holding 100% 100%
Group Co., Ltd. December 1, 2020 Nil in Henan
(‘Henan Kanggiao Yueshenghuo”) *
R P AR R AR A R A ] i i T R B 100% 100%
(P RIS | ) * 20204121H 10,000,000 7t/
Kanggiao Yueshenghuo Service Group The PRC, RMB507,631,579/  Property Management 100% 100%
Co., Ltd. (‘Kanggiao Yueshenghuo”) ** August 31, 2007 RMB405,457,514 Services in Henan
et E R M R A E i, NRWE R E R 100% 100%
([ Reratg] ) = 200748 31 H 507,631,579 11,/
AR
405,457,514 75
Henan Kangjia Junpinle Catering The PRC, ~ RMBZ,000,000/ Catering Service Not 100%
Service Co., Ltd, *** May17,2017  RMB00,000 inHenan  aPPplicable
TR R K i A O TR 7 PR i, AR TR B 28 R TR Sl 100%
01745H17H 1,000,000 15,/
AR #900,000 7t
Henan Kanggiao Jiahe Property The PRC, ~ RMB3,000,000/  Property Management 60% 60%
Service Co., Ltd. December 25, 2017 RMB500,000 Services in Henan
(“Kanggiao Jiahe") ***
B R A A A2 IR TR A ) i, NRW R E E R 60% 60%
(TRARAL) ) = 20174124250 3,000,000 7t/
AR 500,000 7

Kanggiao Se
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARG P RER YAt

WIN

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAETEIAN, BrA 4RELI AR T-I0510R)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

13 M@ A= oo

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

53 i

Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
Bl g it/ ERT R12A31H
YNIE ALt B 8B RETERX  ITRERBRESMS AEERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4
Henan Yuxi Real Estate Marketing The PRC,  RMB10,000,000/  Real Estate Marketing 100% 100%
Planning Co., Ltd. *** March 14, 2018 Nil Planning in Henan
R A B 2 B R A R e hi, AR TR e 100% 100%
201843 f14H 10,000,000 i/ vl
Henan Kanggiao Zhufu Property The PRC, ~ RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 60% 60%
Service Co., Ltd. *** September 2, 2019 Nil Services in Henan
T BB LA S R A IR A ] i, N USELEEES 60% 60%
201949H2H 5000000 7t/ 4 B
Henan Kangyun Youxuan Business The PRC, RMB5,000,000/ Commodity Sales 100% 100%
Management Co., Ltd. *** September 24, 2019 Nil Services in Henan
TR R 2 S A IR o i, N TR B K i 100% 100%
20194F9H24H 5,000,000 1t/ % BRI
Luohe Suhe Property Service Co., Ltd. ** The PRC, ~ RMBL,100,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
November 22, 2013 RMB1,100,000 Services in Henan
TR T AT ) S TR A R ] i, ARE TR R R 51% 51%
2013411 A 22 H 1,100,000 7t/
NG
1,100,000 75
Puyang Junyang Property The PRC, ~ RMB2,000,000/  Property Management 70% 70%
Service Co., Ltd. *** November 13, 2015 RMB40,000 Services in Henan
TR E B MRS A IR A e i, ARWE R R 70% 70%
2015411 A13 A 2,000,000 16,/
AR 40,000 70

EREARAT) T UEER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AAE 18IS, i &4 BT I08)7~)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

13 M@~ ca

Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
BT Avig it/ BT 128318
ATER ALt B BB RERER  IEEBRESHE AKERE
2024 2023
20244 2023
Henan Kanggiao Taichen Property The PRC,  RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 100% 100%
Management Co., Ltd. *** September 24, 2019 Nil Services in Henan
TR R AR TR S B IR ] o i, ARH TR E R 100% 100%
201949 fA24H 5000000 jt,/ %
Henan Kanggiao Yuejin Property The PRC, RMB1,000,000/  Property Management 70% 70%
Service Co., Ltd. *** June 10, 2020 RMB1,000,000 Services in Henan
R R R0 SR S RS TR A ] i, ARE RS ERE 70% 70%
202046 A10H 1,000,000 7t/
AR
1,000,000 t
Henan Kanggiao Property The PRC,  RMB10,000,000/  Property Management 100% 100%
Service Co., Ltd. *** 28 July 2020 Nil Services in Henan
AT AR TR A LA i, N USELEEES 100% 100%
202047 A28H 10,000,000 it/ f B MR
Henan Yuequ Internet The PRC,  RMB10,000,000/ Technology 100% 100%
Technology Co., Ltd. *** July 29, 2020 Nil  Development Services
in Henan
T AR AR BB TR ] i, AR USEEAE T 100% 100%
20204 7H29H 10,000,000 7t/ % Pl ks
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 7 G184, FTE S48 BT 70815

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Company name

Place and date
of incorporation/

establishment

Registered/
issued and
paid-up capital

13 @ ~e 7

Principal
activities and
place of operation

Attributable equity
interest of the Group
as at December 31

BT aveg it/ ERTT R128318
ATER Rzt R B & RERER  IEEBRESEMN AKERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4F
Henan Kanggiao Zhuyou Property The PRC, ~ RMB3,000,000/  Property Management 67% 67%
Services Co., Ltd. *** August 26, 2020 RMB3,000,000 Services in Henan
T AR A AR TR IR A ] i, NRH USELaL7E S 67% 67%
202048 H26 A 3,000,000 7t/ EH R
i
3,000,000 &
Hehi Kanggiao Property The PRC, ~ RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Sevice Co., Ltd. ** September 9, 2020 RMB2,000,000 Services in Henan
FERE T R R IR A A m i, NRH JSEEE/ES 51% 51%
20209 H9H 5,000,000 7t/ EH R
N
2,000,000t
Zhejiang Lansheng Property Service The PRC,  RMB12,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Co., Ltd. (“Zhejiang Lansheng”) *** February 7,2012 RMB5,000,000 Services in Zhejiang
WL ES B SE MRS A IR A 7] i, N AT A3 51% 51%
(THRTESRE ) = 01242H7H 12,000,000 &/ B
N
5,000,000 7©
Zhengzhou Kanggiao Guotou The PRC, RMB8,580,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Technology Industry Service Co., Ltd. June 10, 2002 RMB8,580,000 Services in Henan
(“Zhengzhou Kanggiao Guotou’)™*
S A R 5 o 7 S TS A R ] i, ARE  TREE R R 51% 51%
(TR ) ) = 2002 46 10 A 8,580,000 7t/
NG
8,580,000 7C
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAGFEEASL, FTT &AL RIS T 0818

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 13 B AR &)
Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
BT Avig it/ ERT R128318
ATER ALt B BB RETERX  ITEEBREEMG AKERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4F
Zhengzhou Jixiang Property Management The PRC, ~ RMB3,270,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Co. Ltd (“Zhengzhou Jixiang”) *** October 23, 2001 RMB3,270,000 Services in Henan
T EE RARAE AR i, NRH PR E R 51% 51%
(THRMERE] ) == 200110 H23 H 3,270,000 7t/
N
3,270,000 7t
Kanggiao Technology Service Group Co., Ltd. The PRC,  RMB50,000,000/ Technology 100% 100%
(“Kanggiao Technology Service”) *** February 25, 2020 Nil Development
Services in Henan
R B A IR A ) hi, N T8 Btk 100% 100%
([ RERERHERTE ) ) = 202042H25H 50,000,000 i,/ 4 Pl S5 RS
Henan Kanggiao Aosheng Property The PRC, RMB10,000,000/ Property Management Not 65%
Service Co., Ltd.** December 3, 2020 Nil Senices in Henan ~ @pplicable
W KB SR A S R TR A i, INH: USELELYES A& 65%
2020412 A3H 10,000,000 75,/ 4 EERE
Henan Dingfeng Property Service Co., Ltd. The PRC, ~ RMB5,020,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
(‘Henan Dingfeng”) *** December 29, 2003 RMB5,020,000 Services in Henan
T R IR A IR A ] i, N TR 51% 51%
([ | ) 2003412 129 H 5,020,000 1t/ TR
INH
5,020,000 7t
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Company name

Place and date
of incorporation/
establishment

Registered/
issued and
paid-up capital

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BAGF50A4L, FTAT &4 RIS T 081

13 M@ A= oo

Principal
activities and
place of operation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR YAt

Attributable equity
interest of the Group
as at December 31

BT aveg i/ ERT 128318
ASE PRzttt A 8 REEER  IEEBRESEMN AKERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4
Henan Qiaoxu Business The PRC, RMB5,000,000/  Business Management 100% 100%
Management Co., Ltd. *** September 17, 2021 Nil in Henan
S R S R A i, NRH R A EEE 100% 100%
202149 A17H 5,000,000 i/ fE
Henan Rail Yue Life Property The PRC,  RMB10,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Management Co., Ltd. November 19, 2021 RMB5,000,000 Services in Henan
(“Rail Yue Life”) #
I RIER A E R A RA i, NI JSTL=EES 51% 51%
(HuEtERE] ) = 200111 A19H 10,000,000 7t/ BRI
N
5,000,000 G
Henan Kanggiao Yuezhou Property The PRC, ~ RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Service Co., Ltd *** November 26, 2021 RMB255,000 Services in Henan
TR R0 A S8 RS TR A ] i, N USELEYES 51% 51%
20211126 H 5,000,000 76,/ EHRH
AR 255,000 7
Henan Kanggiao Jinyuan Property The PRC, ~ RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 36% 36%
Service Co., Ltd *** December 31, 2021 RMB500,000 Services in Henan
R R s 5 A S TR TR A ] o i, N TR 36% 36%
2021412 131 H 5,000,000 7t/ EH R
AR #500,000 7
Henan Yuesong Property Service The PRC, ~ RMBZ1,000,000/  Property Management 60% 60%
Management Co., Ltd *** April 18, 2022 Nil Services in Henan
T A M A R i, N USRS 60% 60%
2022447180 1,000,000 7/ f gt
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A PR et

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BHEEHI4N, T 445N R T-I055)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 13 INBAF &)
Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
B3l it/ ERT R12A318
YNIE avatiblgs=l RAREX  IERBRESMH EAKERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4
Fugou County Rail Kanggiao Cleaning The PRC,  RMBL1,000,000/ Sanitation Services 51% 51%
Service Co., Ltd *** April 25, 2022 Nil in Henan
Sl BRI R R A IR F T, N T P i 51% 51%
022941250 1,000,000 jt/ %
Henan Kanggiao Yijiagin Property The PRC, RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Service Co., Ltd *** June 1, 2022 RMB300,000 Services in Henan
T B — B R R R m i, NRH USELaL/E S 51% 51%
202256 A1H 5,000,000 ¢,/ B MR
AR 300,000 7t
Henan Home Online Real Estate Marketing The PRC, RMB5,000,000/  Real Estate Marketing 100% 100%
Planning Co., Ltd *** June 14, 2022 Nil Planning in Henan
TR K R4 I 8 B R T R ] o i, N T R 100% 100%
202246 H14H  5000,000 7t/ % TR H
Henan Kanggiao Nanshan Property The PRC, RMB1,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Service Co., Ltd *** June 29, 2022 RMB40,000 Services in Henan
AT AR AR L PR IR A ] i, ARH TR 51% 51%
20226 H29H 1,000,000 76,/ EHRE
AR 40,000 70
Henan Kanggiao Weijia Property Service The PRC, ~ RMB3,000,000/  Property Management 36% 36%
Management Co., Ltd *** April 14, 2022 RMB500,000 Services in Henan
W R T R A R o A IR ] i, NG ISEEEYES 36% 36%
202244 114 3,000,000 1t/ EHRY
A K #500,000 7t
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13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

13 @ ~e 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A YRR YA

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 7 & 1aH4h, i &4E A RIET- 05158

Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
Bl g it/ BT R12A318
YNIE ALt B BB RHREEX  IERBRCEMH AKERE
2024 2023
20244 2023 4
Henan Kangyue Travel Service Co., The PRC, RMB1,000,000/  Business Management 100% 100%
Ltg+** May 5, 2023 Nil Services in Henan
T A A S A R ] hi, AR JSEEE/ES 100% 100%
202345H18H 1,000,000 i/ B
Hangzhou Lanyue Property Service The PRC, RMB500,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Co., Ltd*** December 8, 2023 Nil Sevices in Zhejiang
BB A TR A PR I, AR AT A3 51% 51%
2023412 A8 H 500,000 jt,/fE B
Jiangsu Yubangyuejing Technology The PRC,  RMB10,000,000/  Property Management 48% 51%
Industry Service Co., Ltd.*** May 16, 2023 RMB1,000,000 Services in Jiangsu
TLER B R IRE G IR A ] o i, AR L& 48% 51%
20235716 H 10,000,000 75,/ GRS
AR
1,000,000 Jt
Henan Zhongshang Property Service The PRC, RMB2,000,000 Property Management 51% 51%
Co., Ltd*** July 7, 2023 /RMB255,000 Services in Henan
R e 40 A R A R A ] i, AR TR 51% 51%
028F7ATH 2,000,000 jt,/ EHRH
N
255,000 7C
Henan Zhongbao Property Service Co., The PRC,  RMBZ1,000,000/  Property Management Not 51%
e June 27, 2023 Nil Senvices in Henan  @pplicable
TR A A R TR A TR i, NG USRS AEH 51%
202346 427 H 1,000,000 7,/ 4 EHRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (fxAGT5H48, FTE 428 T-70807)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

13 @A )

Place and date Registered/ Principal Attributable equity
of incorporation/ issued and activities and interest of the Group
Company name establishment  paid-up capital place of operation as at December 31
BT AV it/ 2 a7 R128318
YNIE Rzttt A 8 RBRELX  IBERBREESMN AKERE
2024 2023
20244F 2023 4F
Henan Penghan Property Service The PRC, ~ RMB2,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Co., Ltd*** November 10, 2023 Nil Services in Henan
MR R T EA R i, Nt USEEE/ES 51% 51%
2023411100 2,000,000 7t/ % B MR
Henan Jiangwangfu Liquor Sales The PRC,  RMB10,000,000/  Business Management 60% 60%
Co., Ltd*** November 28, 2023 RMB4,000,000 Services in Henan
R 8 N T S B T IR A e i, N USELaL/E S 60% 60%
2023411 /128 H 10,000,000 75/ B R
N
4,000,000 7t
Xi'an Kanggiao Taichen Property The PRC,  RMB5,000,000/ Property Management 100% 100%
Management Co., Ltd.* November 15, 2021 il §ervpes n )ﬂan
6 % AR R AT R A R, ARH RIEEIERE 100% 100%
2000 11 A15H 5,000,000 o/ 4 fets
Anyang Dingxing Property The PRC, RMB500,000/ Property Management 51% 51%
Senvice Co., Ltd.#+* June 23, 2016 RMB500,000 S?Nfe in Anying
2 B TR 41 B4 7 s, ARg REBIREE 51% 519
2016 46 123 {500,000 G,/ NFEHE &y
500,000 7c
Henan Yuegiao Property Service The PRC, RMB5,000,000/  Property Management 51% 51%
Co,, Ltd. 8 September 2021 Nil Senvice in Henan
TR R G S8 R PR ) P, ARK e 51% 51%
02059 A8 50000007 /% LS
2 Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law. * TRAEr B T A b (2
> Registered as sino-foreign cooperative joint ventures under PRC law. ok P I A T MRS 2

il Registered as domestic enterprises under the PRC law

The English name of the subsidiaries represents the best effort

by the management of the Group in translating their Chinese

names as they do not have an official English name.

e R A

I IR US4 7, (YR A R IS4
A S B B 5 BRI o AL R

AR,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e MBS MTRE

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (( B T5HI48, T 4R8N R T-I08075)

13 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 13 B AT 4)
N RBHNA B AL A FOR AR R o
Z & TH M AR 2 Gkl LR 251 2 B
BRI SR IEAT AT 2 B [ S A < <
information presented below represents the %A,

The following table lists out the information
relating to each subsidiary which has material
non-controlling interest. The summarised financial

amounts before any inter-company elimination.

Henan Dingfeng Rail Yue Life
79I 7 R BB AR
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 & 2024 4F 2023 &£
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT AR¥TT AREFT
Proportion of ownership R E T
interest and voting rights FERERS o R R L5 49% 49% 49% 49%
held by non-controlling
interest
Current assets TREhE e 22,524 22,498 16,054 11,470
Non-current assets BB & 563 532 2.247 1,861
Current liabilities VRED & (18,786) (19,227) (8,514) (6,557)
Non-current liabilities FERE) B fE (11) - (271) (23)
Net assets T 4,290 3,802 9,516 6,751
Carrying amount of non- AR 4 B HE 25 IR THIEE 2,102 1,863 4,663 3,308
controlling interest
Revenue PN 32,297 21,706 46,771 30,341
Profit/(loss) for the year KRN/ (FE) 6,486 3,991 7,065 2,763
Other comprehensive HAphgz a5k zs - - _ _
income
Total comprehensive e g o] 6,486 3,991 7,065 2,763
income
Profit/(loss) allocated to SRB AR R 2 2
non-controlling interest Fl/ (E548) 3,178 1,956 3,462 1,345
Total comprehensive BRI A A R 25 2
income allocated to non- AR5 AaE 3,178 1,956 3,462 1,354
controlling interest
Dividend paid to non- VIS E =alibe: Savdlid
controlling interest JSA 2,940 1,960 2,000 735
Net cash inflows/ (outflow) &8 VB AL 2 B4
from operating activities BIEE GR ) 7,499 (7,001) 5,802 5,445
Net cash inflows/ (outflow) & VEHB)E 4 2 T4
from investing activities ByREE/ GFH) (149) 10.894 (147) (654)
Net cash inflows/ (outflow) Rl B £ 2 B4 i
from financing activities EVRAE/ (R ) (6,000) (4,000) (4,278) (1,652)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 7 G184, FTE S48 BB T 70815

14 W3 K s ths

14 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture Leasehold  Office
Vehicles and fixtures improvements premises Total
By REREE HEMEREE  WME H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT  ARETR AEETT  ARETR N
Year ended December 31, 2023  #Z2023 £12 B3 B
LEFE
Opening net book amount IS 430 6,190 3,530 3,679 13,829
Additions BE 641 3,337 1,562 31 5,571
Disposals th (14) (238) - - (252)
Transfer from property to (kS
investment property - - - (2,769) (2,769)
Depreciation charge e (389) (1,998) (1,670) 8) (4,065)
Closing net book amount BRI S (E 668 7,291 3,422 933 12,314
As at December 31, 2023 R2023E12 831 A
Cost WA 2,464 16,851 6,851 1,356 27,522
Accumulated  depreciation Bt (1,796) (9,560) (3,429) (423) (15,208)
Net book amount FREFE 668 7,291 3,422 933 12,314
Year ended December 31, 2024  HZ2024 £12 A31 B
LEFE
Opening net book amount WS E 668 7,291 3,422 933 12,314
Additions KB 152 3,561 1,839 - 5,552
Disposals ik 4) (90) - - (94)
Transfer from property to femEsann B
investment property - - -
Depreciation charge e (217) (2,539) (2,071) (8) (4,835)
Closing net book amount HERIRESME 599 8,223 3,190 925 12,937
As at December 31, 2024 R2024 £12 B3 B
Cost oA 2,612 20,322 8,690 1,356 32,980
Accumulated depreciation BiE (2,013) (12,099) (5,500) (431) (20,043)
Net book amount IREFE 599 8,223 3,190 925 12,937
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (A ETEIAN, BTG SR T 7080)

14 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(@ Depreciation expenses were charged to the following
categories in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income:

14 Wp3E Rk lts 48

(@  ITER ORI A SRR
N TR

Year ended December 31

#BE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥Ft ANR#TIT
Cost of sales SHEE AR 3,730 3,109
Administrative expenses TR 1,088 907
Sellingand marketing expenses B S A S 17 49
4,835 4,065

()  No property and equipment were pledged as security for
bank borrowings as at December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B R R IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15 &&

YES

Year ended December 31

#BZ12 A31 HIHERE
2024 2023
2024 4R 2023 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANE¥T5T ANRIETIT
Non-current assets — at cost JERENEE— HHA
Opening balance at January 1 HAWIas &5 5,020 2,081
Additions HE 17,568 1,876
Transfer from property and equipment e i SR N - 2,769
Depreciation charge Pressc (1,030) (1,706)
Closing balance at December 31 JA12 H31 HIFIRAS &R 21,558 5,020
As at December 31 #=12H831H
Cost AN 23,415 13,747
Accumulated depreciation RETITE (1,857) (8,727)
Net book amount R vHE 21,558 5,020

The investment properties were composed by commercial
properties held under leases, which are held for rental
yields and are not occupied by the Group (Note 27) and
building owned by the Group.

As at December 31, 2024, the fair value of investment
properties  were  approximately RMB25,376,000

(December 31, 2023: RMB12,184,000).

Fair value hierarchy

As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, as certain of
significant inputs used in the determination of fair value
disclosure of investment properties are arrived at by
reference to certain significant unobservable market data,
the fair value of all investment properties of the Group is
included in level 3 of the fair value measurement
hierarchy.

BEW R d UM E T XA
EMERSEBEAR N EZEWH
B, RS MR R i
HARBALEBEM (HEE27) .

# %2024 412 H31 H, HEWZE
) 2 S H 59 25 N R s 25,376,000
JG (2023 45 12 A 31 H: AR#
12,184,000 7¢) -

PHERER

A 2024 4E J 2023 412 A 31
H, R EEREYEAFEN
GRUESR R ON TN E YA
A T R ] 58 T 1 WO I A5
, REBPFAREYER AT
H AN A-PAERT =g A5 =4,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR P RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ A 484, g RN RS TI085R)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15 E&WE )

(i) Valuation techniques

(i) fh{EFXIiT

Fair values of the investment properties of the Group are
generally derived using the term and reversionary method,
with reference to the tenancy agreements as at the
respective valuation dates. The rental income derived
within the tenancy agreements are discounted by
adopting term vyields and the potential reversionary
income are discounted by adopting appropriate
reversionary yields for the period beyond the rental period
in the tenancy agreements. Potential reversionary income
and the reversionary yields are derived from analysis of
prevailing market rents. The prevailing market rents
adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings,
within the subject properties and other comparable
properties.

The higher the market rents or the lower the term yields
and reversionary yields, the higher the fair value.

There is no change in the valuation techniques during the
year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: same).

AEBBAEMEN L REEEE
TR 7€ S0 B 4000 AL EE v AT HE SR
2% % 5 EHHE B K E R
a0 MRIE A B 17 o 2R AL K
N R P E W 2R R E AT 4 B
T ¥ 7E 40 A0 B U N R $1 35 A B )
RERAR BT, BROAE E RS
RE W 25 2 AT HT B o Y TE A L
BN B AR R R T 2,
T BUAT 7 45 1 & I B 4 A
fEEF I RANBET TS MEE,
SRR Y SEA 5 KRBT L)
330 1 T IR B A 1 AL R R

T35 A <l ARSI 2 e AR A 2

AL, HATE

M ZE 2024 12 A 31 HILERE, 4
{EHT S ED (2023 4F: HH[ED .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 M & e

Customer
Computer relationships

software and backlog ~ Goodwill Total
e BREGREE HE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT ANREFTT AREFT ANREFTT
Year ended December 31, 2023 #Z%2023 £12 B31 HILEE
Opening net book amount A 666 23,934 28,318 52,918
Additions BE 5,354 - - 5,354
Disposals RE (23) - - (23)
Amortisation 5 (666) (2,800) - (3,466)
Closing net book amount BAREEFE 5,331 21,134 28,318 54,783
As at December 31, 2023 R203E128318
Cost [N 8,515 28,300 28,318 65,133
Accumulated  amortisation Bils (3,184) (7,166) - (10,350)
Net book amount FREEE 5,331 21,134 28,318 54,783
Year ended December 31, 2024 #HZ2024 £12 B31 BLLEE
Opening net book amount IEmEE 5,331 21,134 28,318 54,783
Additions HE 98 - - 98
Amortisation i (1,274) (2,800) - (4,074)
Closing net book amount BARREFE 4,155 18,334 28,318 50,807
As at December 31, 2024 ®2024E 128318
Cost BA 8,613 28,300 28,318 65,231
Accumulated amortisation Bils (4,458) (9,966) - (14,424)
Net book amount FREFE 4,155 18,334 28,318 50,807
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E BRI RE

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATFEEASL, FTAT S48 RIS T 0815

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the

following categories in
comprehensive income:

the consolidated statements of

16 M EE @)

TR A i Ot N eI R N
THIE

Year ended December 31

#Z12 A31 HILAEE
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMETE A RMST T
Cost of sales FHEE AR 2,947 2,954
Administrative expenses ATHIBASC 1,127 512
4,074 3,466

(@) No intangible asset was restricted or pledged as security
for liabilities as at December 31, 2024 (2023: same).

(b) The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of acquired subsidiaries
is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill was comprised of the

followings:

()

(b)

#HF2024 F£12 H31 H, WML
% e IR & 18 57 B o) B 1 R
i (2023 4 AHED .

o AL MR A A B

) FA R R A T E A TR
N E (ST S SOk

Year ended December 31

#BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 i
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥F70 NRHETI6
Acquisition of Zhejiang Lansheng WA 1 5 9,967 9,967
Acquisition of Zhengzhou Kanggiao WAL B AR 545 B SR o5
Guotou and Zhengzhou Jixiang 3,852 3,852
Acquisition of Henan Dingfeng WAL VT e e 14,499 14,499
28,318 28,318
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KRBk R IR

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& 7 HT8H4h, i A8 R T 0505

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(c)

Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill arises from the Group’s acquisitions of
subsidiaries and was determined at the acquisition date
respectively, being the difference between the purchase
consideration and the fair value of net identifiable assets
of acquirees. Goodwill has been assessed based on the
related acquiree’s cash-generated units for impairment
testing.

The recoverable amount of the cash-generated units were
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period. Management determined a projection
period of five years based on expected development trend
of the acquiree and industry experiences. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated terminal growth rates stated below. The growth
rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate
for the related industry in which the cash-generated units
operate. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant industry.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations as
at December 31, 2024 are as follows:

16 ML & E ()

(c)

Zhejiang
Lansheng

WHLES

B ERERE

T T A B [ A Y A D I E
A gy B U H IR e, Al EAG
L B A5 Wi i 7 T ) A E VR AE R
NP EZ B ER . 8T ER
T A s B O ) 3 < E A B (O
AT e AR AE A

W < A AR B B0 AT A [m] 2 AR D Sk
R EER SR E. ZHAE
PR AR 9 9 2 RE Lk 2 T 4R 3
S 5 TR ST A Y 2 TR AR AT 3R &
e . AR SOIOE T 1T
W o RS AAT E B, T R
IR TR o T AF 0T ) 0 B
LI IR 3R T SCPT I I A R A%
WREREATHE. ZWEEAE
B < A A B A T AR B A B AT
EMRBFEEER. EMAK
WA A AT A, Semk 1 BLAR B AT
S R B e R -

A2024 12 A31 H, f#AEMAES
SR FH B B S 0 R

Zhengzhou
Kanggiao

Guotouand

Zhengzhou Henan
Jixiang

B R £

B PH 5 4

Dingfeng

T A

Expected growth rate of revenue N TS R

Terminal growthrate after 5years  Ti4F4% A% K%
Pre-tax discount rate FRRTHGTIR

0.4%-5.0%
3.0%
19.0%

0.5%-13.7%

3.0%
19.0%

0%-28.0%
2.5%
17.0%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao i B AR MY A

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATFEEAS), FTT S48 RIS T 0818

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 |IL&E 4
(c) Impairment test for goodwill (Continued) () EERENE )
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations as #FE2023 412 431 H, fHAMEMA
at December 31, 2023 are as follows: ST AR ER F 1) 4 R SRR R 0 R
Zhengzhou
Kanggiao
Guotou and
Zhejiang Zhengzhou Henan
Lansheng Jixiang Dingfeng

SR REREE %
L B FNERH EHE 1A e i e

Expected growth rate of revenue Y\ [ FEIHE £ = -11.2%-12.7%  -26.9%—25% 0%—21.5%
Terminal growth rate after5years fiE4% &R R R 3.0% 3.0% 2.5%
Pre-tax discount rate FEATRG IR AR 25.2% 26.4% 22.0%
According to the result of the impairment testing, the R RA R, e EEfE
estimated recoverable amounts of cash-generated units A7 B i T A [m] < A 3 AR i
exceed their carrying amount (i.e. the headroom) as fH CBPERED WIF:

below:

As at December 31

#ZE12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TIu ANREETIT

Zhejiang Lansheng T R 25,794 6,491
Zhengzhou Kanggiao Guotou and SR REAG 45 B SR 5 4

Zhengzhou Jixiang 3,050 3,523
Henan Dingfeng TR AU 17,418 8,416

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024
210
RIBREETEBARAT —F - JUFEER



16

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 7 G184, FTE S48 BT 70815)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(c) Impairment test for goodwill (Continued)

Management has undertaken sensitivity analysis on the
impairment test of goodwill. The following table sets forth
possible changes to the key assumptions of the
impairment test and the changes taken in isolation in the
VIU calculations that would remove the remaining
headroom respectively:

16 ML EE @D

&

(c) BERERG @)

B TS O R e (A AT
RREES B T RS IR AE A B
SR AR R B T e R B S s i P (B
AHETEBRASHN ST RE S
IR &R S e i

As at December 31

HZE12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4¢ 2023 5
Zhejiang Lansheng e RN
Annual revenue growth rate I R -26.0% -23.3%
Pre-tax discount rate FRATHGIEE 12.3% 12.3%
Zhengzhou Kanggiao Guotou and B BB 45 B SR 5
Zhengzhou Jixiang
Annual revenue growth rate FIRAER -14.6% -4.3%
Pre-tax discount rate FRATIREE 12.6% 29.9%
Henan Dingfeng TR ARG
Annual revenue growth rate IR -44.7% -6.0%
Pre-tax discount rate FERITHL T 2 9.0% 4.4%

Based on the above assessment and the historical result,
our directors have not identified any reasonably possible
change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable
amount is based that would cause the carrying amounts
of the cash generating units to exceed their respective
recoverable amounts as at December 31, 2024 (December
31, 2023: same).

R4 EIRGT AL OB e 34T, EFA
S A m] YA [ 4 R AL B )
B BT AT A B ] BESEE), AT
B 4 AR LA ) IR TR
H % H A 2024 4212 A 31 Hivml
W Bl 4 %8 (20234 12 A 31H:
AHFD o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A E

HATS AR T

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATFEEA4), FTT £4H L RIS T 08158

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

@

As at December 31, 2024, there was no offsetting of
deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax
liabilites balances within the same tax jurisdiction
(December 31, 2023: same). The analysis of deferred
income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities was
as follows:

@

17 JESEFASAR

#E2024 %12 H31 H, FE—#%
A VB B S N R A 7E IR AT A5 A
Y5 BLIR AT fiT 159 A A A8 45 6 HC S
M5l (2023 412 H31 H: #f
) o IRALFT 130 i S IR AL BT 43
MAE R TR

As at December 31

BZE12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ANRITIT
Deferred income tax assets: TEAEFTAS R 2«
— Deferred income tax assets to be — #5512 iE B IR G
recoveredwithin 12 months IESEFTS R & 55,288 39,245
— Deferred income tax assets to be — A2 iE B A& R
recovered after more than IEAEFTAS R A
12 months 1,701 1,086
56,989 40,331
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities FRPEHCEHFA RIHEEH
pursuant to set-off provisions TRAE TS0 i - (985)
Net deferred tax assets TEAE PSR A A 56,989 39,346
Deferred income tax liabilities: TEREFTAS L B AR :
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be  — #5212 il H A [l
recovered within 12 months TRAEFITAS R A fif (2,071) (2,069)
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be  — #7212 {if H & W71
recovered after more than TESEFTISFR Bl
12 months (5,632) (5,617)
(7,703) (7,686)
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities FEPEHREH A FHCE
pursuant to set-off provisions TRIC T3 A A - 985
Net deferred tax liabilities TRAE PSR A A (7,703) (6,701)
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

The netmovements on deferredincome tax accountwere

as follows:

17 ESEPTSA 4D

(o)  IEEFTEHRS RSB T

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HILEE

2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4E

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTE  AR#TE

At the beginning of the year ) 32,645 15,338
Credited to profit or loss iz 16,641 17,307
Atthe end of the year 49,286 32,645

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023,

was as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

(c) %2024 4 %2023 412 H31 H
IR, RIE P AAR S AR
HHWT:

As at January 1, 2023
Credited/(charged)
to profit or loss

RWBE1R1A
HIRE/ GIA) B

As at December 31, 2023

R0BENANA

As at January 1, 2024
Credited!(charged) to proft
or loss

K% A1H
fiRE/ GA) fi

As at December 31, 2024

1 2045 118318

IEIEFRSIREE
Allowance
on doubtful
receivables and
financial  Accrued Lease
guarantees  expenses Tax losses liabilities Total
TRl REER
HBERRE Bifhx ek HERE g5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETR AEETR AEETR AEEFT AEETR
15,771 1,781 2,994 2,369 22,915
19,132 - (1,703) @13) 17,416
34,903 1,781 1,291 2,356 40,331
34,903 1,781 1,291 2,356 40,331
17,897 - (1,283) 44 16,658
52,800 1,781 8 2,400 56,989
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A e AP R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ A 484, g RN RS TI085R)

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities

17 EEFHIR o)

© (#)

EEFSIRAR
Excessof value Value of Mainland
of property intangible asset China Right-of-use
from sidentified in withholding assets Total
acquisition of business income tax
a subsidiary combination
Wk TR REEAHRR
Bl EES fEl R
EEsman EERE TRHIFTRH [rEEE 3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NRRTT NRETTR NRETT NEETR NEETR
As at January 1, 2023 R0BE1 B1A (375) (5,939) - (1,263) (7,577)
Credited to profit or loss F 14 700 (1,100) 277 (109)
As at December 31, 2023 RUBEN B3A (361) (5,239) (1,100) (986) (7,686)
As at January 1, 2024 ROMEL IR (361) (5,239) (1,100) (986) (7,686)
Credited to profit or loss AR 14 700 - (731) 17)
As at December 31, 2024 R204E 128318 (347) (4,539) (1,100) (1,717) (7,703)

(d) As at December 31, 2024, the Group has not recognised
deferred income tax assets in respect of cumulative tax
losses of RMB12,770,000 (As at December 31, 2023:
RMB15,640,000) due to the unpredictability of relevant

future profit streams.
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

19

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 7 G184, FTE S48 BT 708175)

18 FL3E 3 73 1) gk T A

As at December 31

M12H31H
2024 2023
2024 £E 2023 i
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET ANR#TIT
Financial asset at fair value IpnEEENEREE
Financial assets at fair value through DL B S H ISR A
profit or loss(Note 22) EWHERR I ARIEE (Mk22) 1,500 -
Financial asset at amortised cost RSB AT ENERMEE
Trade and other receivables (Note 21) G 5 R HoAh I8 (a2 939,464 690,518
Restricted cash (Note 24) ZIRHI S (MiEE24) 211,982 5,096
Cashand cash equivalents (Note 23) Bl LIAGEHEY) (RE23) 132,569 355,684
1,285,515 1,051,298
Financial liabilities at amortised costs  jZi#gRp AT ENSREE
Trade and other payables B 7 S HAh A 2 IE
(excluding accrued payroll and (PMEFEIERT L& &
other taxes payables) HAth JEASFRIED 301,577 263,477
Lease liabilities (Note 27) MEAE P2 9,614 9,426
311,191 272,903

There was no offsetting of financial assets and liabilities as at
December 31, 2024 (December 31, 2023: same).

R ZE 2024 812 A 31 HIRE K 4Rl
A (2023412 H31 H: AHED .

INVENTORIES 19 A
As at December 31
#=12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TE ARETTE
Inventories JEAT
Parking spaces (Note 32) B4 G EE32) 15,401 12,494
Consumables goods and other inventories 5, ¥ i & HoAh £7 £ 3,440 1,417
18,841 13,911
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E BRI RE

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATFEEA4), FTT £4H L RIS T 08158

20 PREPAYMENTS

20 TEAT

o

A

A

As at December 31

B12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4F 2023 &
RMB’000 RMB’000
NG ANR#TT
Prepayments FENFIE
— Prepayments to third parties — B=Jy RN R IE 61,379 70,909
Less: non-current portion of prepayments  JiZ<:  FEATEIEARREEE >
(Note (a)) (Ft&E (@) (59,884) (65,629)
Current portion of prepayments TEAT S AR5 1,495 5,280

(@ As at December 31, 2024, the non-current portion of

prepayments mainly

represented a prepayment of

RMB59,884,000 for the acquisition of equity interest in a

property management service company (as at December

31, 2023: RMB65,629,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IR

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAFFEH4L, FifT 4RI T 0515)

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

1 & oy S Ab RS

As at December 31

s

7N

B12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T5T ANR#F o
Trade receivables (Note (a)) o EIGRIE (fak@)
—Related parties (Note 33(d)) — 7 (HEE33(d) 327,182 321,400
— Third parties — =07 453,455 355,751
780,637 677,151
Less: allowance forimpairment W2 B 5 GRS
oftrade receivables (Note (d)) CB5E:(d)> (179,798) (132,940)
600,839 544,211
Other receivables HAbEYCKIH
— Amounts due from related parties — BBy R IE
(Note 33) (F5E33) 93,655 92,073
—Amount due from a director (Note —JEWCEE R IE (538D
38) 193,602 °
— Cash advances to non-controlling — [ PR R i P TR e A
interests 361 230
— Deposits —i&& 50,780 52,058
— Others — Hfn 41,582 21,463 N
379,980 165,824
Less:allowance for impairment W TSGR IR
ofother receivables (Note (d)) (M EE)) (41,355) (19,517)
338,625 146,307
Trade and other receivables & 5 KA ESGRIE 939,464 690,518 E\f
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AEe

HATS AR T

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ A 484, g RN RS TI085R)

21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

@

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management
services income, related value-added services income and
city services income.

Property management services income are received in
accordance with the terms of the relevant services
agreements. Service income from property management
service is due for payment by the residents upon the
issuance of demand note.

Value-added services income is usually with a credit term
ranges from 0 to 180 days.

City services income is usually with a credit term ranges
from 0 to 90 days.

=yl =|

1 85

@

K HoAth ESGKIE (48D

5 oy SR TH 3 B AR ) S
BRI AU < AR I 1 4 IR A YN
AT AR BN o

W 36 8 B WO\ S AR 4 AR I R
5 Tk (0 ok USRI . P 36 B
i 355 B R 5 WA N B 1) 3 T %
BB R R AT

WERBERANEE BLH0 £180 K
s B IYIRR -

I IR B U\ 8 R B A0 F90 K
s B IRR -

As at December 31, 2024, the ageing analysis of the trade (0) #2024 ££12 A31 H, H5AMEHGK
E £ £ AN .
receivables based on recognition date was as follows: SR HERR H U AR 20 BT T -
As at December 31
MA12A31H
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ANREETIC
Upto 1year N1 4 378,657 324,937
1to 2 years 1524F 158,437 207,501
2 to 3 years PESCER 140,438 121,632
Over 3 years 3L E 103,105 23,081
780,637 677,151
As at December 31, 2024, trade and other receivables (© 42024 12 A31 H, ®5 LkIth
were denominated in RMB and the carrying amounts of EBCH IR RIS R, B 5 K
trade and other receivables approximated their fair values i, JE AT I R T SR
(as at December 31, 2023: same). A (#2023 412 31 H:
@) .
O  FEEE3.1.2(1) e T E 5 LI E

Information about the impairment of trade and other
receivables and the Group’s exposure to credit risk was
disclosed in Note 3.1.2(ii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAFFEH41, FifT 2RI T-0513)

22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22 g PAERT IR i I 5
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS G
As at December 31
#ZE12H31H
2024 2023
2024 £E 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT ANRHETI6
— Wealth management products — PR b 1,500 -
As at December 31, 2024, financial assets at fair value through HFE 2024 412 H31 H, A FHEEIA
profit or loss represented unlisted financial products purchased PH AR 14 Al A 2 R T v SE SR AT I Lk
from commercial banks. b A E
23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 23 B4 MIE5FEY)
As at December 31
12 H31H
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ETT AR
Cash at bank and on hand AT N TFE 4 132,569 355,684
As at December 31, 2024, the Group’s cash at bank and on JA20244£12 A31 H, AHLEFIRIT L \
hand was denominated in the following currencies: FHABLG S AT AU B R R :
As at December 31
12 A31 H
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4
RMB” 000 RMB” 000
NREET T ANRHTI6
RMB NGRS 127,613 349,223
HK$ bt 3,370 4,908
us$ FEIL 1,586 1,553
132,569 355,684
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A E

HATS AR T

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated)

24 RESTRICTED CASH

(Br5yA1EHISE, P SLAREE Toeslm)

24 SZ IR Bl

As at December 31

BZ12H31H
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETIT NGRS T
Guarantee deposits for property VIZEREHTE H R
management projects 1,205 1,309
Frozen accounts for litigations (Note (b)) FFRATRAE IR P (MR (D)) 210,777 2,128
Co-managed account HHRS - 1,659
211,982 5,096
Analysed as Vagnps
Non-current AR E 5,997 1,302
Current iLE 205,985 3,794
211,982 5,096

All the restricted cash were denominated in RMB
and movement during the year was included in
cash flows from operating activities (Note 31).

@  PrAERIRERER SN EHE, 3
RN S Ot NSRBI B
(MERE3D) o

() Frozen accounts for litigations mainly b)  fFIE38 FrikEE, FRIAMAEERFS
represented bank accounts being frozen by the BRI AT 2 B IR NG B T B A 1 AR
bank for use in relation to the litigation as =
disclosed under note 38.

25 SHARE CAPITAL 25 R
Nominal Equivalent
Number of value of  nominal value
ordinary ordinary  of ordinary
shares shares shares
Lk
LER¥E LiERmEE ZEEE
HK$ RMB’000
#t ARET
Authorised: St
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023 #2024 ;2023 12 A31 H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 8,370
Issued: 08T -
As at December 31, 2024 and 2023 42024 F %2023 12 A31 H 700,000,000 7,000,000 5,831
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

26 HAhFE

26 OTHER RESERVES

Foreign
Capital Share Statutory currency
reserves premium reserve Translation Total
Eriil e i 5 bl st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N Nl N N N
As at January 1, 2023 RNBELALA 25,600 493,215 13,888 7,747 540,450
Currency translation differences B - - - 1,548 1,548
Appropriation of statutory EeBh2mEE (k@)
reserves (Note (a)) = - 18,588 - 18,588
Dividends to shareholders KATRERE (K 2)
of the Company (Note 29) - (39,900) - - (39,900)
As at December 31, 2023 42023 %12 3L A 25,600 453,315 32,476 9,295 520,686
As at January 1, 2024 Ra4%L A1 A 25,600 453,315 32,476 9,295 520,686
Currency translation difierences KRR - - - 1,417 1,417
Appropriation of statutory EEfEehaE (h @)
reserves (Note (a)) - - 19,780 - 19,780
Dividends to shareholders of KAARERE (K 2)
the Company (Note 29) - (37,100) - - (37,100)
As at December 31,2024 RUUENANA 25,600 416,215 52,256 10,712 504,783

(@) Statutory reserve

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC group entities are required to appropriate
no less than 10% of their profit after income tax calculated
under the PRC accounting rules and regulations to the
statutory reserve fund, until the accumulated total of the
fund reaches 50% of their registered capital. The
statutory reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by
the relevant authority, to offset losses carried forward
from previous years or to increase the capital of the
respective the PRC Group entities.

(a) EZERBEE

R 35 o [ A B R R L, R B 4
5] T 78 280 A > A AR 8 b B g
IR K 49 EE A1 BT AR AR 4% R
10% BANEERES, EEEAES
)BT A8 AR e B LR A AR
50% #ib. A RS RMHER, 2%
SE o i 4 8 0T P 1 K B 08 1 4
A (1 5 BRSO % o B
R AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STAT
Ao B A YRR YR

EMENTS

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ A 45458148, Fif &R R T 087R)

27 LEASES 27 &Y
(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated @) HEEEABEENDEIN
balance sheet 2EF
As at December 31
#R12H31H
2024 2023
2024 ¢ 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AT T
Investment properties e 2,837 2,346
—Leased properties — MEME
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,053 1,598
—Properties (Note (i) — W3 (IHEE ()
6,890 3,944
Lease liabilities (Note (i)) HEAE (i)
Current B3 5,868 7,179
Nor-current AR 3,746 2,247
9,614 9,426
()  The Group leases certain properties from both () A< S e B S % B =0 %

related parties and third parties on fixed periods
over one year, of which the ones held for rental
yields and not occupied by the Group are recognised
as investment properties and the others are
recognised as right-of-use assets. Lease liabilities
represent the corresponding liabilities of the leased
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 44E A RKET-I0505)

27 &) )

27 LEASES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b)
statement of comprehensive income

maTHWERP SRR
o]

Year ended December 31

BZE12 A31 HILEE
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARHET T
Rental income from investment Ed UYET IR (ON
properties 2,693 1,500
Depreciation of investment properties &L 8
Depreciation of right-of use assets fERREG DT (MRE D 340 1,612
(Note 7) 1,979 1,415
Interests on lease liabilities FHER A EFE
(included in finance costs) (FENRE A 687 824
Rental expenses relating to short-term B AR 45 B A0 42 B =
leases (included in cost of sales GRENSH B A AT B 30
and administrative expense) (Note 7) CFHEET 43 23

The cash outflow of rental expenses relating to short-term (c)
leases and the settlement of lease liabilities for the year
ended December 31, 2024 was RMB4,438,000 (2023:

RMB2,815,000).

22024 12 H31 HILERE, 5

S E A G R  R AL E A

S L& A N 54,438,000
(2023 4 A\[#2,815,00070)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([&FETEIAN, BTG SR T 70808)

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

28 A by S HAb AT FRIH

As at December 31

12 H31H
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 £
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHTIT NGRS T
Trade payables (Note (a)) JERTE ZiadE (Bt (a))
—Related parties (Note 33(d)) — BTy (PfEE 33(d)) 6,098 1,400
— Third parties — = 83,961 82,985
90,059 84,385
Other payables HAbEAIA
— Amounts due to related parties — JEAT R ES 7 Bk IE
(Note 33(d)) W3 33(d)) 27,197 13,848
— Payables for acquisition of a subsidiary — — Wi i B8 28 &1 (1 JE A kIR 5,100 5,024
— Deposits from third parties — W= 86,118 71,986
— Accrued payroll — [ERT L& 43,171 43,745
— Other tax payables — HoAth A AR IH 4,258 6,903
— Others — HAth 93,103 88,234
258,947 229,740
Total #EET 349,006 314,125
Less: non-current portion of other - - o
payables W F AR IE AR B o (98) (165)
Current portion of trade and - P
ST pEyElies B 5 A AT S TR IR0 ) 348,908 313,960
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 8048, BT 4E A RKET-I0505)

28 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

29

(&) As at December 31, 2024 and 2023, ageing analysis of
the trade payables (including amounts due to related
parties which were trade in nature) based on invoice date
was as follows:

8 5 MM IEAHOE o)

@  A20244 }% 2023412 A31H,
FR S ZE H HIE N B 5 AR IE
RO B2 2 1 2 11 JRE A o B g 3
TE) MHRES i T

As at December 31

R12A31H
2024 2023
2024 £E 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR#TT ARHET T

Upto 1year A1 4 82,311 80,687
1to 2 years 1ZE2 4 6,451 1,944
2 to 3 years 2834 1,262 974
Over 3 years 3L 35 780

90,059 84,385

()  As at December 31, 2024, trade and other payables were
mainly denominated in RMB and the carrying amounts of
trade and other payables approximated their fair values
(December 31, 2023: same).

DIVIDENDS

The Board of the Company have determined that no dividend
will be proposed for the year ended December 31, 2024.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended December 31,
2023 of RMB0.053 per ordinary share have been approved
and paid during the Year. The final dividend had been paid
out of the Company’s share premium.

(© 742024 /12 A31 H, H5 KHAh
JEAFSRIEE B AR KEEHME, "85
S H A AT SRIE I BR THME B L A
P (2023 412 H31 H: #M
&) o

29 HQLII"d\
AN EHEHEE O R E A IR
2024 4£12 H31 HIEMHEER S,

A #2023 F12 H31H 1k B4 KW
B BN I 0.053 uiRER S, R
AEEFERLAE N ST A o BRI R IR B
PEA L = (¥ B A7 A A UIR 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR E BRI RE

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ AH a4, i &EEUN T I085R)

30 BORROWINGS

30 /fH /J/\

As at December 31

B’12 A31H
2024 2023
2024 4 2023 i
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHETT ARHET
Short term bank borrowings, unsecured 4G HISRAT A, MEHELR 3,000
3,000 -

(a) As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings are

repayable as follows:

(a) #2024 4£ 12 A31 H, $#RITHERE

MTAREE:
As at December 31
12 A31H
2024 2023
2024 4F 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT A% Tt

The carrying amount of borrowings

R AR T B8 (R AT#EE R H

(based on scheduled repayment D JEHIE:
dates) are repayable:
Within one year —EN 3,000
3,000 -

As at December 31

W12 A31H
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR T
The carrying amount of borrowings 5J?ﬁAbluéﬁl %1 THNMEAL B FE Y
that contain a repayment on BGOSR IR &5 (FIR
demand clause (shown under —”Ekgfzgﬁ)
current liabilities) but repayable:
Within one year —HFEN 3,000
3,000 -
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31 CASHFLOW INFORMATION

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A e AP AR M At

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BHE 504N, G 428U R T-I055:)

Cash (used in)/ generated from
operations

(a)

=

31 B&imE vk

ZE (PR /heile

Year ended December 31

#ZE12 A31 AbeE

2024 2023
2024 4 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000
N ARBT T
Profit before income tax P AR 92,680 72,150
Adjustments for: SHETEE .
— Depreciation of property and — WEIENRE (H:E14)
equipment (Note 14) 4,835 4,065
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets — [FERENTE (W 2D
(Note 27) 1,979 1,415
— Depreciation of investment — BWEMEME (H15)
properties (Note 15) 1,030 1,706
— Creditimpairment losses — [ER AR
(Note 3.1.2(ii)) (MEE3.0.2(1) 74,441 88,648
— Amortisation of intangible assets — BEEES (16
(Note 16) 4,074 3,466
— Interest income from loans to — BRTHE=FRERA
third parties (Note 8) (Pf&E8) (339) (358)
— Losses on disposal of property — HEVE LR RE
and equipment - 20
— Gains from financial assets at fair — FAHERE R
value through profit or loss i (292) (650)
— Share of profit of investments — IR IA AR
accounted for using the equity method B (344) (1,397)
— Net foreign exchange losses — JMEBRFR 314 314
— Finance income — net (Note 10) — AEHA— (4,069) (1,346)
(i) ' '
174,309 168,033
Changes in working capital: BEE SR
— Restricted cash (Note 24) — ZIRHIHE (Mt 24) (206,887) 7,004
— Inventories — % (4,931) (12,897)
— Contract liabilities — BRAf 13,412 40,288
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R HAh A (348,500) (207,169)
— Prepayments — FAfTHIA (9,529) (1,972
— Trade and other payables — B R HAE 2 IE 232,727 35,366
Cash (used in)/generated from operations ®e () /s (149,399) 28,653
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR PR R IR

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E8H4F, BT 4EA RS T- 0505

31 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Net debt reconciliations

The table below details changes in the
Group’s liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are those for which

cash flows were, or future cash flows will

be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.

31 HemEAR @)

(b) EFEEELRR

TRARAREEREABIELR
Bz 28, SRRERFReH
. MERBTELZEEARE
REELIARESREN G
EXRKEGERERERIERE
AERIREREZE,

Cash

advances

Other Lease from
payable liabilities third parties Total

= e F=HHRE
LD 83 st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
P\t v NEEFR Ao
As at January 1, 2023 2023 1 A1 H 4,594 9,518 3,679 17,791
Cash flows ReNE - (2,792) (1,504) (4,296)
Addition of leases e - 1,876 - 1,876
Accrued interest expenses FEAHFI BB 430 824 = 1,254
As at December 31, 2023 182023 %12 A31 H 5,024 9,426 2,175 16,625
As at January 1, 2024 182024 %1 A1 H 5,024 9,426 2,175 16,625
Cash flows ReiE (3,468) 3,000 (648)
Addition of leases HEHm 3,149 - 3,149
Accrued interest expenses AR 76 687 - 763
As at December 31, 2024 182024 %12 A31 H 5,100 9,614 5,175 19,889
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

32 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE 32 WHs IR
As at December 31, 2024, the Group has provided financial JA2024 £12 H31 H, ALEE A5
guarantee to a counter party. A subsidiary of the Group G FOT IR AR . AREEFIMA B E
(“Subsidiary A”, whose 51% equity interests are acquired by N (TA MBAR ] , 3 51% 1R
the Group in October 2021) provided joint guarantees for a A A [ 2 2021 4210 AW 4 AR &
bank loan (“Liability A”, amounting to RMB28,224,000) of a o\ E R I SR AR [ I 5 I ERAT B K
related party of the then shareholder of the subsidiary, which ([ABRE] . &FARY 28,224,000 7G)
covered the principal, interests, penalties and other incidental AL TR, R E T AR
expenses payable of Liability A (the “Third Party Guarantee”). JEATIIAR G IR S ORI oAt B2
As at December 31, 2024, the maximum credit risk exposure ([FE=FBE] ) . FE 2024 F£12 A
of the Third Party Guarantee was RMB1,799,400 (December 31 H, F=J7#E R EAAE H RS D
31, 2023: RMB 15,730,000). & NI #1,799,400 G (2023 412 H31

H: AR#15,730,00070) .

Liability A has other joint guarantor and mortgagor, and the MABBINES, BRASE R A A 3L
pledged assets are commercial real estates. Moreover, the RFENBARATN, BTG 2 21 2E p it
Group would be entitled to acquire the remaining 49% equity FE o BLAh, AL A HE DL BHHUOEA
interest of Subsidiary A at zero consideration, and the realisable Wi JE8 N ) o 6 A9 JIEHE , 5% 49% JI HE 1] 524
value of the 49% equity interest is considered enough to shield TR B AR At 5 2% T 2 400 S A TR A B A 2 4B IR
the Group against almost any loss as a result of the guarantee B ALBAAEMERL . HRAR R
related to Liability A. Because of Liability A’s overdue in 2022, 2022 i, A N BLARHE 28w AH Al
and the debtor, together with Subsidiary A and other guarantor, PR — O B RE N TR HRIEVEFE2022
was sued by the creditor. According to the court’s decision in 12 HHR, AR A T B 5 — 4 TR
December 2022, Subsidiary A and the other guarantor and N HRAT N ME B A AR 0 E R R
mortgagor should bear joint liabilities for the settlement of BAE, H&EEREIHAT. H2023 F7
Liability A, and their assets were subject to enforcement. Since H 28 Hie, AW B AN AR
July 28, 2023, bank deposits of Subsidiary A amounting to 12,494,000 JTHATAT A PAIRBE TR AT o
RMB12,494,000 have been executed by the court. The debtor AR BRI T N Cofs — b A i s An A 4R
of Liability A has transferred a batch of parking spaces to the B, DAl R DA VA e 04T 1T 3 1 N R
Group as a compensation for the loss of bank deposits of 12,494,000 JLHRATA7 IR K -

RMB12,494,000 due to the court’s execution.

Since the 49% equity interest is considered enough to shield FHR49% 11 B HE Bl 58 2 38 T & DUAR 7
almost any loss of the only one ongoing financial guarantee of AL [ Mt — 1 — TH R A I 5 45 ORI AT T 48
the Group, the management of the Group did not make a K, A, *EBREHERHSBE
provision for ECL allowance on remaining financial guarantees 2024 412 H 31 H ik 105 5 6k B 75 45
for the year ended 31 December 2024. PRETHHETEIAG IR R R 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A e PR MY

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (% 545 184k,

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(@) Name and relationship with related parties
The following individual/entities were related parties of
the Group that had significant balances and/ or

transactions as at/during the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023:

English Name

P BN R T 78515)

33 BRI 5

(@) BEREREBSRIE%R

LR AN/ A A EEE R R
2024 4 %2023 12 A 31 H L4
JE N A R /B 5y 1) R
T

Chinese Name

E B/ BTE P E 28
Ultimate controlling shareholder ERASIERARER

Mr. Song TAZE

Entities controlled by Mr. Song RICEFRIEHINNERS

Beijing Kanggiao Tongdao Shenghe Consulting Group
Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Tongdao”) and its
subsidiaries

Kanggiaoyue Shenghuo Holdings Limited
Zhengzhou Kanggiao Yidu Educational Technology
Co, Ltd*

Shenzhen Kanggiao Educational Technology Co, Ltd*

Joint ventures and associates of entities
controlled by Mr. Song

Henan Xinfuyuan Property Co., Ltd*
Zhengzhou Airport Penggang Real Estate Co., Ltd*

Henan Kanggiao Beautiful Scenery
Property Development Co., Ltd*

Zhengzhou Jinchuan Property Co., Ltd*

Joint venture and associate of the Group
Luohe Kanggiao Yuechang Property

Management Co., Ltd*

HenanKangyuan Business Management Co., Ltd*

* The English name of the related parties represents the best
effort by the management of the Group in translating their

Chinese names as they do not have an official English name.

Kanggiao Service Group Limited / Annual Report 2024

EREEEEEARAT —F JUFFER

AR RS 2 A A PR A 7]
([HERFRE | ) ZHME AT

RN 8 A R 24
I A 25 3 4 P R R 2

RN RERG 2B A PR =)

REEFEFIEIENSERFRBMEAT

T R TR IR B PR A 7]
SR MG B S PR A )
T e A S 55 s U ZE B S A BR B E A 7]

SR <) || B S PR A

FEENSERERBMEAT
BRI AR B E A IR AR

T R E AR AR

* A RIE TS ARG, BT RS
R Ty A B 1 A B A ) A
MARELEE R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 44E A RKET-I0505)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 33 WL L #D)
(b) Significant transactions with related (b) ERIMAMEARS
parties
Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated BRIt AR am A W IRk R 5 A ik &
financial statements, the Group had the following 4b, #Z 2024 4 2023 12 H
significant transactions with related parties during the 31 HIbAERE, LRI By AT
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. THIEKRZ S -

Year ended December 31

#BZE12 31 Hib&EE

2024 2023
2024 5 2023 4
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TE ARHT I

Provision of property {2ty e e map e
management services -
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — RIEFTESIR ER 2,031 16,689
— Joint ventures and associates — RGPS RS
of entities controlled by Mr. HEAE RS AT - 65
Song
2,031 16,754
Provision of value-added services {2t JERE 1o e R TE
to non-property owners -
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — SR R 12,344 41,430
— Joint ventures and associates —  RYEFTEHI E R
of entities controlled by Mr. HEARELIE AT 57 56
Song
12,401 41,486
Provision of community 123t B ARTE
value-added services h
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — RIEFEHIR 262 14,183
— Joint ventures and associates — RGPS T RS
of entities controlled by Mr. HEARSETIGE A - =
Song
262 14,183
Lease transactions with entities SRS A R BEAY
controlled by Mr. Song HELS
—Interests on lease liabilities — SRR A 493 852
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IRt

_,~""P'_h (All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (F A G TaIH4:, B 44800 A RMET-705175)

./.._9
33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 33 FMisc 5 )
(b) Significant transactions with related (b) BEBSMEARS 47)
parties (Continued)
() The financial guarantee provided to related parties 0 T [ AR A I B A AR
was released on March 31, 2023. 2023 43 A31 H MR-
(i) All of the transactions above were carried out in the M LR ﬁii 2 y? ‘Efk% EE
normal course of the Group’s business and on terms Eﬁ%?’? ’@E%E‘ﬁ: A
as agreed between the transacting parties. 55 T R PR RAEAT
(c) Key management compensation (c) FARREIREZHAEA

# % 2024 4F )2 2023412 H31 H
IREERE, AR R B
GEH (HlRE 37) BRAM Kz R

Compensations for key management other than those for
directors (Note 37) for the years ended December 31,
2024 and 2023 were set out as below:

Year ended December 31

#BFE12 A31 HibEE
2024 2023
2024 4E 2023 4E
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TIu ARHTFIL

Wages, salaries and bonuses T&. #He AL 672 672
Discretionary bonuses FITEAEAL 414 595
f’é Contribution to pension scheme IRRGEETHIH G S
expenses 70 67
Other employee benefits HoAth i B e 103 111
1,259 1,445

AN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 18048, BT 4EA RS T-I0505)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contiued) 33 RS )

(d) Balances with related parties (d) ElRFmSHYLEES

As at December 31

R12H31H
2024 Al
2024 4E 2023 4F
Trade receivables (Note 21) (i) BRI (ME21) G)
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — RIS e 313,498 311,565
— Joint ventures and associates —  RIGEFTHEHI SR 13684
of entities controlled by Mr. HEAE RS AT 9,835
Song
327,182 321,400
Trade payables (Note 28) (i) ESMAE (Mi28) ()
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — SR P (i 6,098 1,400
Other receivables (Note 21) (ii) EfREUERTE ( MIEE21 ) (i)
== 4 T = R
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — SRAERH 93,376 91,794
— Joint ventures and associates — RAEHI R
of entities controlled by Mr. GRS AT 279 279
Song
— Mr. Song — Rk 193,602
287,257 92,073
Other payables (Note 28) (iii) E (TSR ( Fi3E28 ) (i) .
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song SR PT f 7 13,736
— Joint ventures and associates —  RIEEEH TR
of entities controlled by Mr. GRS AT 3,475 112
Song
27,197 13,848
Provision for ECL allowance EZ}%}%{%E"J{%%}F&{E%{%
on financial guarantee
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song — RIGAFTE ) ) A - =
Contract liabilities N
[=1CIL=8 )
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song SR S 1 B 23 38
Lease liabilities (iv) HESE )
— Entities controlled by Mr. Song SRS T e 5,894 8,748
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao i B AR MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAE TR, G &4 RS T-I05177)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d)

Balances with related parties (Continued)

Trade receivables and payables with related parties
were unsecured and interest-free. These balances
were with credit period varying from 0 to 180 days.

Other receivables with related parties as at
December 31, 2024 were unsecured and interest-
free.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the
Company (for itself and on behalf of its subsidiaries)
and Beijing Tongdao (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries and associates) entered into the “a
supplemental agreement to the Sales Agency
Services Framework Agreement (the
“Supplemental Sales Agency Service
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Group shall pay to Beijing Tongdao the refundable
deposits in connection with the Sales Agency
Services contemplated under the Sales Agency
Services Framework Agreement (the “Refundable
Deposits”). As at December 31, 2024, the
Refundable Deposits were RMB83,638,327 (2023:
RMB84,755,000). For the parking spaces sold by
the Group, the amount of the Refundable Deposits
shall be set-off by the total sales reserve price for
such parking spaces to be received by the Group;
and for the parking spaces failed to be sold by the
Group, the Refundable Deposits shall be refunded
in full upon the expiration of the Sales Agency
Services Framework Agreement on December 31,
2026, or on the date(s) as agreed by parties under
the relevant Underlying Agreements (whichever is
earlier).

Except for the Refundable Deposits, the remaining
balances of other receivables of RMB10,020,000
(2023: RMB7,318,000) were amounts paid by the
Group on behalf of entities controlled by Mr. Song
in the normal courses of business of the Group,
which were trade in nature and repayable on
demand.
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AU AHEIBIE .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o A R MY A

(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B A 804F, BT 44E A RKET-I0505)

33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(i)  Amounts represented rental and other payments
collected by the Group on behalf of entities
controlled by Mr. Song in the normal course of
business of the Group, which were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

(v  Amounts represented lease payables for the
properties leased from entities controlled by Mr.
Song, which were unsecured and trade in nature.

() As disclosed under note 38, Mr. Song has
committed to fully compensate and indemnify for
any losses that may be suffered or incurred by the
Company in relation to the Litigation.

34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

35

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December
31, 2024.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements the Group had no material events occurred after the
reporting period.

3B WAL S @)

(d) BB S RORERS (A

(i) A BRI e AN A B AR R R
e BT ) BT A AR AR [ OE
SE 75 38 A2 WS E ) R 4 B
fibfh 3k, EERIEZIEL S
M. . %R KR
TERIREEE

) A B CIE R [ R 5 A BT 4 il
TTHE AL 3 B AT AL
AR AT A AT, HLR S
EE

(V) k38 ArdiEE, RAEED
FREE AR A A A T R RA T
] eI A7 Bl A AR TR R
34 o H Ak

B E2024F12 H31 H, AEEMmEK
[EEZER=1 "

35 WA IR HIA

I e T S R LAl 0 4 8 (0 1 D
b, AEEELEHR IR EE RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B YRR YAt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BATF40A4L, FTAT &4H L RIS T 0818

36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 36 4wl EE ARRAfH
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY i SEE)
Balance sheet of the Company ANTEEREBE
As at December 31
R12H31H

e 2024 £E 2023 4F
ASSETS T
Non-current assets ;F;ﬁ;ﬂﬁé
Investmentin subsidiaries RIHB AT G 428,411 428,411
C t t S

urrent assets y R
Amounts due from a subsidiary TREC— P BB 2 7 fry 111,423 131,549
Cash and cash equivalents T4 R IR A2 E W) 2,455 3,620
113,878 135,169
Total assets BEME 542,289 563,580
EQUITY W=
Equity attributable to owners KATIHEAAELES
of the Company

Share capital k&N 25 5,831 5,831
Other reserves FUAtAE A 36(a) 452,754 488,145
Retained earnings EEREdl G 36(a) 11,889 3,077
Total equity FERT 4B 470,474 497,053
LIABILITIES BfE
Current liabilities mEIEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAST I B8 A =] 21 IH 71,567 39,048
Other payables HAbEARIH 248 27,479
Total liabilities =k 71,815 66,527
Total equity and liabilities MERS % F4 AT 542,289 563,580
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board KA 2K E A ERCR2025 £3 A

of the Company on March 26, 2025 and was signed on its 26 HEEEHGHMME, X PHHEFNARE
behalf. FERE
KANG Weiguo WANG Na
RAEIR T
Director Director
HH #HH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B AP RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAFFEH41, FifT 4RI T-0813)

36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 36 Ay A & E AlE R AN

OF THE COMPANY (Continued) S )
(@) Reserve movement of the Company @) ASIHokEEEE
(Accumulated losses)/
retained eamings Capital Share Other
reserves premium reserves Total
(BRtBRY
2eha ot BivaR Eftfe 5t
As at January 1, 2023 Pa23%1 A1 A (15,506) 25,600 493,215 7,434 510,743
Profit for the year i 18,583 - - - 18,583
Appropriation of statutory reseve  HERTEEIER - - - - -
Curency translation differences ¥ RHEE - : . 1,886 1,886
Dividends to shareholders of te  AARRARE
Company (Note 29) (Wit - - (39,990) - (39,990)
As at December 31, 2023 203 2 3 3,077 25,600 453,225 9,320 491,222
As at January 1, 2024 RN FELALH 3,077 25,600 453,225 9,320 491,222
Profit for the year A 8,812 - - - 8,812
Appropriation of Statutory reseve RS
Curency translation differences S RAER - - - 1,709 1,709
Dividends to shareholders of te  AATHRE
Company (Note 29) (H3k®) - - (37,100) - (37,100)
As at December 31, 2024 ROUERAANA 11,889 25,600 416,125 11,029 464,643 \
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B P RER IRt

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& BFTF50A4L, FTT &4 RIS T 081

37 DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 37 EHIHEF A %
& 2024 4F 2023 4F 12 H 31 H 1k4F
B, HEHEAEEROROME (ERBE
AT 2 BT LB S B % 0 B
B0 R A A R )

The directors received emoluments from the Group (in their role
as senior management and employee before their appointment
as directors) for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

as follows, and no director has waived or agreed to waive any

emoluments during the respective year. RO ER
Other
Contributions  gllowance
Salaries to a retirement  and benefits
Name 4 Fees  and bonus benefit scheme in kind Total
FER O BAEH ghemk
ne B HEER wER g
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
\RETE ARME AR AR AR
Year ended December 31, 2024 EENMERNALER
Executive directors (Note (i) HiTES (Mik)
Mr. DAl Wei i - 1,200 7 7 1,214
Ms. WANG Na Tt - 684 35 41 760
Mr. KANG Weiguo v - 566 35 53 654
Non-executive directors (Note (i)  JFEfTES (Mikd))
Mr. Song Sia - - - - -
Dr. LI Haitao EhR: 83 - - - 83
Hr. KAMHou Yin John SR 23 - - - 23
Dr. FAN Yun Lo 99 - - - 99
Mr. WOMG Yun Pun REHE 91 - - - 91
296 2,450 77 101 2,924
Year ended December 31, 2023 HZDBENENBLER
Executive directors HTEE
M. DAI Wei fig - 1,200 7 7 1,214
Ms. WANG Na Tt - 612 34 42 688
Mr. KANG Weiguo e - 570 34 50 654
Non-executive directors iiEs
Mr. Song o - - - - -
Dr. LI Haitao HhE: 99 - - - 99
Dr. FAN Yun L an 99 - - - 99
Mr. WONG Yun Pun HBEE 99 - - - 99
297 2,382 75 99 2,853
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o BB R MY A

(Allamounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 44E A RKET-I0505)

37 ERMFRI RS ()

37 DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS

(Continued)

(1)

(F)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Mr. KAM Hou Yin John was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 30 September
2024.

Dr. LI Haitao resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 30 September 2024.

Mr. DAI Wei, Ms. WANG Na and Mr. KANG Weiguo
were appointed as executive director of the Company
on 20 January 2021.

Mr. Song was appointed as a non-executive director of
the Company on 20 January 2021. Dr. LI Haitao, Dr.
FAN Yun and Mr. WONG Yun Pun were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on
17 June 2021.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries’ undertaking during the year ended December
31, 2024 (2023: same).

No payment was made to the directors as compensation
for early termination of appointment during the year
ended December 31, 2024 (2023: same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to any former employer of
directors or third parties for making available directors’
services as director of the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2024 (2023: same).

(i)

(i)

(i)

(v)

(v)

(vi)

EFBERAENR2024 ££9 H30 HIE
RAERA N FBL AT R

AR A 2024 4E9 H30 HERE
AN T B LARSAT TE IS -

BT Se A . 0 L R R B R
2021 F£1 H20 HERAT LKA
PUTED,

RIAER2021 4F1 H 20 HEFHEAT
FANFAERATE R . FHHE
R L S (8 o) T G (eRA S
2021 56 H17 HEZALAA A EE
SLARBATE S,

ESRVEINET K ERINET

AR ZE2024 4£12 H 31 HIEERE,
ME A0 35 5 50 2 A B A A R B
B R 2 =) A5 1 G At IR A5 1 A
AT BUEBATATIRIRAEF] . (2023
e AHFD

A ZE2024 412 H31 IH4ERE, M
I gt 2 B 4% 0 R I T A B A
] 2k TEAE 2 4 8 (2023 F: A
[F) .

MRHESRBERAE=1E
HEHE

AEZE2024 12 H31 HIEHERE,
ME A0 3 7 15 A 2 7] 35 F IR B )
BB = 07 I AT R ST A i
FKIE (20234 MFD .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B A YRR YR

(Al amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) ([ BAFFEH41, FifT 4RI T-05153)

37 DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS AND INTERESTS 37 HFEHEN S At )

(Continued)

(vii) Information about loans, quasi-loans and (vi) BREAMES - 2EEEMNT
other dealings in favour of directors, e EEREEESRSD S
controlled bodies corporate by and ABEES BB BREMR
connected entities with such directors S5 R
Save as disclosed in Note 33, there were no loans, quasi- I Bt 5 33 4k i & 46, R Z 2024
loans and other dealings entered into by the Company or 12 A 31 HIRFERE, AR A
subsidiaries undertaking of the Company, where ANFME AR (i D HEEET S
applicable, in favour of the directors, controlled bodies DL 95 B % SR R S 4R )
corporate by and connected entities with such directors K EE R A N B,
during the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: same). B FAAZ S (20234 MHFED .

(viii) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (vii) EERR S - ZHEH SR
arrangements or contracts BAEER
Save as disclosed in Note 33, no significant transactions, B M RE33 PTafsR&Sh, RERR
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s #%2024 412 A31 HIEFEMME
business to which the Group was a party and in which a fR IR T, B B A 4 R 3 5 A
director or supervisor of the Company had a material HAR I 25 3 — 5 BB A A

HHBHEN A E AR
HUEMTE K 5 ZHER A (R
HE BB A4 (2023 4.
[&) o

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at end of
the year and at any time during the year ended December
31, 2024 (2023: same).

v
y
vy
&

5

- N
g1 )

y
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(All amounts expressed in RMB thousand unless otherwise stated) (& B E804F, BT 44EA RS T-I0505)

38 PROVISIONS FOR LITIGATIONS

On August 8, 2024, Kanggiao Yueshenghuo, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has
received a summons (the “Summons”) and a
notice of appearance issued by the Intermediate
People’s Court of Zhengzhou City, Henan
Province* (i m 44 B8 /N 17 &L A R EEBE) (the
“Court”), informing that the Court has accepted the
case filed by a bank (the “Bank”) in the PRC as
the plaintiff against Kanggiao Yueshenghuo in
relation to a debt undertaking dispute (the
“Litigation”). The dispute arises from the fact that
Henan Chenggiao Properties Limited* (Ji] 74 345 &
¥ HR /A ) (“Henan Chenggiao”), a company
which Mr. Song is the controlling shareholder, had
defaulted on certain loan agreements (the “Loan”)
with the Bank. For the purpose of the application of
the Loan, Kanggiao Yueshenghuo had purportedly
signed a promissory letter (the “Purported
Promissory Letter”) to the Bank which was
signed solely to satisfy the Bank’s internal review
procedures. The Loan was secured by a piece of
land owned by Henan Chenggiao (the
“Collateral”),

The Bank had subsequently obtained two
Enforcement Certificates* ( $ 17 #% 5% ) against
Henan Chenggiao. The Bank has subsequently
applied for compulsory enforcement actions (5|
¥4T) against Henan Chenggiao with the Court and
proceeded with the compulsory enforcement
actions against Henan Chenggiao. The Bank is
seeking to recover compensation from the
Subsidiary pursuant to the Purported Promissory
Letter. The total amount demanded from the Bank
under the Summons is approximately RMB607.8
million plus all litigation costs, legal costs,
preservation costs, and other costs incurred to
collect the Bank’s debt in the case.

38 P

22024 48 H8 H, ANFEE=EINEL
)RR AG M A I R R R A B M T R AR
ANRERBE C TR ) #FBsE
C(THE] D kitEa@EmE, @Mk
O -FhEARKME 7P
B D BN ([T ) FAKR
) % P B A R B GE RO S K I AU A
A CTRERRRA ] ) o RZAH &y Y5 T P A
MEXARAR C [WEBEME] , Ko
A A R HL A I R ) R BE B AT . B EZ R
THERIAMNE TEXW#E ( [ZER
D o B, MEAEERFKH
i kB A E] A A R RE R AT N
A R ORI RZRAT R
K C [ZBEBAER] ) - ZEXK
HI VR ARG A — R O [ %R
Ml ) fERIRAT

BE 1R, ZERAT C HUAS 6 3 0 m Ak AE 1
WA AT R . AR, RZERAT B ik
Bt EE B R A PR IC5E ) AT, H
AT 3 A B o ) AT R . RXER
AT IR AR FOR AR 98 5% 8 R K G bR A % Y
JB o~ F BRI MR, ERAT
ERORBBEHHARK607.8 A HE
T, MEMAHFE. EREMH. &
G B R AR RAT AR R IB R
i 35 BT A A 0 B .
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38 PROVISIONS FOR LITIGATIONS

(Continued)

On December 25, 2024, Kanggiao Yueshenghuo received a
civil judgement (the “Civil Judgment”) from the Court in
relation to the Litigation. Pursuant to the Civil Judgement, the
Bank should have known at the time that Kanggiao
Yueshenghuo failed to follow the proper approval procedures
in executing the Purported Promissory Letter. The Bank had
also failed to fulfil its duty of reasonable diligence and cannot
be considered a bona fide counterparty. As such, the
Purported Promissory Letter is invalid as a guarantee.

While the Purported Promissory Letter was ruled by the Court
to be invalid, both the creditor and the guarantor were found
to be at fault. Consequently, Kanggiao Yueshenghuo remains
liable for 40% of any remaining debt unpaid after the
realisation of the Collateral. Based on valuation performed by
an independent professional valuer on the Collateral and
assessment by the Board, the Company’s liabilities is
approximately RMB193.6 million, including potential liabilities
and other related costs incurred. The final amount will depend
on the actual value of the Collateral as determined by court
auction, sale, discount or other means.

Following the Civil Judgment, the Bank has filed an appeal
(the “Appeal”’) on January 8, 2025. Subsequently on
February 26, 2025, Henan Province Higher People’s Court*
G = AN %R issued a summons and the hearing
for the Appeal was held on March 7, 2025. Up to the date of
this report, the Appeal is still in process.

As at December 31, 2024, provisions for litigations of
approximately RMB193.6 million was recognised. Mr. Song
has committed to fully compensate and indemnify for any
losses that may be suffered or incurred by the Company in
relation to the Litigation.

* For identification purpose only.
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38 Franbi ik &)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
T B

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS RS

Year ended December 31
#ZE12H31 HIEEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 4E 2023 4 2022 4 2021 4 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000  RMB’000
AEBTFT AR®TT AR¥®T T AR T AR¥®TT
Revenue 'ON 960,846 934,016 792,920 783,567 575,585
Profit before income tax FRFTSTTRIFE 92,681 72,150 83,009 120,157 123,901
Income tax expenses FIrASAR B S (23,916) (19,582) (17,304) (31,598) (32,117)
Profit for the year FERFIE 68,765 52,568 65,705 88,559 91,784
Profit attributable to: U FEfLFIE -
— Owners of the Company — AAR#HEAH A 48,412 38,484 54,121 83,885 88,383
— Non-controlling interests  — JE¥ 5 20,353 14,084 11,584 4,674 3,401
CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES GEBE. ERRAK
As at December 31
R12 A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 4¢ 2023 4% 2022 4F: 2021 4 2020 4F
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000  RMB’000
ARET T ARET I ARET T ARETT ARETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets JEmENE = 216,494 183,189 166,429 151,222 47,078
Current assets TENE E 1,299,854 1,069,187 1,003,042 983,700 854,231
Total assets BEEE 1,516,348 1,252,376 1,169,471 1,134,922 901,309
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to FN/NEIE? ZEPN
owners of the Company JEALFE R 724,224 711,495 711,363 667,889 145,964
Non-controlling interests B[Rty &l 53,895 52,330 45,002 33,508 21,052
Total equity fEssmsE 778,119 763,825 756,365 701,397 167,016
LIABILITIES afs
Non-current liabilities BB AR 16,453 13,260 19,789 26,040 230,180
Current liabilities BN A 721,775 475,291 393,317 407,485 504,113
Total liabilities =R 738,228 488,551 413,016 433,525 734,293
Total equity and liabilities #3 R & &858 1,516,347 1,252,376 1,169,471 1,134,922 901,309
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